**FINAL DRAFT** 

# KITSAP COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

PORT



2024

# Thank you!

Sincere thanks to the entire Kitsap County community for lending your time to participate, learn and provide invaluable feedback and perspective.

#### COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

Christine Rolfes Charlotte Garrido Katie Walters

#### COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR

Torie Brazitis

#### PLANNING COMMISSION

Aaron Murphy Joe Phillips Joey Soller Kari Kaltenborn-Corey Stacey Smith Alan Beam Steven Boe Richard Shattuck

#### **KITSAP COUNTY**

Eric Baker Scott Diener Colin Poff Jim Rogers Kathlene Barnhart Kirvie Mesebeluu-Yobech Carla Lundgren Melissa Shumake Cindy Read Jade Jarvis Garrett Ballew Heather Cleveland

#### **CONSULTANT TEAM**

Facet LDC Makers Cascadia Transpo Group ECONorthwest



### Land Acknowledgement

Kitsap County is located on 396 square miles of land within the ancestral territory of Native American Tribes named under three separate Treaties.

Medicine Creek Treaty – December 26, 1854

• Puyallup, Nisqually, and Squaxin Island Tribes

Point Elliot Treaty – January 22, 1855

• Muckleshoot, Snoqualmie, Suquamish, Tulalip, Stillaguamish, Swinomish, Sauk-Suiattle, Upper Skagit, Samish, Lummi, and Nooksack Tribes

Point No Point Treaty – January 26, 1855

• Jamestown S'Klallam, Skokomish, Elwha Klallam, and Port Gamble S'Klallam Tribes

All tribes who signed their specific treaties maintain their hunting, fishing, and gathering rights on "usual and accustomed" grounds which include land, shorelands, and waterways within Kitsap County.

With a deep historical connection and legacy of respect for the land and natural resources, these Tribal nations enrich Kitsap County through environmental stewardship, cultural heritage, and economic development, as well as collaboration with local governments to shape Kitsap County's future.



### **Kitsap County Mission**

Kitsap County Government exists to protect and promote the health, safety, and well-being of all County residents in an accessible, efficient, effective, and responsive manner.

### **Kitsap County Vision**

### AN ENGAGED AND CONNECTED

Establish strong connections with and among residents, community groups, neighborhoods and organizations through timely, useful, inclusive, and responsive communication, outreach and events.

#### A SAFE COMMUNITY

Engender a feeling of safety for all residents by promoting public and traffic safety through careful planning and intentional public facilities and infrastructure. People are protected and secure, have a sense of community, and care about their neighborhoods.

#### 7 A HEALTHY AND LIVABLE > Community

Enhance our quality of life through protection of our air quality, water quality, and natural systems and promote open spaces, walkable communities, accessible health care, and education and recreational opportunities that are welcoming to all people.

#### A **RESILIENT** COMMUNITY

Provide inclusive, accessible, and efficient government services that effectively inform and engage residents where they are, respecting local input in transparent decision making, acting always with professionalism and integrity.

#### 🗐 A **VIBRANT** COMMUNITY

Support a thriving local economy with a skilled workforce and successful entrepreneurs and small businesses, and provide expanded access to technology, innovative programs, and a welcoming, understandable regulatory environment.

### A WELL-GOVERNED COMMUNITY

Improve our ability to prepare for and adapt to population growth, economic shifts and climate changes through environmental safeguards, robust community-focused emergency preparedness and response, sustainable local food systems, diverse housing choices, expanded health care options, and a strong social safety net.



## Table of Contents

Land Acknowledgement	iii
Table of Contents	v
Table of Figures	ix
Introduction	13
Key Focus Areas	15
Housing	15
Climate Change	16
Centers	16
Preliminary Alternatives	16
Preferred Alternative	
The Planning Process and Public Participation	
Tribal Coordination	
Chapter 1 / Land Use Element	21
Vision	
Intent	
Growth Management Act Requirements and Regional Coordination	
Relationship to Other Elements	
Background	
Key Terms	
Land Use and Zoning Designations	27
General Land Use Goals, Policies, and Strategies	
Urban Area Background	41
Urban Designations	
Urban Growth Areas	
Centers	54
Urban Area Land Use Goals, Policies, and Strategies	
Rural Area Background	
Rural Designations	
LAMIRDs	
Rural Land Use Goals, Policies, and Strategies	71
Resource Lands Background	74
Resource Lands Designations	75
Resource Lands Goals, Policies, and Strategies	
References	77



Chapter 2 / Economic Development Element	80
Vision	
Intent	
Growth Management Act and Regional Coordination	
Relationship to Other Elements	
Background	
Key Terms	
Economic Development Goals, Policies, and Strategies	
References	
Chapter 3 / Environment Element	94
Vision	
Intent	
GMA Goals and Regional Coordination	
Relationship to Other Elements	
Background	
Key Terms	
Environment Goals, Policies and Strategies	
References	
Chapter 4 / Housing Element	
Vision	
Intent	
Growth Management Act and Regional Coordination	
Relationship to Other Elements	
Background	
Affordable Housing Programs	
Key Terms	
Housing Goals, Policies, and Strategies	
Human Services Goals, Policies, and Strategies	130
References	
Chapter 5 / Transportation Element	134
Vision	
Intent	
Growth Management Act and Regional Coordination	
Relationship to Other Elements	
Background	
Key Terms	
Transportation Goals, Policies, and Strategies	
References	



Chapter 6 / Parks, Recreation, and Open Space Element	
Vision	150
Intent	150
Growth Management Act and Regional Coordination	151
Relationship to Other Elements	
Background	152
Key Terms	154
Parks, Recreation, and Open Space Goals, Policies and Strategies	155
References	
Chapter 7 / Capital Facilities and Utilities Element	
Vision	
Intent	163
Growth Management Act and Regional Coordination	163
Relationship to Other Elements	164
Background	165
Key Terms	166
Capital Facilities and Utilities Goals, Policies, and Strategies	167
References	
Chapter 8 / Climate Change Element	
Vision	
Intent	
Growth Management Act & Regional Coordination	
Relationship to Other Elements	184
Background	
Key Terms	
Climate Resilience and Adaptation Sub-Element	187
Climate Resilience and Adaptation Goals and Policies	
Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reduction Sub-Element	
Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reduction Goals and Policies	199
Resources	203
Subarea and Neighborhood Plans	205
Kingston Subarea Plan	207
Vision for Kingston	207
Kingston Goals, Policies, and Strategies	211
Manchester Subarea Plan	225
Vision for Manchester	225
Manchester Goals, Policies, and Strategies	226



Silverdale Regional Center Subarea Plan	232
Introduction	232
Vision for Silverdale Regional Center	234
"An Emerging Downtown"	235
Silverdale Context	236
Assets	236
Challenges	237
Opportunities	238
Physical Context	239
Population, Housing, and Employment Characteristics	240
Transportation and Street Network	241
Building Configurations and Types	242
Development Characteristics and Trends	243
Open Space Patterns	243
Silverdale Regional Center Goals and Policies	244
Implementation	258
Silverdale Subarea Plan	265
Vision for Silverdale Subarea	
Silverdale Subarea Plan Goals and Policies	
Suquamish Subarea Plan	275
Vision for Suquamish	275
Suquamish Goals, Policies, and Strategies	277
Gorst Neighborhood Plan	
Vision for Gorst	
Gorst Goals, Policies, and Strategies	
Illahee Neighborhood Plan	290
Vision for Illahee	290
Illahee Goals and Policies	
Keyport Neighborhood Plan	296
Vision for Keyport	296
Keyport Goals and Policies	297
Appendix A. Housing Element Technical Analysis	

- Appendix B. Housing Availability and Affordability Analysis
- Appendix C. Racially Disparate Impacts Analysis

#### **Appendix D. Silverdale Transportation Implementation Strategy**



### Table of Figures

Figure 1. Comprehensive Plan Land Use Map – Board of County Commissioner Direction Preferred Alternative	29
<b>Figure 2.</b> Commissioner District 1 (North Kitsap) Zoning Map – Board of County Commissioner Direction Preferred Alternative (next page)	
Figure 3. Commissioner District 2(South Kitsap) Zoning Map – Board of County Commissioner Direction Preferred Alternative (next page)	
Figure 4. Commissioner District 3 (Central Kitsap) Zoning Map – Board of County Commissioner Direction Preferred Alternative	34
Figure 5. Urban Growth Areas Map – Board of County Commissioner Direction Preferred Alternative	42
Figure 6. Kingston UGA Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative	45
Figure 7. Poulsbo UGA Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative	46
Figure 8. Silverdale UGA Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative	47
Figure 9. Central Kitsap UGA Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative	
<b>Figure 10.</b> Bremerton East UGA Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative	49
<b>Figure 11.</b> Bremerton West UGA Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative	50
<b>Figure 12.</b> Gorst UGA Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative	51
Figure 13. Puget Sound Industrial Center – Bremerton UGA Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative	52
<b>Figure 14.</b> Port Orchard UGA Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative	53
<b>Figure 17.</b> McWilliams Countywide Center Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative	57
Figure 20. Map of Type III Limited Areas of More Intensive Rural Development	70



Figure 21.	Water Resource Inventory Area 15 Map	96
Figure 22.	Map of Kitsap County in relation to neighboring counties and cities	111
Figure 23.	Year-over-year percent change in population, 1990-2022	112
Figure 24.	Housing units in cities and the unincorporated county, 2023	112
Figure 25.	Household Tenure in Occupied Units, Kitsap County, 2000-2020	118
<b>Figure 26.</b> 20	Share of cost burden by tenure in occupied units, Kitsap County, 000 to 2020	119
Figure 27.	PSRC Displacement Risk Map for Kitsap County	120
Figure 28.	GHG Emissions Sources, 2022	185
<b>Figure 29.</b> Di	Kingston UGA Zoning Map – Board of County Commissioners rection Preferred Alternative	209
<b>Figure 30.</b>	Kingston Countywide Center Zoning Map – Board of County ommissioners Direction Preferred Alternative	210
Figure 31.	Manchester LAMIRD Zoning map	226
Figure 32.	Silverdale Regional Center Planning Area and Boundary	233
Figure 33.	Silverdale's Dyes Inlet waterfront setting and upland view views	234
Figure 34. st	A vision for Silverdale: a mixed-use center with welcoming reetscapes and open spaces	235
<b>Figure 35.</b> cł	Big box retail stores and large parking lots dominate the visual naracter of Silverdale	238
Figure 36.	Old Town Silverdale	239
Figure 37.	Silverdale connectivity challenges and possible future connections	242
Figure 38.	Examples of integrated plazas and open spaces	247
Figure 39.	Kitsap Transit long range transit plan, service and capital projects	249
Figure 40.	Bicycle infrastructure examples.	251
Figure 41.	Examples of through-block connections	251
Figure 42. th	Circulation network example integrating public streets and rough-block connections	252
Figure 43.	Silverdale Regional Center Implementation Table	258
Figure 44.	Silverdale Zoning Map – Board Directed Preferred Alternative	267



Figure 45.	Suquamish LAMIRD Zoning Map, Board Directed Preferred	
Alter	mative	276
Figure 46.	Gorst UGA Zoning Map, Board Directed Preferred Alternative	284
Figure 47.	Illahee Zoning Map, Board Directed Preferred Alternative	291
Figure 48.	Keyport Zoning Map, Board Directed Preferred Alternative	297





SILVERDALE DOG PARK, WA

# Introduction



### Introduction

The Washington State Growth Management Act (GMA) requires cities and counties to update their Comprehensive Plans every ten years. The Kitsap County Comprehensive Plan 2024-2044 ("Comp Plan") serves as the policy document that helps guide decisions on services for a wide range of critical Kitsap County ("County") programs, such as building roads, ensuring land for housing is available, and protecting the environment.

The GMA approved by the state legislature directs local jurisdictions to address fifteen goals for planning:

- 1. Urban growth. Encourage development in urban areas.
- 2. Reduce Sprawl. Reduce the inappropriate conversion of undeveloped land.
- 3. Transportation. Encourage efficient multimodal transportation systems.
- 4. Housing. Plan for and accommodate housing affordable to all economic segments.
- 5. Economic development. Encourage economic development throughout the state.
- **6. Property rights.** Private property shall not be taken for public use without just compensation having been made.
- 7. Permits. Applications should be processed in a timely and fair manner.
- 8. Natural resource industries. Maintain and enhance natural resource-based industries.
- 9. Open space and recreation. Retain open space, enhance recreational opportunities.
- **10. Environment.** Protect the environment and enhance the state's high quality of life, including air and water quality, and the availability of water.
- 11. Citizen participation and coordination. Encourage the involvement of citizens.
- **12.** Public facilities and services. Ensure that those public facilities and services necessary to support development shall be adequate.
- 13. Historic preservation. Identify and encourage preservation.
- **14. Climate change and resiliency.** Ensure that comprehensive plans, development regulations, and regional policies, plans, and strategies adapt to and mitigate the effects of a changing climate.

#### 15. Shoreline management (RCW 36.70A.480)

These goals are unprioritized and must be balanced based on local circumstances.

The Comp Plan is released concurrently with the Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) and the Capital Facilities Plan (CFP). This document includes the intent, background information, existing conditions, and various goals, policies, and strategies for the following eight elements: Land Use, Economic

Development, Environment, Housing, Transportation, Parks, Recreation and Open Space, Capital Facilities and Utilities, and Climate Change. Subarea Plans for specifical geographical areas are also included as part of the Plan. The Comp Plan elements are organized and presented in the following manner:

- **Vision:** Provides an overview and description of the element and its relation to the Comp Plan.
- Intent: Explains how the element fits into the Comp Plan and why the element is important.
- **GMA Requirements and Regional Coordination:** Indicates the policy directives on how growth management planning will occur. These requirements establish overarching practices and explain the section's importance to planning Kitsap County's future. This section supports the goals and policies.
- **Relationship to Other Elements:** Demonstrates how the elements are interconnected, dependent, and supportive of one another.
- **Background Information/Existing Conditions:** Provides the foundational context necessary to develop an understanding of where the County has been and where it is currently, to appreciate where the County is intending to go.
- Key Terms: Uncommon terms or phrases used within the element.
- **Goals and Policies:** Goals provide guidance to the County for the desired accomplishments within the element, while policies direct how these goals may be accomplished.
- Strategies for Implementation: Strategies are descriptions of how and when certain actions will be prioritized. Many strategies are tied with budget decisions and other annual program plans. Strategies from non-County plans may be considered, adopted, or not implemented dependent on priorities and available resources.

The Comprehensive Plan emphasizes growth and future development in a sustainable manner. Kitsap County leadership and staff use an inclusive and equitable approach to planning and decision-making that aims to balance housing needs, employment opportunities, transportation enhancements, and the protection of the natural environment. The Comp Plan demonstrates the County's deep commitment to maintaining and restoring ecosystems through habitat conservation, restoration of waterways, and reduction of greenhouse gas emissions. The Comp Plan establishes requirements that support and encourage a healthy environment, affordable living, and ample resources that are attainable and sustainable for residents now and in the future. The Comp Plan was updated based on residential and employment targets that align with the regional growth strategy (VISION 2050) provided by the Puget Sound Regional Council (PSRC). The Comp Plan addresses each of the important policy areas presented in VISION 2050, such as:



- Provide opportunities for all
- Increase housing choices and affordability
- Sustain a strong economy
- Significantly reduce greenhouse gas emissions
- Keep the region moving
- Restore the health of the Puget Sound
- Protect a network of open spaces
- Grow in centers and near transit
- Act collaboratively and support local efforts

Throughout each element of the Comp Plan, special attention was paid to the diversity and equity implications of the goals, policies, and strategies to ensure that all residents within Kitsap County benefit from the intentions set forth. There is a special focus on purposeful and inclusive outreach for public engagement and involvement. The Comprehensive Plan 2024-2044 strives for an equitable distribution of County resources and opportunities for all residents who work, live, play, or visit Kitsap County.

#### **KEY FOCUS AREAS**

Since the County's last update was adopted in 2016, new state legislation for housing targets (HB 1220) and Climate Change (HB 1181) have altered how the County is required to plan. In addition to addressing these prominent issues, the Comprehensive Plan also must be updated for consistency with state and regional planning efforts, such as Puget Sound Regional Council's VISION 2050 and the Countywide Planning Policies adopted in 2021. This includes meeting population and employment targets and housing targets by income band. Although there are many objectives to plan for, the 2024 update has three focus areas:

- Housing
- Climate Change
- Centers (Silverdale, Kingston, McWilliams/SR 303)

#### HOUSING

Housing is a fundamental need. Kitsap County is responsible for providing policy direction that facilitates housing for residents in all economic segments. Kitsap County has an adopted housing target of 14,497 new units through 2044. Much of these units need to be affordable to income segments 80% Area Median Income or lower, which requires producing more multi-family, townhome, and other housing types. The County encourages and supports a diverse and integrated mix of housing that

includes housing for all ages, family types, abilities and limitations, household sizes, backgrounds, cultures, and incomes.

#### **CLIMATE CHANGE**

Climate change is a new, and key, focus area for the Comprehensive Plan 2024-2044. The Climate Change element takes a proactive approach to addressing impacts on infrastructure and natural systems, while increasing the County's resiliency by reducing greenhouse gas emissions and advancing environmental justice. The Comprehensive Plan encourages environmental protection through the dual lenses of intrinsic value and as an asset, by promoting conservation and environmentally sound development methods, such as low-impact landscaping and green building.

#### CENTERS

Centers are a critical part of Kitsap County's planning efforts and growth strategy. At the regional level, PSRC identifies 29 Regional Growth Centers, which include two in Kitsap County: Silverdale and Bremerton. Kitsap County also identifies two Countywide Centers: Kingston and McWilliams (located in Central Kitsap Urban Growth Area. The Comprehensive Plan update focuses on strategies to encourage growth in these centers, improve design standards for mixed-use and transit-oriented development, and prioritize funding and investments to Centers.

#### PRELIMINARY ALTERNATIVES

In April of 2023, Kitsap County established three preliminary land use alternatives. The purpose of these preliminary alternatives was to compare different futures against each other in a Draft Environmental Impact Statement (DEIS). The three alternatives were developed using different approaches to balancing growth targets for population, employment, and housing. They also included major policy initiatives such as heights, densities, parking, tree canopy, environmental protections, and others. The County also solicited land use reclassification requests. A total of 86 reclassification requests were received, and many of those were studied in the preliminary alternative most closely related to that request.



The three preliminary alternatives were:

#### Alternative 1 "No Action"

Alternative 1 used current land use, urban growth area sizes and configurations, zoning, and development regulations. Generally, it did not accommodate future population and employment growth, but it established a baseline for environmental review and potential changes in action alternatives (Alternatives 2 and 3).

#### Alternative 2 "Compact Growth/Urban Center Focus"

Alternative 2 was based on meeting proposed population and employment distributions set by VISION 2050 and the Countywide Planning Policies ("bending the trend" of past growth patterns). Alternative 2 was most closely aligned with population targets and housing need based on Commerce Guidance.

- Targeted growth around high-capacity transit facilities and routes.
- Focused growth in multi-family and commercial zones with an emphasis on the Silverdale Regional Center and Kingston countywide center as well the associated UGAs of Bremerton, Port Orchard, and Poulsbo.
- Reduced pressure of growth on rural areas by keeping UGA boundaries limited.
- Proposed substantial increased housing diversity with an emphasis on new multifamily housing types (e.g. row houses, low story multifamily, cottage housing).
- Encouraged new residential and employment development to be constructed vertically in areas of infill or redevelopment.
- Proposed incentives and regulation revisions to promote these new development patterns.

#### Alternative 3 "Dispersed Growth"

Alternative 3 was closer to past growth trends, housing, and employment types. Alternative 3 exceeded employment growth targets, included less population growth than Alternative 2, and did not meet housing targets.

- Minor increase to growth opportunities in rural areas.
- Some UGA expansions but, countywide, UGAs are generally stable.
- Proposed new policies and regulations that may reduce development potential in UGAs.

Provided opportunities in the rural areas for additional rural housing and employment.

#### PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE

Following the release of the Draft Environmental Impact Statement and significant public comment, the Board of County Commissioners selected a Preferred Alternative. This alternative was most aligned with Alternative 2 (with modifications), and includes the following decisions:

- All rural-to-rural reclassification requests deferred to a later planning process (2025+).
- Multi-family and missing middle housing promoted through regulation revisions and incentives are necessary to promote housing diversity.
- Maximum densities and heights increased, particularly in Regional and Countywide Centers.
- Parking, lot size, and lot dimension regulations revised.
- Improved or expedited permitting should be available to multi-family projects in the Centers.
- The Preferred Alternative should assess development limitations based on the environmental protections included in the March 8 Draft Critical Areas Ordinance.
- Tree canopy requirements should be established that strongly incentivize the retention of mature and/or significant trees.

This comprehensive plan is consistent with the Preferred Alternative.

#### THE PLANNING PROCESS AND PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

The County followed a Public Participation Plan that included numerous opportunities for engagement and public comment with the general public and interested parties. The objective of this approach was to engage a diverse population equitably and inclusively, so that the Plan is well-grounded in the experiences and knowledge of the residents of Kitsap County. Through public engagement, the County was able to better understand the potential negative and positive impacts of the Comprehensive Plan and present these perspectives to elected officials.

**Project Kick-off Public Meeting:** introduced the project and solicited public participation and comments.

**Virtual Meetings:** focused on key topics such as land use and economic development, housing, environment and climate change, parks and open space, and transportation and capital facilities.

**In-person and Hybrid Open House Events:** to receive feedback on the draft alternatives and maps prior to moving forward to the Planning Commission and Board of County Commissioners for public consideration.

**Consultations:** offered to key communities including Community Advisory Councils, the Department Advisory Group, local business and interest associations, minority and low-income communities, young residents of Kitsap County, and environmental interest groups.



**Focused Outreach:** staff conducted in-person meetings/consultations to answer questions about the project or obtain feedback from interested parties.

Website and Social Media: used for outreach and release of project information.

**Electronic Notification:** Project announcements were sent at all major milestones to interested parties and community members via Constant Contact and GovDelivery services.

**Local News Outlets:** The County updated local news media throughout the process, including the Kitsap Sun and Kitsap Daily News.

#### TRIBAL COORDINATION

Tribal Treaty rights are considered throughout all elements of the Comprehensive Plan. Kitsap County encompasses land within the ancestral territory of Native American Tribes named under three separate Treaties. The County is committed to coordinating with Native American Tribes in its planning processes and continues to enhance government-to-government relations. Kitsap County will continue to work with tribal representatives in its planning efforts and policies to protect cultural and natural resources.

#### KITSAP COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN



SILVERDALE WA

CHAPTER 1

# Land Use Element



### Chapter 1 / Land Use Element

#### VISION

Kitsap's vision is for urban areas that are the region's centers for diverse employment and housing opportunities, all levels of education, and civic and cultural activities. The vision for rural areas and communities is to retain and enhance unique historical character, appearance, and function, including recreation and natural resource activities, such as forestry, agriculture, and mining, that contribute to the rural character and economy.

#### INTENT

The Land Use Element's intent is to direct the majority of growth toward urban areas, provide greater distinction between urban and rural areas, guide land use patterns to allow for the efficient provision of urban services such as sewers and transportation systems, preserve open space, recognize and preserve historical and archaeological resources, and ensure compatibility between adjacent zones.

The Land Use goals and policies recognize the County residents' desire for healthy urban areas that are the region's centers for diverse employment, housing opportunities, educational opportunities for K-12, technical training and college-level instruction, and civic and cultural activities. The goals and policies also recognize that rural areas and communities have unique historical characteristics, appearances, and functions that should be retained and enhanced. Natural resource activities, such as forestry, agriculture, and mining continue to contribute to the rural character and economy and are also guided by goals and policies in this element.

# GROWTH MANAGEMENT ACT REQUIREMENTS AND REGIONAL COORDINATION

The Washington State Growth Management Act (GMA) is the framework for all land use planning in the state and lays out the requirements for comprehensive plans and development regulations that implement the plans. The Land Use Element is a required element and must include:

- Distribution, general location, and extent of land for resource production, commerce, housing, recreation, public facilities, and other land uses;
- Population densities, building intensities, and future population growth estimates;
- Protection of groundwater;
- Environmental justice considerations;
- Promotion of physical activity and reduction of vehicle miles traveled;
- Stormwater provisions, including considerations for Puget Sound; and
- Tools to reduce wildfire risk.

As with the Comprehensive Plan as a whole, Land Use goals and policies must reflect the requirements of the GMA as outlined above, be consistent with Puget Sound Regional Council's (PSRC) VISION 2050 plan and its Multicounty Planning Policies (MPPs), and conform to the Countywide Planning Policies (CPPs) adopted by the Kitsap Regional Coordinating Council (KRCC).

Because land use planning intersects with so many other policy areas, the County maintains working relationships with local school districts, the Kitsap Public Health District, Kitsap Transit, local tribes, the Navy, local business organizations, and local social welfare non-profit groups.

#### **RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER ELEMENTS**

Land Use goals and policies in this element serve as the basis for the other comprehensive plan elements, including Economic Development; Environment; Housing; Transportation; Parks, Recreation, and Open Space; Capital Facilities and Utilities; and Climate Change. Specifically impacted are urban and rural residential development; commercial development; industrial and business lands; open space; historic preservation; and drainage, flooding, and stormwater management.

#### BACKGROUND

The Land Use Element plays the central role of guiding urban, rural, and resource land use patterns and decisions as well as decision-making processes for the unincorporated portions of Kitsap County. In keeping with state law, the County fulfills this responsibility of shaping land use primarily by regulatory means such as zoning, subdivision, critical areas, and shoreline ordinances.

The County and the cities within the County select a specific growth forecast through adoption of the CPPs. These County-level forecasts are distributed among the jurisdictions through a cooperative process. The Kitsap Regional Coordinating Council (KRCC) – composed of participating elected officials from the region's governmental entities – is the body charged with approving such allocations.

Based on the Puget Sound Regional Council's VISION 2050 and Regional Growth Strategy, the KRCC updated its growth targets for population and employment in 2022 through the CPPs. The CPPs established growth targets from 2020-2044. For purposes of this update, the targets were updated to 2022 from the 2020 census data using historic growth rates for better comparison with land capacity data. These targets are shown in Tables 1 and 2 below.



UGA	Census Population 2020	CPP Targeted Growth 2020-2044	Adjusted Growth 2022-2044
Bremerton	10,105	2,762	2,544
Silverdale	19,675	9,896	9,442
Kingston	2,435	3,200	3,121
Poulsbo	528	1,065	1,054
Port Orchard	15,370	3,552	3,486
Central Kitsap	24,741	5,000	4,787
Rural	106,865	5,415	4,391
Total	179,719	30,890	28,825

 Table 1.
 Estimated Population Growth Targets 2022

Sources: Targets from the Countywide Planning Policies and extrapolated based upon historic growth patterns.

#### Table 2. Estimated Employment Growth Targets 2022-2044

UGA	Census Employment 2020	CPP Targeted Growth 2020-2044	Adjusted Growth 2022-2044
Bremerton	1,401	2,434	2,454
Silverdale	13,281	11,416	11,023
Kingston	1,077	1,400	1,343
Poulsbo	78	97	103
Port Orchard	2,683	1,500	1,429
Central Kitsap	3,985	1,470	1,380
Rural	22,896	2,301	2,150
Total	45,401	20,618	19,882

Sources: Targets from the Countywide Planning Policies and extrapolated based upon historic growth patterns.

Per the Kitsap CPPs, designated Urban Growth Areas (UGAs) are intended to accommodate at least 76 percent of the 20-year planning period's population growth, based on official population forecasts adopted by the Washington State Office of Financial Management (OFM). The existing urban/rural percentage split is 71 percent urban and 29 percent rural per the 2020 Buildable Lands Report (BLR). In 2022, Kitsap County re-adopted residential growth projections through 2044 integrating the 76 percent urban/24 percent rural objective. Consequently, there's an increased emphasis to focus most growth into Kitsap County cities and unincorporated UGA areas.

To accommodate these growth targets, the Comprehensive Plan directs future residential and employment growth within the unincorporated portions of the County. Future population growth is accommodated by the capacity of residential units. The 2021 Buildable Land Report (BLR) established a methodology used by the KRCC cities and County to assess land capacity for residential and employment lands. Generally, this land capacity analysis uses the following steps to assess the capacity for lands with Kitsap's UGAs to accommodate population and employment growth. Please see the 2021 BLR for a detailed description of this methodology.

Population capacity is determined by:

- Analyzing the amount of land in each zone that allows residential units that is vacant or underutilized.
- Market factors and trends. This includes estimating how many units can be expected to develop on that land in the 20-year planning horizon based on historical patterns. This also assumes that a percentage of properties might not be developed due to property owner decision and financial conditions.
- Adjustments accounting for other land undevelopable for residential units due to critical areas and public facility and road needs.
- Assumed densities of future development by zone.
- Typical household size.

A similar method is used for employment capacity:

- Analyzing the amount of land in each zone that allows employment uses that is vacant or underutilized.
- Market factors and trends. This includes estimating how many units can be expected to develop on that land in the 20-year planning horizon based on historical patterns. This also assumes that a percentage of properties might not be developed due to property owner decision and financial conditions.
- Adjustments accounting for other land undevelopable for employment uses due to critical areas and public facility and road needs.
- Assumed lot coverage of future development by zone.



• Assumed square feet needed per employee based on employment use.

Using this methodology, the County and cities apply assumptions based on the local circumstances of their jurisdictions. For unincorporated Kitsap, assumptions were applied based on geographic limitations of the area, zoning, location within a regional or countywide center, state guidance, and/or countywide circumstances.

In developing its land capacity analysis for the preferred alternative, Kitsap applied different assumptions based upon major policy or regulation changes (e.g., greater densities and land use intensities in urban centers, greater critical area buffers and tree canopy requirements). The land capacity analysis, using these assumptions, determined the number of persons and jobs that could be accommodated. These capacities were then compared against the population and employment growth targets. These comparisons are shown by UGA in Tables 3 and 4 below. Negative numbers (red text) indicate excess capacity while positive numbers (black text) indicate a shortage.

UGA	Adjusted Growth 2022-2044	Land Capacity Preferred Alternative	Growth to Land Capacity Preferred Alternative 2022-2044
Bremerton	2,544	2,491	53
Silverdale	9,442	14,563	-5,121
Kingston	3,121	3,271	-150
Poulsbo	1,054	922	132
Port Orchard	3,486	3,643	-157
Central Kitsap	4,787	5,611	-824
Rural	4,391	4,391	0
Total	28,825	34,892	-6,067

#### Table 3. Comparison of Population Growth Targets to Land Capacity Analysis (Board Directed Preferred Alternatives)

Sources: Estimates updated from Countywide Planning Policies and Kitsap County's land capacity analysis.

UGA	Adjusted Growth 2022-2044	Land Capacity Preferred Alternative	Growth to Land Capacity Preferred Alternative 2022-2044
Bremerton	2,454	3,922	-1,468
Silverdale	11,023	10,391	632
Kingston	1,343	801	542
Poulsbo	103	90	13
Port Orchard	1,429	1,106	323
Central Kitsap	1,380	1,276	104
Rural	2,150	2,150	n/a
Total	19,882	19,736	146

Table 4.Comparison of Employment Growth Targets (2022-2044) to Land Capacity<br/>(Board Directed Preferred Alternatives)

Sources: Estimates updated from Countywide Planning Policies and Kitsap County's land capacity analysis.

#### **KEY TERMS**

**Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU)**– a dwelling unit located on the same lot as a single-family housing unit, duplex, triplex, townhome, or other housing unit. ADUs may be attached or detached.

**Food deserts**– areas where people have limited access to a variety of healthy and affordable food (USDA.gov)

Low-rise residential or apartments- buildings that are three stories or less. They are commonly served by stair access. They are also frequently referred to as walk-up apartments or garden apartments.

**Middle housing**– describes buildings that are compatible in scale, form, and character with single-family houses and contain two or more



attached, stacked, or clustered homes including duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes, fiveplexes, sixplexes, townhouses, stacked flats, courtyard apartments, and cottage housing.

**Mid-rise residential or apartments** – buildings that are between four to eight stories and served by elevator access. They generally feature some form of structured parking (above and/or below grade).



**Infill development**– construction of buildings or other facilities on previously unused or underutilized land located within an existing urban area and typically surrounded by existing development.

**Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT)**– a measure that calculates the sum of miles traveled by each vehicle over a defined period of time.

#### LAND USE AND ZONING DESIGNATIONS

Table 5 below illustrates the County's Comprehensive Plan Land Use Designations and corresponding Implementing Zones. Detailed descriptions for each land use designation are in Tables 6, 7, and 8 later in the element.

			<b>Density</b> du = dwelling unit	
Comprehensive Plan Land Use Designation	Implementing Zones	Map Symbol	Minimum	Maximum
Rural Residential	Rural Residential	<u>RR</u>	0	1 du/5 acres
Rural Protection	Rural Protection	<u>RP</u>	0	1 du/10 acres
Rural Wooded	Rural Wooded	RW	0	1 du/20 acres
Forest Resource Lands	Forest Resource Lands	<u>FRL</u>	0	
Mineral Resource Overlay	Mineral Resource Overlay	<u>MRO</u>	0	1 du/parcel
	Urban Restricted	<u>UR</u>	1	5 du/1 acre
Urban Low Density Peridential	Greenbelt	<u>GB</u>	1	4 du/1 acre
Urban Low-Density Residential	Urban Low Residential	<u>UL</u>	5	9 14* du/1 acre
	Urban Cluster Residential	<u>UCR</u>	5	9 14* du/1 acre
Urban Medium-Density Residential	Urban Medium Residential	<u>UM</u>	10	30 du/1 acre
Urban High-Density Residential	Urban High Residential	<u>UH</u>	19	
	Urban Village Center	UVC	10	no max
Urban Low Intensity Mixed Use	Neighborhood Commercial	<u>NC</u>	10	30 du/1 acre
	Commercial	<u>C</u>	19	60 du/1 acre
Urban High Intensity Mixed Use	Regional Center	<u>RC</u>	19	no max
	Low Intensity Commercial	<u>LIC</u>	10	20 du/1 acre
Rural Commercial	Rural Commercial	RCO		

Table 5. Comprehensive Plan Land Use Designations.

	Implementing Zones	Map Symbol	<b>Density</b> du = dwelling unit	
Comprehensive Plan Land Use Designation			Minimum	Maximum
Urban Industrial	Business Center	BC	0	1 du/parcel
	Industrial	IND	0	1 du/parcel
Rural Industrial	Rural Industrial	<u>RI</u>	0	1 du/parcel
Public Facilities	Parks	<u>P</u>	0	1 du/parcel
Limited Area of More Intensive Rural Development (LAMIRD) Type I	Keyport Village Commercial	<u>KVC</u>		
	Keyport Village Low Residential	<u>KVLR</u>		
	Keyport Village Residential	<u>KVR</u>		
	Manchester Village Commercial	<u>MVC</u>		
	Manchester Village Low Residential	MVLR		
	Manchester Village Residential	MVR		
	Port Gamble Rural Historic Town Commercial	<u>RHTC</u>		
	Port Gamble Rural Historic Town Residential	<u>RHTR</u>		
	Port Gamble Rural Historic Waterfront	<u>RHTW</u>		
	Suquamish Village Commercial	<u>SVC</u>		
	Suquamish Village Low Residential	<u>SVLR</u>		
	Suquamish Village Residential	<u>SVR</u>		
Limited Area of More Intensive	Rural Employment Center	<u>REC</u>		
Rural Development (LAMIRD) Type III	Twelve Trees Employment Center	<u>TTEC</u>		

\* 14 dwelling units/acre possible with middle housing types



Figure 1. Comprehensive Plan Land Use Map – Board of County Commissioner Direction Preferred Alternative



Figure 2. Commissioner District 1 (North Kitsap) Zoning Map – Board of County Commissioner Direction Preferred Alternative (next page)



# **Commissioner District 1 - North Kitsap Zoning**



### **Preferred Alternative - Board of Commissioner Direction**

Determination of fitness for use lies with itations of this map and data. not from field surveys. ng the accuracy and li

ion on this map may have been collected from various sources and can change over time without notic

taken in making this map, there is no guarantee or warranty of its accuracy as to labeling, of any geographic features present. This map is intended for informational purposes only and is field survey.

and its officials and e sibility or legal liability for the accuracy, co

ap Published Date: April, 2024





Kitsap County Department of Community Development 614 Division Street, MS-36, Port Orchard, Washington 98366 VOICE (360) 337-5777 (Kitsap One) \* https://www.kitsapgov.com/



Figure 3. Commissioner District 2(South Kitsap) Zoning Map – Board of County Commissioner Direction Preferred Alternative (next page)





Kitsap County Department of Community Development 614 Division Street, MS-36, Port Orchard, Washington 98366 VOICE (360) 337-5777 (Kitsap One) \* https://www.kitsapgov.com/



Legend		
i	County Commissioner District Outlines	
(=)	Urban Growth Area Boundary	
	Incorporated City Boundary	
	RR - Rural Residential (1 DU/5 Ac)	
	Mineral Resource/Rural Residential	
	RP - Rural Protection (1 DU/10 Ac)	
	Mineral Resource/Rural Protection	
	RW - Rural Wooded (1 DU/20 Ac)	
	Mineral Resource/Rural Wooded	
	FRL - Forest Resource Lands (1 DU/40 Ac)	
222	Mineral Resource/Forest Resource Lands	
	BC - Business Center	
	IND - Industrial	
	Mineral Resource/Industrial	
	Commercial (19-60 DU/Ac)	
	NC - Neighborhood Commercial (10-30 DU/Ac)	
	Low Intensity Commercial (10-30 DU/Ac)	
	RCO - Rural Commercial	
	REC - Rural Employment Center	
	RI - Rural Industrial	
	Greenbelt (1-4 DU/Ac)	
	UR - Urban Restricted (1-5 DU/Ac)	
	UL - Urban Low Residential (5-9 DU/Ac) (14 for Single Family attached only) Urban Medium Residential (10-30 DU/Ac)	
	Urban High Residential (19-60 DU/Ac)	
	MVC - Manchester Village Commercial	
	MVLR - Manchester Village Low Residential	
	MVR - Manchester Village Residential	
	Park	
	CITY - Incorporated City	
	MIL - Military	
	Lake	
	Salt Water	

Figure 4. Commissioner District 3 (Central Kitsap) Zoning Map – Board of County Commissioner Direction Preferred Alternative



## **Commissioner District 3 - Central Kitsap Zoning**



VOICE (360) 337-5777 (Kitsap One) \* https://www.kitsapgov.com/

### GENERAL LAND USE GOALS, POLICIES, AND STRATEGIES

#### Goal 1. Land use pattern

Establish a development pattern consistent with the County's vision as expressed in the CPPs.

**Land Use Policy 1.1.** Designate the general distribution, location, and extent of the uses of land for housing, commerce, recreation, open spaces, public utilities and facilities, and other land uses.

**Land Use Policy 1.2.** Establish land use designations and densities as shown in Table 5.

**Land Use Policy 1.3.** Manage and maintain the County's Official Zoning Map to ensure continued consistency with the Future Land Use Map (see Figure 1).

Land Use Policy 1.4. Implement land use designations through a clear regulatory process that ensures transparency, fairness, and predictability in the land development process.

Land Use Strategy 1.a. Review, and revise as necessary, permitting processes to ensure clarity for applicants, meet and exceed state standards for processing times, and create equitable opportunities for comment and engagement for the public.

### What is the difference between zoning and future land use?

Goal 1 and the policies and strategies that implement it address the establishment of land use designations and the link between future land use and the zoning map.

The future land use map shows where general desired future land uses and densities should occur, as well as areas that are suitable for development versus areas that should be protected.

The zoning map and zoning regulations, which implement the comprehensive plan, are more specific. Multiple zones may implement a land use designation, while a single zone cannot implement multiple land use designations.

#### Land Use Goal 2. Capital facilities

Channel growth to areas where adequate services can be provided.

Land Use Policy 2.1. Coordinate capital facilities with land use planning.

**Land Use Policy 2.2.** Coordinate with local jurisdictions to determine what regional public facilities are or will be needed and how these facilities will be located to best serve the public.

Land Use Policy 2.3. Reduce stormwater runoff.


**Land Use Strategy 2.a.** Ensure that capital facilities plans and priorities match the future land use map and growth strategies.

**Land Use Strategy 2.b.** Develop agreements with adjacent cities and affected service providers to site joint facilities and share costs of development.

**Land Use Strategy 2.c.** Hold annual cross-jurisdictional meetings to identify potential facility needs.

Land Use Strategy 2.d. Encourage development of regional stormwater facilities.

**Land Use Strategy 2.e.** Ensure compliance with the current Stormwater Management Manual for Western Washington.

#### Land Use Goal 3. Full and equal access

Evaluate land use actions and decisions for their impact on the provision of full and equal access to opportunities and resources for all residents, regardless of identity, community, or socioeconomic circumstances.

**Land Use Policy 3.1.** Update development regulations to reflect equitable land use planning and incorporate land use development and planning requirements informed by a full public process.

**Land Use Strategy 3.a.** Explore racial equity assessment tools (e.g., Racial Equity Impact Assessment Toolkit from Race Forward) to evaluate development regulation update proposals.

**Land Use Strategy 3.b.** Expand community outreach strategies to vulnerable populations in the development of regulation updates.

#### Land Use Goal 4. Property rights

Balance community rights for health, safety, and conservation of resources with the rights of private property owners in development regulations.

Land Use Policy 4.1. Review and retain regulations that serve to protect the public welfare, health, and safety.

**Land Use Policy 4.2.** Property owners are to be protected from arbitrary and capricious land use decisions and actions.

**Land Use Policy 4.3.** Require new development within UGAs to be served by urban levels of sewer and water.

**Land Use Policy 4.4.** New urban services and facilities shall be limited to UGAs, unless service extension is necessary to respond to a documented public health hazard caused by existing development which cannot otherwise reasonably be remedied.

**Land Use Strategy 4.a.** Compensation at fair market value shall be paid when property is taken wholly for public purposes.

**Land Use Strategy 4.b.** Evaluate proposals through a lens that clearly outlines the community rights that are affected as well as private property rights.

**Land Use Strategy 4.c.** Convene a stakeholder group to review Boundary Line Adjustment code.

#### Land Use Goal 5. Compatibility with Naval Base Kitsap

# Implement the strategies and recommendations of the 2015 Naval Base Kitsap Joint Land Use Study (JLUS).

**Land Use Policy 5.1.** Discourage the siting of incompatible uses near military bases that would affect the installations' military readiness or proposed future expansion.

Land Use Policy 5.2. Establish a list of recognized military "centers."

**Land Use Policy 5.3.** Recognize and consider the Manchester Fuel Depot freight route when new development and traffic improvements are proposed.

**Land Use Policy 5.4.** Coordinate with the Navy when infrastructure is contemplated that would induce incompatible growth near installations.

**Land Use Strategy 5.a.** Consider adopting overlay zones to prevent incompatible uses near installations.

**Land Use Strategy 5.b.** Commanding officers of military installations or their designees shall be notified any time development regulations or other planning actions that would affect properties surrounding the site are proposed to be changed.

#### Land Use Goal 6. Health and quality of life

#### Promote health and quality of life in the built environment.

**Land Use Policy 6.1.** Understand the impacts of land use decisions through such models as the social determinants of health (SDOH) approach, inclusive of income, housing, and transportation, to improve health outcomes.

**Land Use Policy 6.2.** Actively integrate amenities such as open space, trails, plazas, pedestrian features, tree canopies, and wildlife corridors within urban growth areas.

Land Use Policy 6.3. Plan for and implement an expanded network of trails.

Land Use Policy 6.4. Link non-motorized planning requirements to land use planning decisions.



**Land Use Policy 6.5.** Actively seek new opportunities for public waterfront access, especially in support of the Kitsap Peninsula Water Trails system, while preserving existing public waterfront access.

**Land Use Policy 6.6.** Encourage land use that removes barriers to expansion of medical and health care opportunities, student housing, access to services for seniors, and underserved communities.

**Land Use Strategy 6.a.** Adopt, review, and update as necessary requirements and incentives for developments to provide facilities that promote active living in new residential developments.

**Land Use Strategy 6.b.** Participate in a leadership role in discussions of the Kitsap Health Care Continuum.

**Land Use Strategy 6.c.** Support grant funding to help subsidize student housing for health care education.

#### Land Use Goal 7. Historic, archaeological, and cultural resources

#### Preserve and celebrate historic, archaeological, and cultural resources.

**Land Use Policy 7.1.** Establish procedures to preserve significant historic, archaeological, and cultural resources.

**Land Use Policy 7.2.** Engage with affected tribes and the Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation on development proposals that may have impacts to cultural and historic resources.

**Land Use Strategy 7.a.** Inventory cultural resources throughout Kitsap County to be preserved by coordinating with local historical organizations, tribal governments, and Washington State Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation.

**Land Use Strategy 7.b.** Consider the need for pre-ground disturbance site investigations for sites where predictive model show cultural resources are likely or when requested by affected Native American Tribes and Nations.

**Land Use Strategy 7.c.** Explore development of a historic preservation ordinance that grants the County status as a Certified Local Government.

**Land Use Strategy 7.d.** Explore grant funding available to Certified Local Governments to produce a historic preservation plan that will prioritize future preservation grant efforts.

#### Land Use Goal 8. Food security, systems, and production

Promote food security, food systems, local food production, and public health by encouraging locally based food production, distribution, and choice.

**Land Use Policy 8.1.** Promote inter-agency and intergovernmental cooperation to expand community gardening opportunities.

**Land Use Policy 8.2.** Support the development and adoption of joint-use agreements on publicly owned sites or institutional facilities to allow gardens, distribution, and sales.

Land Use Policy 8.3. Prioritize underserved communities, including communities with food deserts, as areas for potential locations for community gardens, farmers markets, and local food access programs.

**Land Use Strategy 8.a.** Adopt initiatives that will enhance urban and rural agriculture, community gardens, farmers markets, and food access.

Land Use Strategy 8.b. Consider allowing alternative retail models including pop-ups and mobile markets.

#### Land Use Goal 9. Airport compatibility

Ensure that land use decisions comport with Growth Management Act requirements concerning general aviation airports.

Land Use Policy 9.1. Discourage the siting of incompatible uses near airports.

**Land Use Policy 9.2.** Land use decisions near or within the operating envelope of an airport must not compromise air safety.

**Land Use Policy 9.3.** Consult with the owners and operators of general aviation airports prior to changing comprehensive plan or development regulations that may affect their use.

**Land Use Strategy 9.a.** Require notice to title for uses within 800 feet of airports, related operations, and avigation (aircraft navigation) easements.

**Land Use Strategy 9.b.** Establish an airport overlay adjacent to the Apex Airpark and discuss future limitations on development acknowledging state and federal guidance.



#### URBAN AREA BACKGROUND

Washington State's GMA requires that counties encourage urban growth in urban areas where adequate public facilities and services exist or can be provided in an efficient manner. GMA defines "Urban Growth" as growth that makes intensive use of land for the location of denser population, buildings, structures, and impermeable surfaces to such a degree as to be incompatible with the primary use of land for the production of food, other agricultural products, or fiber, or the extraction of mineral resources, rural uses, rural development, and natural resource lands. This is achieved through the designation of UGAs.

UGAs are to be sized so that the broad range of needs and uses associated with urban growth are accommodated for over the twenty-year planning horizon. This includes non-residential uses such as medical, governmental, institutional, commercial, service, retail uses, and open spaces, as well as urban densities of housing. This sizing is calculated based on the land capacity analysis which was outlined in the background of this element.









#### URBAN DESIGNATIONS

#### Table 6. Kitsap County's Urban Land Use Designations and Associated Zoning

#### **Urban Low-Density Residential**

This designation provides for a mix of low-density residential uses that are appropriate for urban level densities but are either further away from transit and commercial services than the Urban Medium or Urban High-Density Residential, and/or include regulated environmentally critical areas. Primary uses include single-family dwellings and middle housing types (duplexes, triplexes, townhouses, cottage housing, and accessory dwelling units). Implementing zones include:

- Urban Restricted (2646 acres)
- Greenbelt (545 acres)
- Urban Low Residential (9316 acres)

Urban Cluster Residential (504 acres)

#### **Urban Medium-Density Residential**

This designation provides for a mix of middle housing types and low-rise multifamily residential uses on lands suitable for this level of urban development. This designation accommodates development that serves as a transitional buffer between lower density zones and high density/intensity zones. Development is required to occur at densities that make efficient use of public investments in infrastructure, facilitate public transit, and promote pedestrian and other non- motorized transportation. This designation is appropriate in areas near commercial services and/or transit.

- The implementing zone is:
- Urban Medium Residential (1150 acres)

#### **Urban High-Density Residential**

This designation provides for low- and mid-rise multifamily residential uses on lands suitable for this level of urban development. This designation requires development at densities that make efficient use of public investments in infrastructure, facilitate public transit, and promote pedestrian and other non-motorized transportation. Primary uses include low-rise and mid-rise apartments. This designation is appropriate in areas within walking distance of commercial services and/or transit.

- The implementing zone is:
- Urban High Residential (554 acres)

#### Urban Low-Intensity Commercial/Mixed-Use

This designation provides for commercial uses serving residential neighborhoods and small- to mediumscale mixed-use development. Primary commercial uses include those serving quick stop shopping needs. Examples include but are not limited to supermarkets, drug stores, restaurants, laundry and dry-cleaning establishments, branch banks, and professional offices. Primary residential uses include middle housing types and low-rise apartments This designation is appropriate in centralized areas that serve surrounding residential neighborhoods or in gateway areas along arterial roadways, but adjacent to low density residential areas.

- Implementing zones include:
- Neighborhood Commercial (247 acres)
- Urban Village Center (66 acres)

#### Urban High-Intensity Commercial/Mixed-Use

This designation provides for a mix of larger commercial and mixed-use centers, including commercial uses that require large sites and draw customers at the community and regional scale. Both a vertical and horizontal mix of commercial and residential uses are encouraged. Primary commercial uses include, but are not limited to, superstores, department stores, automotive parts and sales, home improvement stores, hotels and motels, and restaurants. Primary residential uses include low and mid-rise apartments. The implementing zones include:

- Commercial (1309 acres)
- Regional Center (702 acres)
- Low Intensity Commercial (73 acres)

#### **Urban Industrial**

This designation provides for a mix of industrial and business uses such as light manufacturing, hi-tech, warehousing, biotech, business parks, higher education institutions, equipment, and vehicle repair, as well as heavy industrial activities and those requiring access to major transportation corridors.

- Implementing zones include:
- Business Center (204 acres)
- Industrial (818 acres)



#### URBAN GROWTH AREAS





#### **Kingston UGA**

The Kingston UGA (shown in Figure 6) includes the unincorporated community of Kingston and is located in the northern portion of the County adjacent to Puget Sound. The UGA is approximately 1,271 acres in size. The UGA includes the Kingston Countywide Center that consists of the Kingston old town, which has a small-town character with small-scale commercial uses, and a predominantly commercial area to the northwest. The remainder of the UGA is primarily single-family residential development. The UGA remains unassociated without a contiguous incorporated jurisdiction. The community will explore incorporation during the planning period but may be limited by population and revenue opportunities. Kitsap County expects to continue to be the provider of planning and urban services for this area. Goals and policies related to Kingston can be found in the Kingston Subarea Plan.

Washington State Ferries and Kitsap Transit fast ferries both connect Kingston to the east side of Puget Sound, and this increased access has increased development pressure on Kingston.





#### Poulsbo UGA

The City of Poulsbo is located along Liberty Bay about 11 miles southwest of Kingston. The Poulsbo UGA (shown in Figure 7) includes several unincorporated areas adjacent to the City of Poulsbo, totaling approximately 410 acres in size. The unincorporated UGA has a suburban character of predominantly single-family residential development. Many areas of the UGA have views of Liberty Bay and the Olympic Mountains.

The Poulsbo UGA was associated with the City of Poulsbo with the adoption of the Poulsbo Subarea Plan in 2002. To ensure consistent development patterns between those properties inside the City and those inside the unincorporated UGA, the City and County adopted an interlocal agreement to address development regulations within the unincorporated UGA. Through this agreement, the City's zoning and subdivision regulations apply to the development of properties within the unincorporated UGA. Updates to this agreement to simplify and streamline permit processing within the UGA are currently being discussed by the jurisdictions.





#### Figure 8. Silverdale UGA Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative

#### Silverdale UGA

The Silverdale UGA (shown in Figure 8) is composed of the unincorporated community of Silverdale and is located predominantly to the north and west of the northern portion of Dyes Inlet. It includes approximately 5,642 acres. The Silverdale UGA includes a downtown area with a regional commercial center, a historic Old Town, and a mix of medical, retail, and service uses. The UGA also includes limited industrial areas. Outside of the downtown, the UGA has a suburban character with predominantly single-family residential uses.

Silverdale is designated as a "Regional Growth Center" by the Puget Sound Regional Council (PSRC. But the boundaries of this designation focus on the downtown vicinity. Residents of the Silverdale UGA have discussed incorporation at different times over the past 20 years. As incorporation is a common manner to address capital facilities and planning for urban areas, Kitsap County will coordinate and cooperate in future discussions of the incorporation of the Silverdale UGA. Goals and policies specifically related to Silverdale can be found in the Silverdale Subarea Plan.



#### Figure 9. Central Kitsap UGA Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative

#### **Central Kitsap UGA**

The Central Kitsap UGA (shown in Figure 9) is located between Dyes Inlet to the west and Port Orchard Bay to the east and is generally southeast of the Silverdale UGA and north of the City of Bremerton and its UGAs. The Central Kitsap UGA includes approximately 5,575 acres. It has a predominantly suburban single-family character, with commercial uses concentrated primarily along SR 303 and some multifamily residential uses. The UGA includes the Illahee community and the McWilliams/SR 303 Countywide Center. The Central Kitsap UGA is associated with the City of Bremerton.

The City of Bremerton, through its adopted comprehensive plan and water system plan, has shown interest in the future annexation of this UGA. Any annexation of the area should include discussion of provision of urban services and revenue sharing. The close proximity of this UGA to the Bremerton East UGA requires coordination of planning between these two urban areas.





#### Figure 10. Bremerton East UGA Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative

#### **Bremerton East UGA**

The Bremerton East UGA (shown in Figure 10) includes two unincorporated areas located adjacent to the eastern portion of the City of Bremerton. The two UGAs are located between the Central Kitsap UGA and city boundaries, and total approximately 1,094 acres. The Bremerton East UGA is primarily suburban in character, with most of its land in single-family residential use and some commercial development along the SR 303 corridor. The Bremerton East UGA was associated with the City of Bremerton in the adoption of the 1998 Comprehensive Plan. Through future annexations, it is expected that much of this UGA will become part of the City over the next 20 years.



Figure 11. Bremerton West UGA Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative

#### **Bremerton West UGA**

The Bremerton West UGA (shown in Figure 11) includes three unincorporated areas located adjacent to the western portion of the City of Bremerton (one of these is a pocket of unincorporated area surrounded by land that is part of the city). Together, these areas total approximately 1,918 acres. The Rocky Point portion of the UGA is primarily single-family residential in character. The Navy Yard City/National Avenue portion of the UGA contains commercial and industrial uses along with small-lot single-family residential development. The western pocket of the UGA (surrounded by city land) is predominantly residential. The Bremerton West UGA was associated with the City of Bremerton in the adoption of the 1998 Comprehensive Plan. Through future annexations, it is expected that much of this UGA will become part of the City over the next 20 years.





Figure 12. Gorst UGA Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative

#### Gorst UGA

The Gorst UGA (shown in Figure 12) is located at the western end of Sinclair Inlet at the junction of State Route (SR) 16 with SR 3. The UGA includes approximately 281 acres. The Gorst UGA is a relatively small highway-oriented commercial and industrial center with some small-lot single family residential development. It was associated with the City of Bremerton in 2008. Through future annexations, it is expected that this UGA will become part of the City over the next 20 years. Due to significant public health concerns regarding failing septic systems in the area, the County and the City of Bremerton invested in a new sewer mainline extension in 2014.



#### Figure 13. Puget Sound Industrial Center – Bremerton UGA Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative

#### **Puget Sound Industrial Center - Bremerton UGA**

The Puget Sound Industrial Center Bremerton (PSIC) UGA (shown in Figure 13) is located along SR 3 southwest of the Gorst UGA in the southern portion of the County. It is approximately 3,726 acres. The PSIC UGA is a major manufacturing center and is designated a "Regional Manufacturing/Industrial Center Suburban City" by Puget Sound Regional Council (PSRC). The PSIC UGA is associated with the City of Bremerton. With the Bremerton National Airport and other Port of Bremerton facilities within this UGA, future planning for the area is very important to the County and City's long and short-term economic diversification.

Since 2008, the City of Bremerton has annexed a majority of the UGA, leaving isolated pockets, including one "island," unincorporated. Through future annexations, it is expected that the remainder will become part of the City over the next 20 years. The Port of Bremerton has executed an interlocal agreement with the City of Port Orchard for sewer and other services. Both the cities of Bremerton and Port Orchard provide water service.





#### Figure 14. Port Orchard UGA Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative

#### **Port Orchard UGA**

The Port Orchard UGA (shown in Figure 14) includes several separate areas adjacent to the City of Port Orchard. Almost all of the area is to the east of the City and continues along Mile Hill Drive and Bethel Road. The UGA also includes two small pockets of unincorporated area adjacent to City boundaries in the western Port Orchard area. The UGA totals approximately 3,113 acres. The character of the majority of the UGA is suburban, with suburban style commercial centers along the arterial corridors of Mile Hill Drive and Bethel Road, and primarily single-family residential development in other areas. The portion of the UGA northeast of the City offers views of Sinclair Inlet. One pocket of the UGA located west of the City along Sidney Road Southwest is commercial, and the other west of the City is low density residential. Since 2006, the City has annexed a large portion of the commercial corridors within the UGA, including the Bethel Corridor annexation in April 2012. The Port Orchard UGA was associated with the City of Port Orchard with the 1998 Comprehensive Plan adoption. Since then, the City has been gradually annexing this UGA, such efforts are expected to continue over the next 20 years.

#### CENTERS

Centers are a critical part of Kitsap County's planning efforts and growth strategy. At the regional level, PSRC identifies 29 Regional Growth Centers, which include two in Kitsap County: Silverdale and Bremerton. Ten regional manufacturing/industrial centers are designated, which includes Puget Sound Industrial Center - Bremerton in Kitsap County. Kitsap County also identifies two Countywide Centers: Kingston and McWilliams (located in Central Kitsap UGA).

#### **Regional Growth Centers – Urban**

Regional Growth Centers are locations of more compact, pedestrian-oriented development with a mix of housing, jobs, retail, services, and other destinations. Centers receive a significant share of the region's population and employment growth compared with other parts of the urban areas while providing improved access and mobility – especially for walking, biking, and transit.

Regional Growth Centers – Urban are designated by PSRC and must meet minimum criteria as outlined in PSRC's Regional Centers Framework including:

- An existing density of at least 18 activity units per acre, with a target of 45 activity units per acre. An activity unit is equal to either one job or one resident.
- 200 acres minimum 640 acres maximum
- Frequent transit service
- Market potential to support growth



• Silverdale Regional Growth Center – First designated in 2003, Silverdale (shown in Figure 15) is the only Regional Center that is unincorporated. It is 717 acres in size, bordered by Dyes Inlet to the South, SR 3 to the West, and SR 303 to the east. Silverdale Regional Center has its own Subarea Plan with this Comprehensive Plan, which envisions the area evolving from its current development patterns of large blocks and auto-oriented commercial to a vibrant mixed-use center with a diversity of housing and employment opportunities and greater multi-modal transportation connections. Over the next 20 years, Silverdale Regional Center is expected to accommodate much of the population and employment growth for the County.

#### Figure 15. Silverdale Regional Center Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative



**Countywide Growth Centers** Like Regional Growth Centers, Countywide Growth Centers include criteria for designation, however the criteria vary by County and PSRC does not play a role in their review or certification. Countywide Centers serve important roles as places for concentrating jobs, housing, shopping, and recreation opportunities. These are areas linked by transit, provide a mix of housing and services, and serve as focal points for local and County investment.

 Kingston Countywide Center – Totaling 192 acres in size, Kingston Countywide Center (shown in Figure 16) is a subarea of the larger Kingston Urban Growth Area and includes three distinct Design Districts: Old Town, Lindvog Commercial, and Village Green. Developed with the guidance of the Kingston Community Advisory Council, the Kingston Subarea Plan includes goals and policies that guide the development and growth of the Center while preserving Kingston's unique character.







- McWilliams Countywide Center Totaling 162 acres in size, McWilliams Countywide Center (shown in Figure 17) is a subarea of the larger Central Kitsap Urban Growth Area and is located equal distance from Bremerton to the south, and Silverdale to the northwest. The subarea is bisected by SR 303 and served readily by transit. It will be a key area for housing and employment growth as well as transportation investments.
- Figure 17. McWilliams Countywide Center Boundary Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative



#### Manufacturing/Industrial Centers

Manufacturing/Industrial Centers preserve lands for family-wage jobs in basic industries and trade and provide areas where employment may grow in the future. Manufacturing/Industrial Centers form a critical regional resource that provides economic diversity, supports national and international trade, generates substantial revenue, and offers higher than average wages.

 Puget Sound Industrial Center (PSIC) – Bremerton – PSIC is in the far southwest of the County, bisected by SR 303. A small portion of the total 3,726 acres of PSIC – Bremerton is in unincorporated Kitsap County, but the majority has been annexed by the City of Bremerton. PSIC – Bremerton is positioned to be a focus area for industrial development and jobs.

Figure 18. PSIC – Bremerton Boundary – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative





# URBAN AREA LAND USE GOALS, POLICIES, AND STRATEGIES

#### Land Use Goal 10. UGA planning focus

Focus current and future planning on infill and redevelopment of existing Urban Growth Areas (UGAs).

**Land Use Policy 10.1.** Support innovative, high quality infill development and redevelopment in existing developed areas within the Urban Growth Areas.

**Land Use Policy 10.2.** Research and evaluate incentives to promote infill development and redevelopment.

**Land Use Policy 10.3.** Facilitate an integrated mix of uses and development in commercial designations.

**Land Use Policy 10.4.** Promote housing preservation and development in areas that are already well-served by schools, public transportation, and commercial facilities and which have adequate infrastructure to support alternative modes of transportation.

**Land Use Policy 10.5.** Support compact forms of development in commercial areas in order to encourage pedestrian and non-motorized travel and transit use and reduce vehicle miles traveled (VMT).

**Land Use Policy 10.6.** Measure, adopt, and implement reasonable measures if the Buildable Lands Report (BLR) finds inconsistencies in planned growth.

Land Use Policy 10.7. Accommodate affordability and flexibility in multifamily development through generous provisions for building height and density, reduced setback requirements, and encouragement of mixed attached housing types.

**Land Use Strategy 10.a.** Establish specific development regulations for transitioning between zones with different intensities that balance compatibility with development opportunities.

## How does this relate to the preferred alternative?

The Preferred Alternative as selected by the Board of County Commissioners is based on Alternative 2 studied in the Draft **Environmental Impact** Statement (DEIS). Alternative 2 (and the Preferred Alternative) emphasize compact growth with limited changes to UGA boundaries and densification and intensification within existing UGAs and centers. This implements Growth Management Act and Regional Growth Strategy requirements to focus growth in UGAs and limit UGA expansions.



**Land Use Strategy 10.b.** Continue to review and assess data for application of reasonable measures. Monitor the effectiveness of adopted reasonable measures in one-year intervals with the publication of the Buildable Lands Report.

**Land Use Strategy 10.c.** Adopt site design standards that emphasize pedestrian-oriented forms of development, particularly in key areas where storefront environments and a mix of uses is desired.

**Land Use Strategy 10.d.** Review and adjust dimensional and density standards within urban zones to accommodate a variety of housing types and site layouts.

**Land Use Strategy 10.e.** If made available to Kitsap County, adopt the Multi-Family Tax Exemption to incentivize dense residential development in urban centers.

#### Land Use Goal 11. Quality of life

#### Enhance the character and quality of life in UGAs.

**Land Use Policy 11.1.** Review and update site design standards for all new residential, commercial, and mixed-use development in UGAs to ensure that:

- Developments are coordinated and connected, where possible.
- Streetscapes are safe, welcoming, and attractive.
- Sites, including buildings, circulation, parking, and open space, are thoughtfully laid out to enhance the character of streetscapes, create a safe and convenient circulation system, and enhance the function and livability of developments.
- Developments integrate useable open space that provides recreational and social engagement opportunities while enhancing the setting for land uses.
- Developments integrate trees and landscaping elements to enhance the streetscape character, provide environmental benefits, screen unwanted views, and create comfortable human environments.

**Land Use Policy 11.2.** Provide for publicly accessible services and amenities to serve residents, employees, shoppers, and other visitors of UGAs, including:

- Schools and other educational facilities.
- A connected network of trails.
- Parks and open space.
- Recreational facilities.
- Cultural facilities.



**Land Use Policy 11.3.** Ensure quality design in development of housing, businesses, and public amenities.

Land Use Strategy 11.a. Update development regulations to meet the design objectives of Land Use Policy 11.1.

**Land Use Strategy 11.b.** Update the County's Capital Improvement Plan to prioritize those public improvements and amenities in locations intended for mixed use and the highest development intensities.

**Land Use Strategy 11.c.** Explore options and opportunities for public-private partnerships that leverage strategic investment with developments that meet community design objectives.

#### Land Use Goal 12. Coordinating land use and transportation

*Facilitate a coordinated land use and transportation pattern that reduces the reliance on the Single Occupancy Vehicle (SOV).* 

**Land Use Policy 12.1.** Support higher density residential uses in areas with access to multi-modal transportation, urban amenities, goods and services, physical activity, and healthy foods.

**Land Use Policy 12.2.** Promote commercial, mixed use, high density housing, and Transit Oriented Development (TOD) to promote walking, rolling, and transit use, while reducing SOV trips and reducing per capita Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT).

**Land Use Policy 12.3.** Update development and design standards to promote good circulation and help reduce SOV trips.

**Land Use Policy 12.4.** Restrict the number of drive-through businesses in areas designated for high pedestrian activity.

**Land Use Strategy 12.a.** Update zoning provisions coordinated with transit access, commercial services, and public amenities.

**Land Use Strategy 12.b.** Adopt minimum density requirements in strategic areas to ensure that development is supportive of transit use.

**Land Use Strategy 12.c.** Adopt block size standards and intervals for required through-block connections in commercial, mixed-use, and multifamily-zoned areas.

#### Land Use Goal 13. Annexation and incorporation

Further GMA goals for annexation or incorporation of Urban Growth Areas

**Land Use Policy 13.1.** Coordinate with existing cities regarding their associated UGAs in planning efforts.

**Land Use Policy 13.2.** Cooperatively develop a timeline for annexation or incorporation with local cities or community groups.

**Land Use Strategy 13.a.** Work with cities to develop a pre-annexation, annexation, or incorporation interlocal agreements.

**Land Use Strategy 13.b.** Create annexation and incorporation program to assess property values, revenues, expenditures, development opportunities, and annexation or incorporation timelines and ultimate transitions.

**Land Use Strategy 13.c.** Evaluate the Urban Growth Area expansion north of Kitsap Lake in 2028 and consider removal from the UGA if the area has not yet annexed.

#### Land Use Goal 14. Encourage urban-rural distinction

#### Encourage an urban-rural distinction and coordinate growth with cities

**Land Use Policy 14.1.** Facilitate and encourage urban areas to annex to associated cities or incorporate over the 20-year planning period and ensure compatibility of development with future planned uses.

**Land Use Policy 14.2.** In accordance with Kitsap Public Health District and Washington State requirements, require connection to a public sewer system for new or extensively remodeled development located within 200 feet of the public sewer system and within an urban growth area.

**Land Use Policy 14.3.** Address the issues related to the association of unincorporated Urban Growth Areas with their corresponding incorporated cities, consistent with the CPPs.

**Land Use Policy 14.4.** Enter into discussions with jurisdictions having any newly incorporated areas to address the logical transfer of jurisdiction, including the issues of infrastructure provision, ownership, and maintenance; revenue sharing; and regional planning.

**Land Use Strategy 14.a.** Establish a planning process to improve consistency between city and County plans, zoning, and development regulations in associated UGAs to further efficient delivery of urban services.

**Land Use Strategy 14.b.** Work with sewer purveyors to plan and provide for infrastructure in designated Urban Growth Areas, including small community sewer systems.

Land Use Strategy 14.c. Associate the Central Kitsap UGA with the City of Bremerton.



#### Land Use Goal 15. Direct development to UGAs

Direct development to designated Urban Growth Areas consistent with projected population growth, Growth Management Act, VISION 2050, and the Countywide Planning Policies.

**Land Use Policy 15.1** Consider development patterns that reduce sprawl, use urban land more efficiently, and incorporate feasible, innovative, and sustainable practices.

Land Use Policy 15.2. Ensure consistency between the assumptions contained in the County's Land Capacity Analysis and Countywide Planning Policies.

**Land Use Policy 15.3.** Through application of Growth Management Act goals and adopted incentives, increase density in urban areas and limit sprawl in rural areas.

**Land Use Policy 15.4.** Maintain consistency with Countywide Planning Policies regarding growth targeting.

**Land Use Policy 15.5.** Explore the creation of incentives and streamlined administrative processes for new short plats in high priority areas to be identified within the Urban Growth Areas as a reasonable measure.

**Land Use Strategy 15.a.** At the five-year mid-point of Comprehensive Plan cycle, consider assessing the Land Use Map and docket for Site Specific Amendments.

**Land Use Strategy 15.b.** At the five-year mid-point of the Comprehensive Plan cycle, evaluate the effectiveness of development regulations.

**Land Use Strategy 15.c.** Create and use dashboards with permit and census data to review trends in permit activity, new housing units, and demographics such as health indicators.

#### Land Use Goal 16. Provide sufficient industrial lands

#### Maintain sufficient industrial land area in the Urban Growth Areas for future industrial use.

**Land Use Policy 16.1.** When updating code pertaining to industrial lands, ensure that industrial uses are a priority in order to prevent commercial encroachment.

**Land Use Policy 16.2.** Apply the Urban Industrial designation in areas most conducive to industrial development, e.g., few or no natural limitations to development, reasonable accessibility to major streets and highways, available services and facilities, and compatibility with adjacent land uses.

**Land Use Strategy 16.a.** Focus the locations of industrial zoning consistent with Department of Commerce and Puget Sound Regional Council guidance.

#### RURAL AREA BACKGROUND

The Growth Management Act requires that Counties include a rural element that addresses lands that are not designated for urban growth, agriculture, forest, or mineral resources. The rural element is focused on ensuring land uses are compatible with the rural character of such lands and provides for a variety of rural densities and uses.

While managing growth, Kitsap County recognizes that rural character is a factor in drawing residents. Defining this character is an important step in preserving it. Kitsap County's rural area consists of differing natural features, landscape types, and land uses. Rural land uses consist of both dispersed and clustered residential developments, farms, wooded lots, and small and moderate-scale commercial and industrial uses that serve rural residents as their primary client. Rural landscapes encompass a full range of natural features including forested expanses, rolling meadows, streams and lakes, pastures and cropland, shorelines, and other sensitive areas.

The rural area of Kitsap County is much less developed than the urban areas. This allows for and encourages the natural landscape to predominate over the built environment. The most density Kitsap County allows in the rural areas is one dwelling unit per five acres (Rural Residential zone). This zoning allows for large amounts of land to remain undeveloped and for the protection of critical areas and rural character. The County has adopted a Critical Areas Ordinance which protects wetlands, fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas, geologically hazardous areas, frequently flooded areas, and critical aquifer recharge areas from the impacts of



Photo credit: Kitsap County

development and people from the consequences of developing in unsuitable areas. The County has also adopted an ordinance for its Shoreline Master Program which protects shorelines based on preferred and existing patterns of development. Kitsap County has adopted five comprehensive plan designations and five implementing zoning classifications in the rural areas that are intended to prevent the inappropriate conversion of undeveloped land. Further, the provision of urban level of governmental services to the rural area is restricted.

For County residents, the term rural also defines a philosophy of living and a quality of life. This quality of life includes a sense of quiet, community, and a slower pace of life. Rural characteristics include the abundance of trees, access to recreation, views of water and mountains, and a quiet, unregimented atmosphere. The elements of rural character also include the dynamic natural systems abundant in Kitsap County which can be vulnerable to human and natural change. Rural goals and policies also recognize that rural areas and communities have unique historical characters, appearances, and functions that should be retained and enhanced.



#### **RURAL DESIGNATIONS**

#### Table 7. Kitsap County's Rural Land Use Designations

#### **Rural Residential**

This designation promotes low-density residential development and agricultural activities that are consistent with rural character. It is applied to areas that are relatively unconstrained by environmentally sensitive areas or other significant landscape features. These areas are provided with limited public services. Maximum density is 1 dwelling unit per 5 acres. The implementing zone is:

• Rural Residential (86,082 acres)

#### **Rural Protection**

This designation promotes low-density rural development and agricultural activities that are consistent with rural character and protects environmental features such as significant visual, historical, and natural features, wildlife corridors, steep slopes, wetlands, streams, and adjacent critical areas. Maximum density is 1 dwelling unit per 10 acres. The implementing zone is:

• Rural Protection (30,903 acres)

#### **Rural Wooded**

This designation is intended to encourage the preservation of forest uses and agricultural activities, retain rural character, and conserve natural resources while providing for some rural residential use. This zone is further intended to discourage activities and facilities that can be considered detrimental to the maintenance of timber production. Residents of rural wooded (RW) residential tracts shall recognize that they can be subject to normal and accepted farming and forestry practices on adjacent parcels. Maximum density is 1 dwelling unit per 20 acres. The implementing zone is:

• Rural Wooded (43,077 acres)

#### **Rural Commercial**

This designation is intended to permit the location of small-scale commercial retail businesses and personal services which serve a limited area of the rural population outside established UGAs. Appropriate uses are small-scale retail, sales, and services located along county roads on small parcels that serve the nearby rural residential population. This designation may be located at crossroads of county roads, state routes, and major arterials. The implementing zone is:

• Rural Commercial (257 acres)

#### **Rural Industrial**

This designation provides for small-scale light industrial, light manufacturing, recycling, mineral processing, and resource-based goods production uses that are compatible with rural character and do not require an urban level of utilities and services. The implementing zone is:

• Rural Industrial (157 acres)

#### LIMITED AREAS OF MORE INTENSE RURAL DEVELOPMENT (LAMIRDS)

Limited Areas of More Intense Rural Development, or LAMIRDs, are allowed for the purpose of recognizing existing areas of more intense or dense rural development and to contain these areas from sprawling.

- Type 1 LAMIRDs have a variety of uses characterized as a village or hamlet.
- Type 2 LAMIRDs are for recreation purposes only. Kitsap County does not have any Type 2 LAMIRDs.
- Type 3 LAMIRDs are for small-scale businesses and cottage industries that provide job opportunities for rural residents.

LAMIRDs may be served by public facilities and services that are appropriate and necessary for the amount of development contained within the boundaries.

LAMIRD Maps can be found in the subarea plan elements later in this document.

#### Type 1 Rural Village/Rural Commercial.

This designation is characterized as infill development or redevelopment of existing commercial, industrial, residential, or mixed-use areas, whether as shoreline development, villages, hamlets, rural activity centers, or crossroads. Any development or redevelopment other than an industrial area or use within a Type 1 LAMIRD must be principally designed to serve the rural population.

Any new development or redevelopment must be consistent with the pre-existing character of the area with respect to building size, scale, use, or intensity. Type 1 LAMIRDs must have been established as more densely developed areas as of July 1990, and they must include pre-GMA existing development. Type 1 LAMIRDs also must be bounded by a "logical outer boundary" that reflects the limits of the pre-existing development.

- Manchester is Kitsap County's largest LAMIRD, encompassing approximately 1,133 acres of land with a clear view across Puget Sound to West Seattle and housing approximately 5,200 residents across 2,310 tax parcels (as of 2022). Manchester was designated a LAMIRD on June 10, 2001. It is located in southern Kitsap County east of the City of Port Orchard and consists of a small variety of commercial businesses and services, the Kitsap Regional Library – Manchester Branch, the Manchester Post Office, two public docks, single-family residences, and a handful of multifamily residences. Public water is provided by the Manchester Water District and sewer by the Kitsap County Sewer Utility. However, a number of very small lots are still using on-site septic systems.
- **Suquamish** is a rural, historic waterfront community within the Port Madison Indian Reservation located in northern Kitsap County east of the City of Poulsbo along the western shore of Port Madison Bay. The LAMIRD was designated on April 21, 1999. There are approximately 470 acres of land divided into 1242 parcels with a population of about 2,725 (as of 2022). The Suquamish LAMIRD consists primarily of single-family homes, a few small



businesses, open space, and parklands. Public water is provided by the Kitsap Public Utility District and sewer by the Kitsap County Sewer Utility.

- Keyport is a small historic waterfront community that has long supported naval operations in the adjacent Naval Underseas Warfare Center – Keyport on the small peninsula that extends into Liberty Bay south of Poulsbo. Keyport was designated as a LAMIRD on November 19, 2007. There are 80 acres split into 202 tax parcels with 402 residents (as of 2022), a few small businesses and restaurants, the U.S. Naval Undersea Museum, and open space. Public water is provided by Kitsap Public Utility District and sewer service by the Kitsap County Sewer Utility, though a number of small lots are still served by on-site septic systems.
- **Port Gamble** was founded as a company timber town in 1843, designated a LAMIRD on July 21, 1999, and remains owned solely by one entity. Currently, almost all of the buildings are more than 100 years old and include a post office, a few small businesses, and a number of single-family homes. These structures are on about 127 acres split into 18 parcels and house about 80 people (as of 2022). The former lumber mill site is planned for major redevelopment, approved as part of a Development Agreement in 2021. Kitsap Public Utility District provides water service and oversees sewer treatment. Sewer conveyance is provided by Rayonier, the site owner.
- **George's Corner** is a small commercial center at the crossroads of State Highway 104 and Miller Bay Road/Hansville Road west of Kingston. A number of vehicle-oriented businesses are on the site which is 25 parcels on about 42 acres served by public water from the Kitsap Public Utilities District and on-site septic systems. George's Corner was designated as a LAMIRD on October 25, 2004.



Figure 19. Map of Type I Limited Areas of More Intensive Rural Development



**Type 3 Employment Centers.** These LAMIRDs are meant for the intensification of, or new development of, lots for isolated cottage industries and isolated small-scale businesses. Residential development is prohibited. Type 3 LAMIRDs need not principally serve the rural population but should provide job opportunities for rural residents. Expansion or new development must conform with the rural character of the area. Public services and public facilities must be limited to those that are the minimum necessary to serve the industry or business.

- **Ecology Road** is the northernmost Type 3 LAMIRD, located on the west side of the intersection of Hansville Road and Ecology Road. There are several contractors, suppliers of firewood, topsoil, and propane, and storage units at this site. This area was designated a LAMIRD on December 15, 2010, and has 18 parcels across about 64 acres. Kitsap Public Utility District provides water service and the site is served by on-site septic systems.
- Streibels Corner encompasses properties near the intersection of Highways 307 and 104 and bounded by Minder Road on the south. Several autobody shops are located in this LAMIRD, as well as a number of contractors and a business park. Streibels Corner was designated as a LAMIRD on December 15, 2010, and has about 160 acres, 73 parcels, and about 35 residents (as of 2022). Kitsap Public Utility District provides water service to the site, and it is served by on-site septic systems.
- **Twelve Trees** is located generally southwest of the intersection of Pioneer Way and Highway 3 directly north of Poulsbo. Twelve Trees is an industrial park location including warehouses that house a variety of manufacturing businesses on about 114 acres and 50 parcels. This LAMIRD was designated on December 15, 2010. Kitsap Public Utility District provides water service, and the site is served by on-site septic systems.
- Bond/Gunderson LAMIRD is located in North Kitsap at the intersection of Bond Road and Gunderson Road. It is about 64 acres on 11 lots with office buildings that house contractors and food production. This is also the site of an in-progress Kitsap County Public Works Service Center. This LAMIRD was designated on December 15, 2010. Kitsap Public Utility District provides water service, and the site is served by on-site septic systems.
- **Port Orchard Airport** is located on Sidney Road near the Pierce County line. The LAMIRD is composed entirely of the airport site, including hangers and an approximately 2,300-foot-long runway for small aircraft. The LAMIRD is 116 acres in 36 parcels and was designated on June 30, 2016. The site is served by public water.



Figure 20.Map of Type III Limited Areas of More Intensive Rural Development



### RURAL LAND USE GOALS, POLICIES, AND STRATEGIES

#### Land Use Goal 17. Rural character

#### Protect Kitsap County's unique rural character.

**Land Use Policy 17.1.** Permit residential uses in rural areas in a variety of rural lot sizes consistent with the rural character of the surrounding area.

Land Use Policy 17.2. Maintain LAMIRDs at low residential densities that can be sustained by minimal infrastructure improvements, minimize environmental degradation, and that will not cumulatively create the future necessity or expectation of urban levels of service.



**Land Use Policy 17.3.** Allow infill and redevelopment within LAMIRD boundaries consistent with the character of the existing LAMIRD in terms of building size, scale, use, and intensity and that does not increase the need for public facilities and utilities to urban levels.

Land Use Policy 17.4. Accommodate appropriate rural uses not characterized by urban growth.

**Land Use Policy 17.5.** Allow for essential public facilities, other regional infrastructure, and rural governmental services.

**Land Use Policy 17.6.** Consistent also with Land Use Goal 14- Direct development to UGAs, limit rural growth rates by focusing growth with the Urban Growth Areas.

**Land Use Strategy 17.a.** Review and revise as necessary standards and development regulations for the rural area to preserve rural character.

**Land Use Strategy 17.b.** Explore development regulations that minimize changes in grade from pre-development site conditions in order to maximize native vegetation retention.

**Land Use Strategy 17.c.** Review development regulations including lot size and density for LAMIRDs and update as necessary to allow for appropriate infill.

**Land Use Strategy 17.d.** Continuously review and revise as necessary development regulations regarding clustering, density transfer, design guidelines, conservation easements and other innovative land use techniques to ensure they are working as intended.

**Land Use Strategy 17.e.** Beginning in 2025, explore regulation and incentive programs to improve compatibility between diverse rural uses (e.g. small-scale agriculture, rural businesses, and residences).

#### Land Use Goal 18. Foster rural business

Foster rural businesses and business opportunities on designated commercial and industrial lands in the rural area while balancing the protection of rural character.

Land Use Policy 18.1. Encourage business growth in existing LAMIRDs while limiting business growth outside of LAMIRDs.

Land Use Policy 18.2. Allow or conditionally allow home-based cottage-type businesses and industries in the rural areas that do not negatively affect rural level of service or rural character.

do f

Land Use Policy 18.3. When considering public spending for

facilities and services within the rural area, prioritize the maintenance of existing facilities and services that protect public health and safety and only upgrade facilities and services to provide rural service levels without creating capacity for urban growth.

**Land Use Strategy 18.a.** Review and amend development regulations to reduce barriers to rural businesses that protect rural character.

#### Land Use Goal 19. Support farming, agriculture, and the environment

Maintain and enhance the viability of agricultural uses and activities in rural areas, including cultivation, animal husbandry, and value-added production while protecting the environment.

**Land Use Policy 19.1.** Foster agriculture opportunities by promoting flexibility in development regulations.

**Land Use Policy 19.2.** Continue regulatory and non-regulatory preservation of historic or working farmland.

**Land Use Policy 19.3.** The Kitsap County Agricultural Strategic Plan and Inventory shall be the basis for discussions of Kitsap's food system, including agriculture, policies, and programs developed by the County. Agricultural mapping detailed in the Plan shall be maintained and refined.

**Land Use Policy 19.4.** Coordinate with federal, state, and local governments, community groups, and private landowners to promote long-term preservation of farmlands.

Land Use Policy 19.5. Recognize and value water as an agricultural necessity.


**Land Use Policy 19.6.** Assess the effect of agricultural practices on non-point source pollution and groundwater impacts.

**Land Use Policy 19.7.** Develop measures to minimize adverse impacts of agricultural activities utilizing best management practices.

**Land Use Strategy 19.a.** Develop and adopt policies with appropriate local, county, and state agencies to promote viable coordinated water resources for greater accessibility to water rights for agriculture usage.

**Land Use Strategy 19.b.** Review and amend development regulations to consider impacts of non-farm-related commercial or industrial uses to the Farming Areas identified in the Agricultural Strategic Plan and Inventory.

**Land Use Strategy 19.c.** Encourage preservation of historic or working farm land through strategies including tax policy, conservation easements, Transfer of Development Rights (TDR), Purchase of Development Rights (PDR), innovative design criteria, expedited agricultural activity permit review program, educational and agritourism activities, and the establishment of a small farms institute.

**Land Use Strategy 19.d.** Form an agricultural working group to inform development of future regulations and act as a resource to farmers regarding incentive and other assistance programs.

**Land Use Strategy 19.e.** Review Kitsap's agricultural land uses, businesses, and products against the criteria for agricultural resource lands and evaluate future designation.

#### **RESOURCE LANDS BACKGROUND**

RCW 36.70A.170 requires counties to designate resource lands in their comprehensive plans. Resource lands are required to have long-term commercial significance for the region, including intense capacity and productivity. For this reason, although agricultural activity occurs in Kitsap County, the County's agricultural land lacks the capacity for long-term commercial significance. Therefore, Kitsap County does not designate any agricultural resource lands. Forestlands and mineral resource lands are designated.

Kitsap County uses the same general criteria for designating resource lands as are outlined in WAC 365-190-050 through 365-190-070. These are lands not characterized by urban growth. There are some soils in North Kitsap that are of statewide significance based on soil type but are in general on small lots or are used for timber production and therefore not eligible to be designated as agricultural resource lands. The designated Forest Resource Lands in Kitsap County are in Green Mountain State Forest and managed by Washington State Department of Natural Resources as working forest lands. Mineral resource lands are designated based on the known or highly probable presence of aggregate and sand. Most resource extraction sites are in central Kitsap; smaller extraction sites exist elsewhere in Kitsap County.

The intent of resource lands goals and policies is to direct the use of lands that contain commercial quality resources. These resource-based uses are often intermixed or occur together with residential development within the County's rural areas. This designation of resource lands and activities is intended to help keep these lands available for commercially significant resource production and to help maintain these sectors of the local economy. Resource lands are identified on the Land Use Map with the Forest Resource designation or Mineral Resource Overlay. The Forest Resource designation primarily is assigned to lands that have commercial forestry resources. The Forest Resource designation is implemented by the Forest Resource zone. The Mineral Resource Overlay is primarily assigned to lands that have nor likely mineral resources such as gravel or sand.



#### **RESOURCE LANDS DESIGNATIONS**

#### Table 8. Kitsap County's Resource Lands Land Use Designations

#### **Forest Resource Lands**:

This designation primarily focuses on lands that have commercial forestry resources. These lands are typically large parcels, are not near concentrated rural populations, and are in active forestry production.

The implementing zone of the same name has the following description: The primary land use allowed in this zone is commercial timber production and harvesting. This zone is further intended to discourage activities and facilities which can be considered detrimental to the production and commercial harvest of timber. Residents located within or adjacent to the Forest Resource Lands zone shall recognize that they can be subject to normal and accepted forestry practices on parcels located within this zone. There are 2,630 acres in Forest Resource Land zoning.

#### Mineral Resource Lands:

This designation primarily focuses on lands where the extraction of minerals occurs or can be anticipated to occur based upon maps provided by the Washington State Department of Natural Resources, as well as where accessory uses (e.g., rock crushing, batch plants) may occur.

The description for the Mineral Resource Overlay (additional provisions on top of the underlying zone) is: The intent of this overlay is to protect and enhance significant sand, gravel and rock deposits as identified mineral resource lands. It is also used to ensure the continued or future use without disrupting or endangering adjacent land uses, while safeguarding life, property, and the public welfare. Provisions of state statutes applicable to Kitsap County pertaining to surface mining are hereby adopted by reference. The Mineral Resource Overlay applies to 2,716 acres.

### **RESOURCE LANDS GOALS, POLICIES, AND STRATEGIES**

#### Land Use Goal 20. Maintain forest resource lands

#### Maintain forest resource lands in Kitsap County for continued forestry production.

**Land Use Policy 20.1.** Account for the continued use of properties managed for timber production and compatibility of these properties with surrounding lands.

Land Use Policy 20.2. Coordinate with the Department of Natural Resources (DNR), Tribal governments, community groups, and private forest landowners to promote long-term preservation of forest lands.

**Land Use Policy 20.3.** Allow industrial uses associated with forestry activities in the Mineral Resource Overlay zone.

Land Use Policy 20.4. Allow the use of industry-standard Best Management Practices within designated Forest Resource Lands and the Rural Wooded designation, provided all applicable environmental laws and regulations are followed.

Land Use Strategy 20.a. Maintain and enhance the continuation of forestry lands and forestry through tax policy, conservation easements, purchase of development rights, Transfer of Development Rights (TDR), and clustering incentives.

Land Use Strategy 20.b. Develop, implement, evaluate, and restructure, if necessary, the existing Transfer of Development Rights (TDR) program.

Land Use Strategy 20.c. Require that all plats, short plats, development permits, and building permits issued for development activities on, or within eight

### What is Transfer of Development Rights?

Transfer of Development Rights, or TDR, is a planning tool used to incentivize protection of sensitive areas (like critical areas or forest resource lands). In a TDR program, the County designates sensitive areas or natural resources as "sending" areas and other areas as "receiving" areas. The development rights associated with the sending areas can be "transferred" to the receiving areas, which get a development density or intensity bonus to enable them to use those development rights.

hundred feet of, lands designated as forest resource lands contain a notice to title that the subject property is within or near designated forest resource lands on which a variety of commercial activities may occur that are not compatible with residential development for certain periods of limited duration.

**Land Use Strategy 20.d.** Develop and promote incentives for continued rural and resource uses and preservation.



#### Land Use Goal 21. Mineral resource lands

#### Assess and maintain mineral resource lands in Kitsap County for continued mineral production.

**Land Use Policy 21.1.** Acknowledge new or updated mineral resource deposit locations in future revisions to zoning and development regulations in urban or rural areas.

**Land Use Policy 21.2.** Account for the continued use of properties for mineral extraction and associated activities and compatibility of these properties with surrounding lands.

Land Use Strategy 21.a. Review and revise as necessary Mineral Resource designations using new or updated Washington State Department of Natural Resources permit or other data sources.

Land Use Strategy 21.b. Coordinate with the Washington State Department of Natural Resources (DNR) to ensure that future reclamation plans are



consistent with the comprehensive planning for the site and surrounding area, as well as any permits issued by the Department of Natural Resources.

**Land Use Strategy 21.c.** Determine whether adequate mineral resources are available for projected needs from currently designated mineral resource lands.

Land Use Strategy 21.d. Require that all plats, short plats, development permits, and building permits issued for development activities on, or within eight hundred feet of, lands designated as mineral resource lands, contain a notice to title that the subject property is within or near designated mineral resource lands on which a variety of commercial activities may occur that are not compatible with residential development for certain periods of limited duration. The notice for mineral resource lands shall also inform that an application might be made for mining-related activities, including mining, extraction, washing, crushing, stockpiling, blasting, transporting, and recycling of minerals.

#### REFERENCES

- Vision 2050, PSRC
- <u>Multi-County Planning Policies</u>
- <u>Countywide Planning Policies</u>
- Joint Land Use Study (2015)
- Buildable Lands Report (2021)
- <u>Kitsap County Agriculture Strategic Plan</u>



ST. MICHAEL MEDICAL CENTER, SILVERDALE, WA

## CHAPTER 2

# Economic Development

# Chapter 2 / Economic Development Element

#### VISION

As part of the Greater Seattle market, Kitsap County has a place in one of the most diverse, innovative, and competitive regional economies in the world. While an integral part of the regional economy, Kitsap County also has a local economy all its own, especially given its natural separation from Seattle by water.

Kitsap County uses land use planning, efficient regulatory processes, solid infrastructure, and environmental protections to maintain a high quality of life that attracts desired businesses, providing for a prosperous and diversified economy with living-wage jobs for residents. Kitsap County takes advantage of its abundant natural beauty, miles of shoreline and many acres of forest lands as assets that contribute to the scenic beauty of the area and to its economic value as they attract tourists.

#### INTENT

The Economic Development element aims to encourage economic development in Kitsap County that considers the regional economic context and is suited to the unique conditions of the County. The element is designed to build capacity and guide the economic prosperity and resiliency of Kitsap County. The Economic Development goals, policies, and strategies provide the framework to improve and sustain Kitsap County's fiscal, economic, and social conditions utilizing local resources, partnerships, and economic opportunities.

#### **GROWTH MANAGEMENT ACT AND REGIONAL COORDINATION**

The Growth Management Act (GMA) sets forth planning goals to guide the development of comprehensive plans. The following GMA planning goal directly addresses economic development:

Encourage economic development throughout the state that is consistent with adopted comprehensive plans, promote economic opportunity for all citizens of this state, especially for unemployed and for disadvantaged persons, promote the retention and expansion of existing businesses and recruitment of new businesses, recognize regional differences impacting economic development opportunities, and encourage growth in areas experiencing insufficient economic growth, all within the capacities of the state's natural resources, public services, and public facilities.

In support of this planning goal, the GMA requires that a comprehensive plan have an economic development element. The economic development element is to include provisions for "economic growth and vitality and a high quality of life."



The central Puget Sound region is comprised of four counties: Snohomish, King, Pierce, and Kitsap. Collaboratively, these counties and entities within them are charged with jointly planning for the transportation, land use, and economic development needs of the region through the Puget Sound Regional Council. VISION 2050 is the region's current plan for growth.

**VISION 2050** carries forward many of the economic policies from the



prior plan (Vision 2040); however, the following economic policy areas were expanded or added to when it was updated in 2020:

- Retention and recruitment of locally, women-, and minority-owned small businesses and start-ups and established and emerging industries, technologies, and services that promote environmental sustainability.
- Strategies to expand access to opportunity.
- Strategies to address and prevent commercial displacement.
- Promotion of environmental and socially responsible business practices that address climate change and improve health outcomes.
- Recognition of the contributions of the region's culturally and ethnically diverse communities, institutions, and Native American Tribes.

The Kitsap Countywide Planning Polices, which inform the development of comprehensive plans for jurisdictions in Kitsap County, have been updated to be consistent with the GMA and VISION 2050.

#### **RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER ELEMENTS**

Economic Development goals, policies, and strategies in Kitsap County's Comprehensive Plan are interconnected to the strength, structure, and implementation of other comprehensive plan elements including Land Use; Housing; Transportation; Capital Facilities; Parks, Recreation and Open Space; Climate Change; and Environment. For example, the Land Use element ensures an adequate amount of land is appropriately zoned to accommodate a variety of employment opportunities, while this economic development chapter prioritizes growth in both underlying infrastructure and the utilization of industrial zoning. And The Housing element plans for affordable housing options for the workforce to live near employment centers. The Economic Development element aims to fulfill Kitsap County's employment growth target of 18,184 jobs by 2044.

#### BACKGROUND

Kitsap is a recognized leader in several key economic sectors: defense; advanced manufacturing (maritime and aerospace); technology (information and communication technology, e-commerce, cyber security, and clean tech); health care; business services; specialty foods; and tourism. Overall, the defense sector accounts for nearly half of Kitsap's economic output and workforce. Kitsap provides strong support of Naval Base Kitsap and its diverse missions. As a result, our local economy ranks high within the Region in several essential economic development indicators: workforce educational attainment; engineering talent; development of intellectual property; per capita economic output; employment levels; and median household incomes.

While part of Greater Seattle, Kitsap also has its own unique microeconomy; the two strongest factors impacting Kitsap's economy are regional effects from Greater Seattle and localized effects from Naval Base Kitsap. As one of the nation's most vibrant economies, Seattle's economic performance, along with employment and population trends, create ripple effects in Kitsap's far smaller community; post-pandemic "suburban boom" is an example of this. Meanwhile, day-to-day economic life in Kitsap itself shows that Naval Base Kitsap (NBK) is a behemoth. According to the 2024 Washington Statewide Defense Economic Impact Study from the Office of the Lieutenant Governor, NBK generates annual economic impact of \$6.8 billion GSP (Gross State Product)—with further billions in federal government capital investment forecast for investment and modernization of Navy installations in Kitsap through 2038. Government employment is a strong economic characteristic of Kitsap, making up just over one-third of paychecks—twice the rate it occurs nationally—and public entities are typically seven of the top ten largest employers in Kitsap County.

Nonetheless, the private sector is strong, healthy and growing in Kitsap. The "homegrown" private sector headquarters a small set of firms with a footprint beyond Kitsap County's borders that sell products either nationally or internationally: SAFE Boats International, Skookum Contract Services, Watson Furniture, Farbank, and Town and Country Markets are all examples of companies that either started in Kitsap or saw significant growth here. The largest private employer in the community is St. Michael Medical Center. Kitsap-based tribal corporations, Port Madison Enterprises, and Noo-Kayet Investments are also among the top private employers.

For a more diverse economic future, private sector industries currently showing the potential to mature into larger clusters in Kitsap's economy include maritime, light manufacturing, business and professional services, architecture and engineering, construction, health care, airport operations, and tourism. These industries show promise for a wide range of reasons, whether because of United States Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) data, skill sets within the workforce, or geographic/strategic opportunity—such as Silverdale's role in serving the healthcare needs of both the Kitsap and Olympic peninsulas, and the strategic opportunity that Bremerton National Airport could represent with increased growth, investment and operations.



Post-pandemic, the cost of living in Kitsap generally resembles the rest of Puget Sound. Our Bremerton-Silverdale-Port Orchard metro area costs are generally the same as Tacoma, Bellingham, and Olympia. In some cases, it is slightly more expensive here. All these cities remain more affordable than Seattle. Other data points to a rise in Kitsap's income and costs, such as weekly wage growth (12.7% in Kitsap, second highest in the nation, from Q3 2021-2022) and median home prices (which increased by 38.1% from March 2020 to 2022).

Affordable housing is difficult to attain in the community. According to Puget Sound Regional Council, Kitsap joins Pierce and Snohomish counties in having just over half of its households "cost-burdened", meaning they spend more than a third of their income on housing. Generally, Kitsap County grows at just under or over 1% annually, according to State of Washington Office of Financial Management population estimates. The median cost of a home in Kitsap is \$565,000. Meanwhile the average rent is \$1,713 a month.

There is indication and further potential for this growth trajectory to increase, depending on remote work patterns, workforce and talent lifestyle choices, as well as connectivity to Seattle; one factor that has increased Kitsap's attractiveness to worker talent is Kitsap Transit's fast ferry fleet.

According to a 2019 multistate collaborative childcare study by the Bipartisan Policy Center, Kitsap County is facing a 51.1% daycare gap with a 4,620 supply, number of childcare slots offered by locally operated and state-recognized providers, and a 9,980 potential need, the number of children age five and under with all available parents in the labor force, according to the 2014-2018 American Community Survey five-year sample. The estimated annual economic impact for Kitsap County from income loss, productivity loss, and tax revenues is between \$131 million and \$200 million.

Kitsap County offers a robust education system that supports lifelong learning, with strong public schools, career and technical programs, and growing postsecondary options. The public schools focus on Science, Technology, Engineering and Math (STEM) and Career and Technical Education (CTE) programs to build job-ready skills and offer dual credit opportunities for college advancement. For younger students, two districts provide Spanish dual-language programs, enhancing bilingual skills from kindergarten through eighth grade.

Higher education in Kitsap is anchored by Olympic College, which serves over 8,500 students annually and supports a large military-connected student body. Its partnerships with Old Dominion University Global, Washington State University, and Western Washington University (WWU) allow students to pursue bachelor's and master's degrees locally. Western Washington University's expanding presence across the Olympic and Kitsap Peninsulas, with academic centers in Bremerton, Poulsbo strengthens local access to higher education.

This cohesive educational ecosystem provides Kitsap residents a solid foundation for academic and professional success without leaving the area.

#### **KEY TERMS**

**BIPOC** – Refers to Black, Indigenous, and People of Color. Often used to refer to members of nonwhite communities.

**Displacement** – Occurs when residents can no longer afford to remain in their homes due to rising housing costs. Causes can include limited availability of housing choices for low-income residents, supports and services low-income families rely on disappearing from their neighborhood; and eviction, acquisition, rehabilitation, or demolition of property.

Economic cluster - Local concentrations of similar or complementary industries.

**Equity impact analyses** – An examination of any disproportionate (positive or negative) impacts affecting a particular group when compared to other groups and addressing said disparities through targeted actions. Examples of impacts are opportunities, outcomes, and representation.

**High potential sector** – An area poised for growth and profitability. Examples are technology, healthcare, and energy.

**LGBTQIA+** - An inclusive term that encompasses people of all genders and sexualities. The acronym stands for lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, intersex, asexual and other identities.

**Living wage job** - An income level that allows individuals or families to afford adequate shelter, food, and other necessities.

**Median wage** – The income amount that is directly in the middle of the income range. Half the population earns less than the median wage and the other half earns more than the median wage.

**Social Determinates of Health** – Nonmedical factors that influence health outcomes. These are conditions in the environment in which people are born, grow, live, learn, work, play, worship, and age that shape health. Examples of nonmedical factors include physical environment, patterns of social engagement, and one's sense of security and well-being.

**Social Equity** – Refers to impartiality, fairness, and justice for all people in social policy. Considers systemic inequities that affect different groups of people and works to eliminate them.

**Socioeconomic demographic** – Refers to the absolute or relative levels of economic resources, power, and prestige closely associated with wealth of an individual, specific population, or community. This is a multidimensional construct comprising of such factors as income, education, and employment status.

**Shoreline Master Program (SMP)** – <u>KCC Title 22</u> Guides the future development of the shorelines in Kitsap County in a manner consistent with the Shoreline Management Act of 1971, comprised of basic state and county law regulating use of shorelines in Kitsap County.



### ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GOALS, POLICIES, AND STRATEGIES

#### **Economic Development Goal 1. Promote economic Growth and Investments**

Promote healthy economic growth and investments that support livable and resilient communities that are fueled by innovation and the diverse people and businesses of Kitsap County.

**Economic Development Policy 1.1.** Foster awareness of the economic development efforts in Kitsap County.

**Economic Development Policy 1.2.** Make necessary and encourage ambitious investments in workforce and education.

**Economic Development Policy 1.3.** Invest in efficient, cost-effective capital improvements and programs necessary for commerce and industry to thrive and increase the prevalence of living-wage jobs.

**Economic Development Policy 1.4.** Support funding as needed to maintain and grow programs that promote enhanced community economic outcomes.

**Economic Development Policy 1.5.** Promote the long-term strength of the local economy by retaining and further developing a skilled workforce, which attracts and retains businesses.

**Economic Development Policy 1.6.** Enhance economic outcomes for Kitsap's youth and families and increase participation of under-represented communities in the workforce.

**Economic Development Strategy 1.a.** Collaborate with cities, tribal governments, Kitsap Economic Development Alliance (KEDA), ports and other local districts, and the private sector in pursuit of economic development.

**Economic Development Strategy 1.b.** Collectively execute effective economic development programs in business retention, expansion, and startup efforts with applicable agencies, organizations, and jurisdictions.

**Economic Development Strategy 1.c.** Support investments and offer incentives (potentially Tax Increment Financing, Targeted Urban Area, Multifamily Tax Exemption, and others) in the development and/or redevelopment of the Silverdale Regional Center.

**Economic Development Strategy 1.d.** Increase allowable density of housing within designated Urban Growth Areas (UGA) to allow for incoming growth, amplifying nearby commercial and retail environments, and improving access to services.

Economic Development Strategy 1.e. Support workforce development programs.

**Economic Development Strategy 1.f.** Promote access to and development of exceptional K-12, trade programs, and higher education opportunities that lead directly to career pathways (for example: apprenticeship, trade, and technical education). **Economic Development Strategy 1.g.** Solicit employer feedback to determine what current and future careers are likely needed in the local workforce mix.

**Economic Development Strategy 1.h.** Support investments in and growth of early childhood education and childcare centers.

#### **Economic Development Goal 2. Government operations and regulations**

Foster a business-friendly climate through county government operations and regulations.

**Economic Development Policy 2.1.** Enact employer, investor, worker, and business-friendly policies.

**Economic Development Policy 2.2.** Make necessary infrastructure investments including transportation, sewer, water, electricity and broadband to accommodate Kitsap's growth, maximize opportunity, and maintain a high quality of life.

**Economic Development Policy 2.3.** Establish a diverse mix of commercial, industrial, and retail land uses.

**Economic Development Policy 2.4.** Encourage full utilization and development of industrial and commercial zoned areas.

**Economic Development Policy 2.5.** Promote a balance between economic growth and protection of Kitsap County's environmental assets and rural character.

**Economic Development Policy 2.6.** Support efforts to enhance economic, visual, and environmental qualities of rural areas.

**Economic Development Strategy 2.a.** Promote positive relationships with economic development stakeholders as valued members of Kitsap County through collaborative discussions of redevelopment, regulations, and incentives.

**Economic Development Strategy 2.b.** Provide timely customer service, permitting support and resources to businesses looking to establish roots, relocate, or expand in Kitsap County.

**Economic Development Strategy 2.c.** Identify, avoid, and mitigate potential negative impacts to the environment due to economic growth and development.

**Economic Development Strategy 2.d.** Prioritize new infrastructure investments and redevelopment of existing infrastructure that is underutilized in industrial and commercial areas.

**Economic Development Strategy 2.e**. Focus economic development efforts in Urban Growth Areas, Commercial Districts, and Limited Areas of More Intense Rural Development (LAMIRDs) where appropriate.



#### **Economic Development Goal 3. Jobs and business**

Prioritize living wage jobs, business formation, retention, and expansion efforts in Kitsap County.

**Economic Development Policy 3.1.** Support entrepreneurship and innovation.

**Economic Development Policy 3.2.** Promote increased broadband internet service as a necessary public utility.

**Economic Development Policy 3.3.** Support new business development.

**Economic Development Strategy 3.a.** Support programs that grow entrepreneurship through creative, programmatic, and collaborative efforts by individuals, business, and organizations.

**Economic Development Strategy 3.b.** Increase broadband offerings, particularly access and affordability for underserved residents.



**Economic Development Strategy 3.c.** Prioritize the recruitment of firms that are above median wage or that are associated with targeted economic cluster efforts.

**Economic Development Strategy 3.d.** Collaborate with public and private partners to accommodate the interests and needs of new businesses forming and/or that wish to locate here.

**Economic Development Strategy 3.e.** Support educational and economic programs that prioritize and encourage the ability of our youth to maintain residency and gain employment in Kitsap County.

#### **Economic Development Goal 4. Sustainability**

#### Focus on Kitsap's strengths in building our economy for a healthy and sustainable economic future.

**Economic Development Policy 4.1.** Support economic development for emerging and growing private sector industries.

**Economic Development Policy 4.2.** Support maritime industry growth.

**Economic Development Policy 4.3.** Foster economic diversification focusing on employment for future generations.

**Economic Development Policy 4.4.** Encourage appropriate economic opportunities in rural areas.



**Economic Development Policy 4.5.** Recognize that the health and preservation of Kitsap County's natural environment increases economic activity.

**Economic Development Policy 4.6.** Ensure adequate water and energy for economic growth and existing businesses.

**Economic Development Strategy 4.a.** Provide adequate infrastructure and land for industrial uses.

**Economic Development Strategy 4.b.** Continue to support efforts to improve the Gorst corridor and alleviate persistent traffic congestion.

**Economic Development Strategy 4.c.** Bolster maritime and health care industries to become larger economic clusters.

**Economic Development Strategy 4.d.** Amplify strong subsectors of industry in Kitsap, including but not limited to engineering, architecture, construction, advanced manufacturing, aviation, and technology.

**Economic Development Strategy 4.e.** Consider climate change resiliency when supporting and investing in utilities, infrastructure, energy, and health systems.

**Economic Development Strategy 4.f.** Consider opportunities in new technology, talent/migration, businesses, and investment.

**Economic Development Strategy 4.g.** Consider opportunities for shoreline industrial uses consistent with the Shoreline Master Program (SMP).



#### Economic Development Goal 5. Social determinants of health and economic vitality

Acknowledge and address economic disparities experienced by residents of Kitsap County.

**Economic Development Policy 5.1.** Mitigate the challenges of homelessness and avoid displacement in the community.

**Economic Development Policy 5.2.** Encourage economic activity capable of providing living-wage jobs reasonably scaled to the needs of the community.

**Economic Development Policy 5.3.** Recognize that a healthy economy is a foundation of positive social, community, health, and other outcomes.

**Economic Development Policy 5.4.** Identify and confront barriers within the community of access to medical care.

**Economic Development Policy 5.5.** Expand access to affordable healthy food and the community's capacity to produce, process, and distribute local foods.

**Economic Development Policy 5.6.** Support food-oriented programs that will stimulate economic growth, such as agritourism, food-oriented businesses, manufacturers, and distributors.

**Economic Development Strategy 5.a.** Incentivize mixed-use developments, multifamily housing, and other strategies to ensure affordability in Kitsap County.

**Economic Development Strategy 5.b.** Support community gardens, school gardens, farm-to-school programs, farmers or public markets, and other small-scale collaborative initiatives.

**Economic Development Strategy 5.c.** Consider alternative food retail models including popups, mobile markets, and food trucks in collaboration with local businesses and the Kitsap Public Health District.

**Economic Development Strategy 5.d.** Support equitable and affordable access to medical care and health care support services.

**Economic Development Strategy 5.e.** Expand community and destination transit services particularly in and between urban activity centers.

#### **Economic Development Goal 6. Full and equal access**

*Provide opportunities for all people in Kitsap County to benefit equitably from economic development services, processes, and investments, regardless of identity, community, or socioeconomic circumstances.* 

**Economic Development Policy 6.1.** Foster a climate of equity, inclusivity, and belonging in economic development processes.

**Economic Development Policy 6.2.** Work towards ensuring all socioeconomic demographics have access to housing in Kitsap.

**Economic Development Policy 6.3.** Increase opportunities for public participation and community engagement regarding Kitsap County's economic development priorities.

**Economic Development Policy 6.4.** Analyze social equity impacts in local economic development strategic plans, policies, programs, and budgets.

**Economic Development Policy 6.5.** Support tailored economic development efforts and investments for historically marginalized communities including youth and seniors.

**Economic Development Strategy 6.a.** Meaningfully engage historically underrepresented populations in economic development processes.

**Economic Development Strategy 6.b.** Explore using an equity impact analyses to encourage and support a diverse representation in economic development discussions.

**Economic Development Strategy 6.c.** Develop partnerships with historically marginalized groups and communities to support the economic vitality of Kitsap County.

#### **Economic Development Goal 7. Tourism**

#### Support tourism development, strategies, and programs.

**Economic Development Policy 7.1.** Collaborate with tourism organizations, port districts, the private sector, entities providing visitor services, and user groups to enhance outcomes in the tourism sector.

**Economic Development Policy 7.2.** Support a wide variety of cultural, tourism, and active recreational programs within regional and neighborhood facilities.

**Economic Development Policy 7.3.** Encourage efforts to preserve scenic open space, historic and native lands, and local cultural resources that are attractive to both residents and visitors.

**Economic Development Policy 7.4.** Coordinate with cities and local tourism organizations on active participation in large regional sports and tourism events (e.g. FIFA World Cup, All-Star Games).

**Economic Development Strategy 7.a.** Identify and support current and potential visitor and event amenities and services.

**Economic Development Strategy 7.b.** Support development of ecotourism and agritourism, cultural attractions, and special events that capture and support tourism.

**Economic Development Strategy 7.c.** Promote public access to water bodies via the Kitsap Peninsula National Water Trails, the Maritime Washington National Heritage Area, and scenic drives through signage, maps, scenic pull-offs, and public information.

**Economic Development Strategy 7.d.** Strategically leverage Lodging Tax revenues as described by RCW 67.28.1816.



#### **Economic Development Goal 8. Department of Defense operations**

Accommodate growth in the defense industry including U.S. Naval operations and related supportive business.

**Economic Development Policy 8.1.** Coordinate with the Department of the Navy, government contractors, and associated stakeholders, as appropriate, to improve the economic development environment in Kitsap County.

**Economic Development Policy 8.2.** Prioritize growth and retention of Kitsap's defense industry.



**Economic Development Policy 8.3.** Increase opportunities for local business to obtain government contracts, as allowed by law.

**Economic Development Strategy 8.a.** Leverage anticipated U.S. Navy investment via the Shipyard Infrastructure Optimization Program, and the servicing of the Columbia-class submarines and Ford-class aircraft carriers at Naval Base Kitsap.

**Economic Development Strategy 8.b.** Support intergovernmental cooperative agreements promoting coordination and involvement in economic development activities that are of mutual interest.

#### **Economic Development Goal 9. Health care**

# Accommodate growth in health care access, services, and employment.

- **Economic Development Policy 9.1.** Acknowledge that Kitsap County has been designated as a Health Professional Shortage Area.
- **Economic Development Policy 9.2.** Accommodate growth in health care access, services, employment, and higher education opportunities.



**Economic Development Policy 9.3.** Coordinate with medical centers and health care providers in meeting workforce and facility needs.

**Economic Development Policy 9.4.** Prioritize medical services in urban areas near transit and support services.

**Economic Development Policy 9.5.** Expand options for health care access to support a local pipeline of healthcare professionals and provide more local educational opportunities to build an employment base for existing and future populations.

**Economic Development Strategy 9.a.** Invest in expansion of health care education and training including the Olympic College Allied Health Campus.

**Economic Development Strategy 9.b.** Invest in transportation infrastructure around existing facilities, particularly those with expansion opportunities in Regional Growth Centers.

**Economic Development Strategy 9.c.** Support student housing and childcare infrastructure to grow the Olympic College Allied Health Campus.

**Economic Development Strategy 9.d.** Partner with Olympic College in efforts to pursue state and federal grant opportunities to fund a new Olympic College Allied Health building on its campus.

#### REFERENCES

- 2024 Washington Statewide Defense Economic Impact Study
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics
- Zillow: Real Estate, Apartments, Mortgages & Home Values
- <u>Renter Cost Burden | Puget Sound Regional Council</u>
- <u>Kitsap County, Washington had 2nd highest wage growth among large U.S. counties Axios</u>
  <u>Seattle</u>
- Shipyard Infrastructure Optimization Program (SIOP) Overview
- Child Care Gaps Assessment





**GREAT BLUE HERON** 

# CHAPTER 3 Environment

## Chapter 3 / Environment Element

#### VISION

The County's vision for the environment is the protection of natural resources and systems through education, land use planning, and coordinated efforts that assure the forests, clean air, and water that Kitsap is known for are sustained for the benefit of current and future generations.

#### INTENT

The purpose of this element is to provide the goals, direction, and path for the future of sustaining natural environments in Kitsap County.

Kitsap County recognizes the importance of protecting the natural environment while providing for the needs of the growing number of residents and businesses that call this place home. Ecosystems such as forest lands, shorelines, freshwater systems, and other areas all make up the natural environment of Kitsap County. Human well-being depends on a healthy, natural environment to provide for clean air, clean water, food, and overall high quality of life. Tribal treaty rights are intrinsically linked to a healthy natural environment. The quality and abundance of Kitsap County's natural environments are well documented and are what define Kitsap County as the "natural side of Puget Sound."

Since the 2016 Comprehensive Plan update, and with a keen eye on planning for the future, Kitsap County has placed a higher priority on environmental sustainability in public policy. A community that embraces sustainability must continually improve the relationship between the developed and natural environments. This includes acknowledging the natural environment not only for its functions and values, but as an essential asset alongside other assets like roadways, buildings, and capital facilities. Like these other assets, the natural environment provides services and economic benefits that require planning, coordination, monitoring, and supportive fiscal policies and strategies.

#### GMA GOALS AND REGIONAL COORDINATION

The Growth Management Act (GMA) sets forth planning goals to guide the development of comprehensive plans. The following GMA planning goal directly addresses the environment: "Protect the environment and enhance the state's high quality of life, including air and water quality, and the availability of water."

In developing comprehensive plans to implement this planning goal, the GMA does not require that a comprehensive plan have an environment element. However, the Washington State Department of Commerce's guidelines for GMA implementation recommend that jurisdictions give "strong consideration" to including an element that addresses environmental protection, including protection of critical areas.



In addition to planning under GMA, Kitsap County plans in coordination with the other central Puget Sound region communities that make up the Puget Sound Regional Council. VISION 2050 is the most recent version of the region's plan to provide an exceptional quality of life, opportunity for all, connected communities, a spectacular natural environment, and an innovative, thriving economy. Like earlier versions of the plan, Vision 2050 continues to focus on environmental stewardship, protection of farms and forests, and improving air quality. Further, VISION 2050 incorporates new policies and actions intended to more strongly support the recovery of Puget Sound, conservation of the regional open space network, and access to open space.

#### **RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER ELEMENTS**

The goals, policies, and strategies in the Environment element are consistent with and may be implemented through the different elements of the Comprehensive Plan, including Land Use, Economic Development, Housing and Human Services, Transportation, Parks, Recreation, and Opens Space, Capital Facilities and Utilities, and Climate Change.

#### BACKGROUND

Kitsap County strives to acknowledge its environment as an asset. Adjacent to Puget Sound and Hood Canal, the County includes 216 miles of marine shorelines. The County is part of Water Resource Inventory Area (WRIA) 15 located within the usual and accustomed places for the Suquamish, Port Gamble S'Klallam, Skokomish, Squaxin Island, and Puyallup Tribes and includes 1,000 miles of streams, numerous wetlands, lakes, and estuaries. Kitsap County's landscape is varied, with large areas of forested land cover including second and third growth trees.



#### Figure 21. Water Resource Inventory Area 15 Map



Kitsap County protects the environment in many ways, including but not limited to the following:

- Kitsap County protects the natural environment in part through its adopted Critical Areas Ordinance (CAO), Shoreline Master Program (SMP), and Stormwater Ordinance. Key elements of the natural environment in the County are regulated as critical areas, including geologically hazardous areas, critical aquifer recharge areas, wetlands, frequently flooded areas, and fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas. These elements are defined, mapped, and regulated in the CAO. Under the GMA, the goals and policies of the SMP are considered an element of the County's Comprehensive Plan. In addition to adopted regulations, Kitsap County achieves measurable environmental results in protecting and restoring ecological functions and values, including ensuring adequate consideration of anadromous fisheries and recovery of endangered salmon stock.
- Kitsap County actively acquires lands for long-term open space and passive recreation including fish and wildlife habitat areas, wetlands, and shorelines. Kitsap has acquired over 4,000 acres of private timber land in the last 10 years; doubling its open space lands.
- In 2018, Kitsap County began working with the Washington Environmental Council, Port Gamble S'Klallam Tribe, and Suquamish Tribe to develop the natural asset management program. This new management program defines baseline levels of service or functional conditions of forest cover, streams, and shorelines and aims to develop goals or desired level of service for each asset. The desired levels of service will help guide investments and prioritization of actions to restore and protect natural systems. In addition, County staff continue to explore further implementation of the program into County planning.
- Kitsap County continues to participate in Lead Entities for Salmon Recovery efforts and Local Integrating Organizations for Puget Sound ecosystem recovery work through the West Sound Partners for Ecosystem Recovery and Hood Canal Coordinating Council.
- Kitsap County continues to carry out its programs under the "Water as a Resource" policy (Kitsap County Resolution 134-2016), which cooperatively addresses water as a resource, not a waste stream. Kitsap County acknowledges the Streamflow Restoration Act (RCW 90.94) and actively participated in the development of the draft WRIA 15 Watershed Restoration and Enhancement Plan that identifies actions that measure, protect, and enhance instream resources and improve watershed functions that support the recovery of threatened and endangered salmonids.
- Kitsap County's programs that affect and address public water supply also work to provide for protection of the quality and quantity of groundwater.
- Kitsap County works with area tribes, agencies, and other groups to protect important natural environments including those prioritized by tribal treaty rights.
- Kitsap County works with incorporated cities and neighboring counties to plan and implement actions that restore and protect the health of watersheds that cross boundaries.

A growing array of tools and strategies exist to help Kitsap County with sustainable development, as well as for environmental protection and restoration. Other tools, strategies, and practices are needed, especially related to integrating natural features into the built environments and to address the impacts of climate change.

#### **KEY TERMS**

**Asset management** - refers to treating the components of the public infrastructure system as assets within the public trust to be stewarded by the local government.

**Kitsap Natural Resource Asset Management Program** - (KNRAMP) is a new framework to manage natural assets (such as forests, streams, and shorelines) using the same asset management and capital improvements principles that municipalities use to manage built infrastructure. The Program provides a mechanism to incorporate nature-based solutions and green infrastructure practices into traditional infrastructure planning and uses ecosystem services principles to quantify the "level of service" (LOS) provided by natural resources, using the same terminology as public works for prioritizing investments in grey infrastructure.

**Levels of service** - measures of the condition and performance of the asset in relation to the expected service. The Kitsap Natural Resource Asset Management Program defines the levels of service provided by streams, forests, and marine shorelines. Methodologies used for calculating Level of Service are based on best available science, per RCW 36.70A.172, and may require revision over time as additional or improved data become available.

**Life-cycle cost analysis** – an analysis used to determine the total cost of a project or activity over its lifetime. It includes the cost of planning, design, construction or start-up, and the costs to operate, maintain, and eventually dissolve or dispose.

**Cost-benefit analysis** - considers costs as well as environmental, social, and public health outcomes of alternative approaches. It is a more complete basis for comprehensive decision making.

**Low Impact Development -** a stormwater and land-use management strategy that tries to mimic natural hydrologic conditions using practices such as bio-retention, rain gardens, permeable pavements, minimal excavation foundations, vegetated roofs, and rainwater harvesting.

**Best Available Science** - under the state <u>Growth Management Act</u> (GMA), local governments are required to use the best available science in their policies and regulations on critical areas. Best Available Science means current scientific information used in the process to designate, protect, or restore critical areas, that is derived from a valid scientific process as defined by the Washington Administrative Code.

**No Net Loss** - a standard that ensures new developments do not introduce new impacts that decrease ecological functions. If impacts do occur, projects must mitigate those impacts to demonstrate no net loss.



**Ecosystem Services** - the benefits that humans receive from nature. These benefits support almost all aspects of human well-being, including food, clean and plentiful water, clean air, recreation, climate stabilization, security, health, and economy.

### **ENVIRONMENT GOALS, POLICIES AND STRATEGIES**

#### **Environment Goal 1. Ecosystems and habitat**

Protect and enhance the health, resilience, functions, and processes of natural environments and ecosystems, including forest lands, shorelines, freshwater systems, and critical areas to ensure functioning ecosystem services and fish and wildlife habitat are sustained into the future.

**Environment Policy 1.1.** Manage development to protect habitats and ecological processes.

**Environment Policy 1.2.** Consider the functions and processes of the natural on



functions and processes of the natural environment in project planning and review.

**Environment Policy 1.3.** Protect and restore marine shorelines, riparian areas, wetlands, floodplains, and estuaries.

**Environment Policy 1.4.** Preserve and restore the functions of natural habitat to support ESA-listed species, state listed animal and plant species, and species of local importance.

**Environment Policy 1.5.** Accelerate implementation of habitat acquisition and restoration projects as prioritized in salmon and watershed recovery plans.

**Environment Policy 1.6.** Enhance urban tree canopy and promote benefits of urban forests as it relates to a healthy environment, climate change, stormwater, and community livability.

**Environment Strategy 1.a.** Direct population growth into walkable, transit-oriented urban growth areas (UGAs) with easy access to natural space.

**Environment Strategy 1.b.** Coordinate an improved development planning and review system that improves the ecological function and values of the natural environment while meeting Growth Management Act requirements for land use, capital facilities, housing, protection of critical areas, and economic development.

**Environment Strategy 1.c.** Provide incentive-based, non-regulatory programs for the protection of the natural environment such as acquisition of important habitats through feesimple and conservation easements from willing sellers.

**Environment Strategy 1.d.** Institutionalize the Shore Friendly Kitsap Program which provides technical assistance for residential property owners to motivate voluntary actions for healthy shorelines.



#### KITSAP COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

**Environment Strategy 1.e.** Establish sustained funding and seek additional funding opportunities to protect and restore natural systems.

**Environment Strategy 1.f.** Establish development standards and design guidelines that protect tree canopy in urban and rural areas.



#### Environment Strategy 1.g. Coordinate

ecosystem restoration strategies with tribal, federal, state, and local jurisdictions, countywide planning groups, and watershed groups in watersheds regulated and managed by the County.

**Environment Strategy 1.h.** Convene experts to strategize on prioritization, funding, and regulatory and non-regulatory incentives to acquiring, restoring, and managing public lands for conservation purposes.

**Environment Strategy 1.i.** Through the Conservation Futures Tax Program, support and incentivize the protection of high priority habitat and ecosystems, their functions, and the processes that form them.

**Environment Strategy 1.j.** Submit the required annual report to the Federal Emergency Management Agency regarding Kitsap County's status on review of projects for compliance with the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) Biological Opinion Puget Sound, as well as progress towards achieving programmatic compliance.

**Environment Strategy 1.k.** Develop and adopt a salmon and ecosystem recovery plan for Kitsap County that guides funding and implementation of restoration and protection projects and programs.

**Environment Strategy 1.I.** Convene experts to plan and develop strategies for promoting a thriving beaver population in Kitsap County. Strategies should encourage recolonization of beavers, reduce beaver-human conflicts by protecting and restoring suitable beaver habitat, relocating vulnerable infrastructure away from areas likely to be flooded by beaver activity, restricting removal and modification of beaver dams except in extreme circumstances, and providing public education about the benefits of beavers in recovering natural ecosystems.

**Environment Strategy 1.m.** Establish and implement a monitoring and evaluation program to determine the effectiveness of restoration, enhancement, and recovery strategies.

**Environment Strategy 1.n.** Work with tribal, public, and private sector partners to restore aquatic ecosystems and protect tribal treaty rights through the removal of fish passage and migration barriers.

Environment Strategy 1.o. Identify, protect, and enhance terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems

so that they maintain viable, reproducing populations of plants and animals including kelp and eelgrass.

#### **Environment Goal 2. Critical areas**

Designate and protect critical areas. Critical areas include wetlands, critical aquifer recharge areas, fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas, frequently flooded areas, and geologically hazardous areas.

**Environment Policy 2.1.** Use the best available science in developing policies and development regulations to protect the functions and values of critical areas, consistent with the criteria in WAC 365-195.

**Environment Policy 2.2.** Give special consideration to conservation or protection measures necessary to preserve or enhance anadromous fisheries.

**Environment Policy 2.3.** Provide development regulations that protect all functions and values of critical areas to ensure no net loss of ecological functions and values.

**Environment Policy 2.4**. When necessary to consider expanding an urban growth area, avoid including lands that contain mapped critical areas.

**Environment Policy 2.5.** When necessary to consider expanding an urban growth area, avoid including new areas within a 100-year flood plain unless no other alternatives exist.

**Environment Policy 2.6.** Prioritize protection of open space and habitat corridors where connection between critical areas may be included.

**Environment Strategy 2.a.** Designate critical areas by using the best available maps and continuously improve mapping, inventory, and baseline information.



## Best Available Science (BAS)

BAS means the current and best available information that follows a valid scientific process, including using peer review, standardized methods, and logical conclusions and reasonable inferences, among others. Common sources include research, monitoring, inventory, modeling, assessment, and synthesis.

Through the application of BAS, local jurisdictions need to consider measures necessary to preserve or enhance anadromous fisheries. **Anadromous fish** are fish that are born in freshwater, spend most of their lives in saltwater, and return to freshwater to spawn. These fish include Chinook, Chum, Coho, Pink, and Sockeye Salmon, Steelhead, and certain bull trout, among others.



**Environment Strategy 2.b.** Establish a monitoring and adaptive management program to ensure regulations are efficient and effective at protecting critical area functions and values.

**Environment Strategy 2.c.** Improve monitoring and tracking of projects that impact critical area buffers or provide enhancement and restoration to improve effectiveness and long-term success of mitigation.

**Environment Strategy 2.d.** Acknowledge the benefits of non-listed species to natural systems and explore designating Species of Local Importance in the Critical Areas Ordinance.

# Environment Goal 3: Protect aquifers and surface waters

Protect aquifers and surface waters to ensure that water quality and quantity are maintained or improved.

**Environment Policy 3.1.** Coordinate among all appropriate local, state, federal, and tribal agencies, and nongovernmental organizations County departments in the review and analysis of groundwater quality and quantity.



#### **Environment Goal 4. Natural resources as an asset**

Formally treat natural environments and ecosystems including forest lands, shorelines, freshwater systems, and critical areas as essential assets that are planned for, managed, and invested in to meet the needs of current and future generations.

**Environment Policy 4.1.** Recognize that a thriving and vibrant environment is a foundation of a strong and healthy community, tribal way of life, and other positive outcomes.

**Environment Policy 4.2.** County Departments and the Board of County Commissioners cooperatively plan for, invest in, track progress, and adaptively manage the natural environment as an essential asset in addition to standard preservation and conservation efforts.

**Environmental Policy 4.3.** Define natural assets, develop levels of service for each asset, and improve the inventory of assets and their condition through continuous mapping improvement and gathering of baseline information. Work with the community and decision makers to develop levels of service.

**Environment Policy 4.4.** Promote the most efficient and effective use of public financial resources for County projects and programs by expanding the standard framework for managing infrastructure to include natural assets.

**Environment Strategy 4.a.** Adopt and implement the Kitsap Natural Resource Asset Management Program as a mechanism to manage, plan for, and invest in Kitsap County's natural environment as an essential asset. Other mechanisms may include, but are not limited to, plans, ordinances, resolutions, or official policy directives.

**Environment Strategy 4.b.** Assess whether amendments are warranted to relevant codes or programs to ensure that the natural environment is being managed as an essential asset.

**Environment Strategy 4.c.** Develop mechanisms in addition to the Kitsap Natural Resource Asset Management Program to identify, document, and evaluate how the natural environment is assessed in land use, transportation, stormwater utility, parks, and other County plans.

**Environment Strategy 4.d.** Develop a monitoring program to systematically produce annual reports on the quantitative changes to natural environments based on land cover changes, development projects constructed, types and sizes of mitigation, or other appropriate metrics and the net result for natural resources essential asset management.

**Environment Strategy 4.e.** Develop a framework to determine economic value of ecosystem including methods to identify, describe, and evaluate the quantifiable services provided by natural environments.

**Environment Strategy 4.f.** Use project analysis methods including, but not limited to, lifecycle cost analysis, cost-benefit analysis, and equity analysis to ensure efficient and effective use of public funds for environmental projects and programs when practicable.

#### **Environment Goal 5. Collaboration and partnerships**

#### Coordinate natural environment management and recovery with internal and external partners.

**Environment Policy 5.1.** Collaborate across County programs and external agencies and organizations that supply data, analysis, and support for managing and restoring natural environments and resources.

**Environment Policy 5.2.** Provide regional leadership with cities, tribes, and County-wide programs to identify priority environmental issues that affect the Kitsap Peninsula.

**Environment Strategy 5.a.** Identify areas of joint interest among County programs, state agencies, tribes, conservation land trusts, state, and federal departments, including Department of Defense, which may facilitate partnerships in data sharing, funding, and stewardship for the environment.

**Environment Strategy 5.b.** Coordinate the County's goals and priorities on natural resources asset management planning with the Puget Sound Partnership, Puget Sound Regional Council, Kitsap



Regional Coordinating Council, the West Sound and Hood Canal Lead Entities for Salmon Recovery and Local Integrating Organizations, tribes, and other regional coordinating bodies as appropriate.

**Environment Strategy 5.c.** Work across jurisdictions to identify, protect, and restore networks of natural habitat areas and functions that cross political boundaries.

#### **Environment Goal 6. Use Best Practices**

#### Utilize best practices to protect people, property, and the natural environment.

**Environment Policy 6.1.** Use appropriate regulatory and incentive-based approaches in land use, transportation, and development engineering programs.

**Environment Policy 6.2.** Employ Best Management Practices to protect the long-term integrity of the natural environment, adjacent land uses, and the productivity of resource lands.

**Environment Policy 6.3.** Maintain and enhance long term quality and quantity of water resources.

**Environment Policy 6.4.** Reduce health impacts to vulnerable populations such as lowincome communities, Black, Indigenous, and communities of color, people with disabilities, seniors, and communities that are disproportionately affected by noise, air pollution, or other environmental hazards.



**Environment Strategy 6.a.** Explore opportunities for mitigation banks and participate in mitigation programs.

**Environment Strategy 6.b.** Utilize current and accurate maps and data available during the development review process and planning efforts.

**Environment Strategy 6.c.** Ensure staff and the development community are trained on the use of emerging best practices in the area of sustainable land use practices, including green building and site design, and create awareness of these preferred practices through the use of pilot programs, model ordinances, education, and incentives, while in balance with other Growth Management Act required elements.

**Environment Strategy 6.d.** Identify and protect critical aquifer recharge areas by utilizing Low Impact Development (LID) site planning principles to the greatest extent possible for reducing stormwater runoff and facilitating water quantity recharge.

**Environment Strategy 6.e.** Use stormwater Best Management Practices (BMPs) to improve water quality and quantity.

**Environment Strategy 6.f.** Develop and implement programs supporting the retrofit of surface and stormwater management infrastructure to more protective standards.

**Environment Strategy 6.g.** Coordinate watershed and land use planning to implement preservation and restoration of aquatic habitat and reduce impacts to natural systems.

**Environment Strategy 6.h.** Provide public resources to identify parcels likely to be flooded and consider supporting relocation of structures away from such areas.

#### **Environment Goal 7. Outreach and Education**

The public is informed about opportunities for stewardship and engaged in dialogue regarding the management and protection of the natural environment.

**Environment Policy 7.1.** Educate County residents and businesses about the function and benefits of a healthy ecosystem.

**Environment Policy 7.2.** Recognize the vital connection between protection of the County's rural character, essential environmental assets, environmental benefits, and economic opportunities.

**Environment Policy 7.3.** Increase opportunities for public participation and community engagement regarding Kitsap County's environmental protections.

**Environment Strategy 7.a.** Support and incentivize voluntary stream, wetland, riparian, and shoreline restoration and preservation efforts.

**Environment Strategy 7.b.** Develop and implement education, outreach, and incentive programs to improve regulatory compliance.

#### REFERENCES

<u>Shoreline Master Program</u> <u>Critical Areas Ordinance</u> <u>Water as a Resource</u> <u>Kitsap Natural Resource Asset Management</u> <u>Kitsap County Climate Change</u>





SILVERDALE, WA

# CHAPTER 4 Housing
## Chapter 4 / Housing Element

#### VISION

The County encourages and supports a diverse and integrated mix of housing that includes housing for all ages, family types, abilities and limitations, household sizes, backgrounds, cultures, and incomes. This approach helps to build strong community connections and promotes a healthy lifestyle where residents are able to walk, bike, or roll to community destinations and comfortably and safely shop, work, and interact with neighbors and friends. Residential communities are attractive, affordable, diverse, and livable, supported by appropriate urban or rural services. A variety of housing choices are available, meeting a full range of resident income levels and preferences.

#### INTENT

The County recognizes that housing is a fundamental need. The County is responsible for providing policy direction that facilitates housing for residents in all economic segments. The goals and policies of this element set the stage for development regulations that allow for and encourage different types of housing affordable to all population segments, avoid concentrating housing in environmentally sensitive areas, and guide intergovernmental coordination that makes the most efficient use of resources to provide housing, while reducing or eliminating housing barriers.

#### GROWTH MANAGEMENT ACT AND REGIONAL COORDINATION

The Washington State Growth Management Act is the framework for all land use planning in the state and lays out the requirements for comprehensive plans and development regulations that implement the plans. Housing is a required element and must include:

- Inventory of housing needs;
- Provisions for the preservation, improvement, and development of housing, including moderate density housing forms in Urban Growth Areas;
- Capacity of land available for housing;
- Provisions for housing of all economic segments;
- Documentation of actions needed to achieve housing availability;
- Consideration of housing located near employment;
- Consideration of accessory dwelling units;
- Identification of racially disparate impacts, displacement, and exclusion from housing and policies to address and undo the same;
- Consideration of buildable lands report and reasonable measures.



As with the Comprehensive Plan as a whole, Housing goals and policies must reflect the requirements of the Growth Management Act as outlined above, be consistent with Puget Sound Regional Council's (PSRC) VISION 2050 plan and its Multicounty Planning Policies (MPPs), and conform to the Countywide Planning Policies (CPPs) adopted by the Kitsap Regional Coordinating Council (KRCC). This includes all the Kitsap County jurisdictions adopting the allocation of housing units as prescribed by the Washington State Department of Commerce.

#### **RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER ELEMENTS**

Housing goals and policies in this Comprehensive Plan form an integral basis for the other comprehensive plan elements including Economic Development, Environment, Housing, Transportation, Parks, Recreation, and Open Space, Capital Facilities and Utilities, and Climate Change. Specifically impacted are locations of housing relative to employment, recreation, education, and transit.

The Housing Element is tied to the County's land capacity evaluation. Residential land uses are analyzed to ensure there is sufficient land at a variety of densities to accommodate housing needs at all income levels, including special needs housing and permanent supportive housing.

The Housing Element and the Silverdale Regional Center subarea plan are especially intertwined. The Silverdale Regional Center is anticipated to accommodate a significant proportion of the County's population and employment growth. At the same time, it is already home to a large proportion of existing urban-density housing in the unincorporated County. Silverdale is also anticipated to incorporate as a city later in the planning period. Accordingly, the subarea plan for the regional center builds on the Housing Element with additional policies and strategies to emphasize the built environment, including housing, needed to accommodate the employment and housing growth expected in Silverdale.

#### BACKGROUND

Kitsap County has had stable population growth over the past two decades. Much of the growth is driven by the County's location in the Central Puget Sound and its relative proximity to jobs in King, Pierce, and Snohomish Counties, as well as Naval Base Kitsap. This said, Kitsap County has also increased its job base over the past two decades as well.









Figure 23.Year-over-year percent change in population, 1990-2022

Source: U.S. Census Bureau and Washington State Office of Financial Management, analysis by ECO Northwest

Kitsap County's housing stock continues to be primarily single-family detached housing with concentrations of multi-family housing in Bremerton, Port Orchard, and unincorporated urban growth areas, especially Silverdale.



Figure 24. Housing units in cities and the unincorporated county, 2023

Detached housing units Attached housing units Mobile homes and special housing units

Source: Office of Financial Management (OFM) postcensal estimates of housing units, 2021-2023

Kitsap County is projected to gain an additional 70,747 residents between 2020 and 2044, for a total estimated population of approximately 346,358 persons. This implies a need for approximately 32,950

new housing units by 2044 across all jurisdictions (inclusive of cities, unincorporated areas, and rural areas). The County must align with new Washington State requirements through amendments to the GMA and Puget Sound Regional Council's (PSRC) VISION 2050 regarding housing choices and affordability to ensure homes are available for all income levels.

Specifically, the GMA was amended to require that fully planning counties and cities "plan for and accommodate" housing that is affordable to all economic segments of the population. They must also provide an inventory and analysis of existing and projected housing needs that identifies the number of housing units needed to accommodate projected growth, including units for moderate (81-120% AMI), low (51-80% AMI), and very low/extremely low-income (0-50% AMI) households as well as special housing types like emergency housing, emergency shelters, and permanent supportive housing. The Department of Commerce developed guidance and draft methodology for calculating how much housing in each income bracket a community must plan for and how it can demonstrate capacity for these allocations. Kitsap County adopted into its Countywide Planning Policies a set of housing allocations through 2044 to meet these new state requirements. Table 9, below, shows the permanent and emergency housing needs by jurisdiction within Kitsap County by 2044. Kitsap County must plan for and accommodate 14,498 permanent housing units from 2020 through 2044, plus 612 emergency housing beds for persons experiencing homelessness.

	Permanent Housing Needs by Income Level (% of Area Median Income)										
			0 – 30%							Emergency	
		Total	Non- PSH*	PSH	>30- 50%	>50- 80%	>80- 100%	>100- 120%	>120%	Housing** Needs (Temporary)	
Unincorporated Kitsap County	Estimated Housing Supply (2020)	69,987	1,802	8	7,335	21,046	13,531	7,815	18,450	153	
	Allocation (2020- 2044)	14,498	2,768	1,214	2,376	1,996	1,028	1,012	4,103	612	



			Permanent Housing Needs by Income Level (% of Area Median Income)								
			0 – 30	%		Emergency					
		Total	Non- PSH*	PSH	>30- 50%	>50- 80%	>80- 100%	>100- 120%	>120%	Housing** Needs (Temporary)	
Bainbridge	Estimated Housing Supply (2020)	11,251	331	0	331	788	1,150	2,073	6,578	0	
Island city	Allocation (2020- 2044)	1,977	377	166	324	272	140	138	560	83	
Bremerton city	Estimated Housing Supply (2020)	18,351	1,346	106	3,030	8,960	2,496	879	1,534	316	
	Allocation (2020- 2044)	9,556	1,824	800	1,566	1,316	678	667	2,705	403	
Port Orchard city	Estimated Housing Supply (2020)	6,209	288	0	619	2,051	1,246	717	1,288	11	
city	Allocation (2020- 2044)	4,943	944	414	810	680	351	345	1,399	209	
Poulsbo city	Estimated Housing Supply (2020)	5,116	356	0	422	1,062	915	594	1,767	1	

			Permanent Housing Needs by Income Level (% of Area Median Income)							
				0 – 30%						Emergency Housing**
		Total	Non- PSH*	PSH	>30- 50%	>50- 80%	>80- 100%	>100- 120%	>120%	Needs (Temporary)
	Allocation (2020- 2044)	1,977	377	166	324	272	140	138	560	83

Source: HAPT Tool, Washington State Department of Commerce

Table 10, below, shows the permanent and emergency housing capacity by income range and housing type, based on zoning code, within Kitsap County by 2044. Kitsap County's housing capacity in the Preferred Alternative for income range of 0-80% AMI is 7,175 housing units (8,354 housing units needed), for income range of 81%-120% AMI is 1,874 housing units (2,040 housing units needed), and for income range greater than 120% AMI is 4,179 housing units (8,179 housing units needed). The emergency housing beds capacity is sufficient to meet the need of 612 housing beds for persons experiencing homelessness based on Kitsap County Code parcels that are vacant or underutilized with a permitted "Group Living" use. See Appendix A for methodology and calculation details.



Income Range	Housing Need 2044	Housing Type Accommodating	Zones Focused	Alt 1 Capacity	Alt 2 Capacity	Alt 3 Capacity	Preferred Alternative Capacity
			RC, C, UVC, NC,				
0-30%	2,768	Multi-Family	UH, UM	-			
0-30% PSH	1,214	Multi-Family	RC, C, UVC, NC, UH, UM				
31%-50%	2,376	Multi-Family	RC, C, UVC, NC, UH, UM				
		Multi-Family, Single- Family - Attached,	RC, C, UVC, NC, UH, UM, UCR,	-			
51%-80%	1,996	Cottage Housing	UL, UR, GB				
Sub-Total	8,354			2,046	7,962	3,717	7,175
		Single Family -					
81%-100%	1,028	Detached	UCR, UL, UR, GB				
		Single Family -					
101%-120%	1,012	Detached	UCR, UL, UR, GB				
Sub-Total	2,040			1,148	2,108	1,979	1,874
		Single Family -					
>120%	4,103	Detached	UCR, UL, UR, GB				
Sub-Total	4,103			6,398	5,140	6,981	4,179
Total	14,497			9,592	15,210	12,677	13,228
Emergency							
Housing	612	Facility	RC, C, UVC, NC, I				Sufficient Capacity

Table 10. Capacity versus housing allocation by income bracket, unincorporated Kitsap County

Source: Land Capacity Analysis, Kitsap County

Kitsap County has completed a technical analysis of housing gaps compared to income-based housing allocations in unincorporated Kitsap County.

The Preferred Alternative provides somewhat less housing than Alternative 2 due to fewer UGA expansions and the incorporation of the revisions to the Critical Areas Ordinance and tree canopy requirements, but significantly more than current conditions (Alternative 1) and relatively close to the housing need by zoning category. Table 11 below shows the performance of the Preferred Alternative relative to housing needs. For more details, see Appendix A: Housing Element Technical Analysis.

Income Level (% AMI)	Projected Housing Need	Zone Categories Serving These Needs	Aggregated Housing Needs <sup>1</sup>	Total Capacity	Capacity Surplus (Deficit)
0-30% PSH 0-30% Non- PSH 31-50% 51-80%	1,214 2,768 2,376 1,996	Low-Rise Multifamily, Mid-Rise Multifamily, ADUs	7,747 (non- pipeline) + 607 (pipeline) = 8,354	6,187 (non- pipeline) + 607 (pipeline) + 381 ADU = 7,175	(1,179)
81-100% 101-120%	1,028 1,012	Moderate Density	2,040	1.874	(166)
>120%	4,103	Low Density	2,342 (non- pipeline) + 1,761 (pipeline) = 4,103	2,418 (non- pipeline) + 1,761 (pipeline) = 4,179	76
Total	14,497		12,129 (non- pipeline) + 2,368 (pipeline) = 14,497	13,228 (including 2,368 pipeline units and 381 ADUs)	(1,269)

 Table 11. Preferred Alternative Capacity Relative to Projected Housing Need

Source: Facet 2024, incorporated into this plan as Appendix A

Statistics from the U.S. Census Bureau and other sources comparing household characteristics and housing stock between 2000 and 2020 show that a majority of Kitsap County residents are homeowners, although the proportion that rent their unit has grown slowly from 33 percent to 37 percent. The price of owning a home has risen much faster than household incomes, leading to cost burden and a lack of suitable housing for many households. Acknowledging that residents have a wide range of housing needs, with size, transit access, price, and other factors playing a role, housing for first time homebuyers is declining in Kitsap County. The County has a large percentage of renters and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pipeline projects added in separately based on unit type.



homeowners earning less than the County median and paying more than 30 percent of their income for housing, meeting the definition of cost-burdened households.

Median Household Income (2020 Dollars)	2000	2010	2020	Percent Change, 2000–2020
Kingston	\$61,028	\$62,579	\$77,008	26.2%
Silverdale	\$71,362	\$72,044	\$81,458	14.1%
Kitsap County	\$70,399	\$70,679	\$78,969	12.2%
Washington	\$68,800	\$67,943	\$77,006	11.9%

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 Decennial Census (Summary File 3 – Table HCT012) and ACS 5-year data, 2006-10 and 2016-20. Dollar amounts for 2000 and 2010 adjusted for inflation using Bureau of Labor Statistics' Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers and All Items (annual, not seasonally adjusted). Analysis by ECO Northwest.



#### Figure 25. Household Tenure in Occupied Units, Kitsap County, 2000-2020

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 Decennial Census (Summary File 2 – Table DP1) and ACS 5-year data, 2006-10 and 2016-20 estimates (Table DP04). Analysis by ECO Northwest.



Figure 26. Share of cost burden by tenure in occupied units, Kitsap County, 2000 to 2020

Housing instability and homelessness affect many people in Kitsap County. This has a detrimental effect on families, individuals, and the community as a whole. While market forces will provide a mix of housing types and styles that meet the housing needs of a portion of the population and the market will encourage the redevelopment of some housing under the current regulatory environment, housing across the spectrum of ownership, type, and affordability is needed throughout the county.

Many Kitsap County residents encounter housing access and affordability challenges, which have a negative impact on their ability to gain or establish wealth. These issues have grown since the Great Recession and accelerated by the COVID pandemic. They have a disproportionate impact on lower-income renters, communities of color, and other vulnerable groups. Additionally, data show that younger and middle-aged households in Kitsap County are struggling to obtain homeownership at the same rates as more senior households.

Figure 27, below, identifies displacement risk in Kitsap County. The areas around Bremerton and Port Orchard are categorized by PSRC's displacement risk index as having moderate risk of displacement, while the rest of the County has a lower risk.



Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 Decennial Census (Summary File X – Tables H069 and H090) and ACS 5-year data, 2006-10 and 2016-20 estimates (Tables B25070 and B25091)



#### Figure 27. PSRC Displacement Risk Map for Kitsap County

#### Source: PSRC

Renters, and renters of color in particular, are at greater risk of displacement. As Kitsap County's population grows and its UGAs become denser and more urban, policies to prevent displacement are required to give residents in communities facing displacement the option to remain and thrive in their communities and avail themselves of new amenities and services.

Adequate Provisions Documentation, located in Appendix A: Housing Element Technical Analysis, includes Table 7.1: Housing units needed to manage both current and projected housing needs, broken down by income bracket; Table 7.2.1 demonstrates how the County makes adequate provisions to accommodate all housing needs; and Tables 7.3.1-7.3.4 assesses barriers to Moderate Density housing, Low-Rise or Mid-Rise housing, Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) and emergency housing; and Accessory Dwelling Unit housing; and Table 7.4 assesses local option tools for addressing affordable housing funding gaps.

Section 5 in Appendix B: Housing Availability and Affordability Analysis includes the "Analysis of Racially Disparate Impacts" analyzed of homeownership rates, rates of cost burden, rates of

overcrowded housing, and household median income for different races/ethnicities to help identify possible disparities.

"Comprehensive Plan Land Use and Housing Elements Policy Review, "located in Appendix C: Racially Disparate Impacts, evaluated the Land Use and Housing elements of the Comprehensive Plan and the racially disparate impact connection – comparing the 2016 Comprehensive Plan and the draft updated Comprehensive Plan.

More recently, the COVID-19 pandemic and its effect on the economy, including a brief but deep recession and subsequent inflation and other housing market distortions, compounded the housing crisis. Governmental social support programs assisted renters through financial assistance services and eviction moratoria in the initial years of the pandemic. With the subsequent end to these programs, low-income renters may be challenged to meet escalating housing costs. Reducing housing cost burden disparities that affect renters so disproportionately could involve reforms to tenant-landlord relationships as well as code and program reforms that aim to increase the number of specific types of units available.

According to the Kitsap County Division of Aging and Long Term Care (DALTC) Area Plan 2024-2027 (Area Plan), in 2010, 7.8% of Kitsap residents were ages 50-54 which represented the largest age group in the County. In 2020, the largest age group is 60-64 making up 7.5% of the population. The Area Plan reflects community needs and highlights goals for developing age friendly, dementia-friendly communities while preparing for an increase in the aging population.

#### AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAMS

Kitsap County partners with a variety of developers and housing providers (e.g. Bremerton Housing Authority, Housing Kitsap, non-profits) to build and operate below market rate housing that serves households below 80 percent of area median income. Kitsap County is served by two housing authorities (Housing Kitsap and the Bremerton Housing Authority) and several other non-profit organizations that own and operate rental housing, offer homeownership programs, and/or provide supportive housing and shelters.

The County has several funding streams used to address affordable housing and homelessness, including:

- Federal Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and Home Investment Partnership (HOME) funds from the US Dept. of Housing and Urban Development. Funds are guided by priorities in the 5-year Consolidated Plan. The County receives approximately \$1,000,000 in CDBG funds annually and approximately \$750,000 in HOME funds annually. The City of Bremerton also receives an annual CDBG allocation from HUD directly.
- Homeless Housing Grant Program (HHGP) funds, Affordable Housing Grant Program (AHGP) and Consolidated Homeless Grant (CHG) funds. These funds are generated by document recording fees as required by RCW 36.22.250, currently set at \$183 per eligible recorded document. The Kitsap Crisis Response and Housing Plan guides the priorities for these funds.



• Community Investments in Affordable Housing (CIAH) funds. These funds are generated by a sales and use tax credit against the state's share of the sales and use tax. This funding is provided by the state legislature through RCW 82.14.540 and RCW 82.14.530. The County receives a combined sales and use tax credit of 0.1146 percent on all items and services subject to the sales and use tax within unincorporated Kitsap County and all municipalities that do not levy this tax. The County generates approximately \$5,500,000 annually in CIAH funds. Municipalities that do levy this tax but do not have a qualifying local tax receive a credit of 0.0073 percent. Poulsbo and Bainbridge Island are the two municipalities in Kitsap County that levy both sales and use taxes.

According to the City of Bremerton and Kitsap County Affordable Housing Recommendations Report (ECO Northwest, March 2020), additional revenue sources the County could consider to fund affordable housing and homelessness include:

- Revolving Loan Fund. A revolving loan fund is a pool of money from which loans are issued to eligible recipients for specific uses. In the case of affordable housing revolving loan funds, the funds have lower interest rates and more generous terms compared to market loans. When the loans are repaid, new loans can be issued. A revolving loan fund can be used to fill funding gaps in a development deal for affordable housing. Funds are generally short term (1-2 years for predevelopment loans, 3-5 years for construction loans). The sources of the funds include public funders, philanthropic funders, banks, and other institutions. The funders understand they will have lower rates of return compared to other investment funds in exchange for positive social impact.
- Real Estate Investment Trust. A REIT is a financing vehicle that are stand-alone companies or investment entities that own and usually operate income-producing real estate. They generate stable, moderately low-risk real estate investments for private equity. REITs have a dual focus on generating competitive (albeit below market rate) quarterly returns and preserving moderately affordable housing. REITs cannot invest in properties offering units affordable to low- and very-low-income households (below 50 percent), because the properties must be able to generate income.

Those who access affordable housing assistance often need access to other types of services. The County strives to provide essential human services accessible to all who need them. These services address individual and community needs, preserve the rights and dignity of the recipients of those services, promote the health and well-being of all residents, and prevent marginalization and homelessness. Services are provided directly by the County Department of Human Services, contractors to the County, and a network of programs throughout the area. They assist many of the community's most vulnerable populations including low-income seniors, persons with disabilities, Veterans, people with substance use disorder, underserved youth, and people with behavioral health issues. This holistic approach helps provide better long-term outcomes for people in need. Human Services is reflected in the Housing Element as a sub-section addressing these issues. For more information and analysis, please see Appendix B: Housing Availability and Affordability Analysis.

#### **KEY TERMS**

**Accessory Dwelling Units** - a dwelling unit located on the same lot as a single-family housing unit, duplex, triplex, townhome, or other housing unit.

**Age-Friendly communities** - support the needs of older adults and provide a safe, healthy and, productive environment and, according to the World Health Organization, can include community and care; transportation; housing; social participation; outdoor spaces and buildings; respect and social inclusion; civic participation and employment; and communication and information.

**Area median income (AMI)** - the midpoint of a specific area's income distribution and is calculated on an annual basis by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). HUD uses the term median family income (MFI) based on different household sizes in setting affordability limits for vouchers and subsidies.

**Cottage housing** - residential units on a lot with a common open space that either is owned in common, or has units owned as condominium units with property in common and a minimum of 20 percent of the lot size as open space.

**Courtyard apartments** - up to four attached dwelling units arranged on two or three sides of a yard or court.

**Duplex** - a multifamily home that sits on a single plot of land with two units separated by a wall or floor. This means duplex units can be either side by side or stacked.

**Emergency housing** - temporary indoor accommodations for individuals or families who are unhoused or at imminent risk of becoming unhoused that is intended to address the basic health, food, clothing, and personal hygiene needs of individuals or families. Emergency housing may or may not require occupants to enter into a lease or an occupancy agreement.

**Emergency shelter** - a facility that provides a temporary shelter for individuals or families who are currently unhoused. Emergency shelter may not require occupants to enter into a lease or occupancy agreement. Emergency shelter facilities may include day and warming shelters that do not provide overnight accommodations.

**Extremely low-income household** - a single person, family, or unrelated persons living together whose adjusted income is at or below thirty percent of the median household income adjusted for household size, for the county where the household is located, as reported by HUD.

**Low-income household** - a single person, family, or unrelated persons living together whose adjusted income is at or below eighty percent of the median household income adjusted for household size, for the county where the household is located, as reported by HUD.

**Low-rise residential or apartments** - buildings that are three stories or less. They are commonly served by stair access. They are also frequently referred to as walk-up apartments or garden apartments.



**Median Family Income (MFI)** - the point that divides an income distribution (in this case incomes for family households) in half, with half the values in the sample or population above the median and the other half above the median. The median is based on the income distributions of all households, including those with no income.

**Middle housing** - buildings that are compatible in scale, form, and character with single-family houses and contain two or more attached, stacked, or clustered homes duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes, fiveplexes, sixplexes, townhouses, stacked flats, courtyard apartments, and cottage housing.

**Mid-rise residential or apartments** - are buildings that are between four to eight stories and served by elevator access. They generally feature some form of structured parking (above and/or below grade).

**Moderate-income household** – a single person, family, or unrelated persons living together whose adjusted income is at or below 120 percent of the median household income adjusted for household size, for the county where the household is located, as reported by HUD.

Multi-Family Housing - Any housing that contains two or more units attached.

**Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH)** - means subsidized, leased housing with no limit on length of stay that prioritizes people who need comprehensive support services to retain tenancy and utilizes admissions practices designed to use lower barriers to entry than would be typical for other subsidized or unsubsidized rental housing, especially related to rental history, criminal history, and personal behaviors. Permanent supportive housing is paired with on-site or off-site voluntary services designed to support a person living with a complex and disabling behavioral health or physical health condition who was experiencing homelessness or was at imminent risk of homelessness prior to moving into housing..

**Townhouses (townhomes)** - means buildings that contain three or more attached single-family dwelling units that extend from foundation to roof and that have a yard or public way on not less than two sides.

**U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD)** - means the cabinet-level governmental agency in the federal government responsible for, among other things, community development block grant funds and housing vouchers and subsidies.

**Very low-income household** - means a single person, family, or unrelated persons living together whose adjusted income is at or below fifty percent of the median household income adjusted for household size, for the county where the household is located, as reported by HUD.

**Zero lot line subdivision** - also referred to as townhome subdivision or unit lot subdivision. This refers to a land segregation whereby the lot can be as small as the unit itself, but unlike a condominium, the owner of the zero lot line unit owns the land as well as the improvements. Zero lot line refers to the fact that the lot line separating two attached units runs down a wall separating them, making the side setback from the lot line zero feet.

## HOUSING GOALS, POLICIES, AND STRATEGIES

#### Housing Goal 1. Accessible and resilient housing

Promote the preservation, rehabilitation, and development of housing that contributes to healthy and accessible built environments.

**Housing Policy 1.1.** Promote housing preservation and development in areas that are already near jobs and well-served by utilities, schools, public transportation and multi-modal options, green spaces, commercial facilities, and have adequate infrastructure to support alternative modes of transportation.

**Housing Policy 1.2.** Support programs and regulations that encourage the rehabilitation of



housing deemed inadequate due to conditions posing a risk to human health and safety.

**Housing Policy 1.3.** Ensure sufficient capacity of land is available to accommodate new construction and redevelopment for housing growth targets as established in this Comprehensive Plan.

**Housing Policy 1.4.** Coordinate with tribes, cities, agencies, and community organizations, especially cultural groups, on strategies to mitigate the impacts of displacement in the preservation, rehabilitation, and development process. This includes displacement of residents, or displacement of commercial uses vital to low-income households.

**Housing Policy 1.5.** Support programs and resources that reduce energy use and increase climate resiliency in housing preservation, rehabilitation, and development, especially for communities historically marginalized and underserved.

**Housing Strategy 1.a.** Support community-based organizations in their efforts to fund weatherization and improvements to substandard housing units.

**Housing Strategy 1.b.** Ensure that newly planned housing is served by public services and utilities that meet level of service standards by promoting upgrades when necessary.

**Housing Strategy 1.c.** Coordinate with Kitsap Transit to expand transit service aligned with housing diversity goals.

**Housing Strategy 1.d.** Explore the development of a rental inspection program or expand building code enforcement to find and correct substandard living conditions.

**Housing Strategy 1.e.** Explore the adoption of a historic preservation ordinance and become a Certified Local Government in order to provide access to tax benefits for rehabilitated historic residential properties.



**Housing Strategy 1.f.** Adopt a requirement that applicants for development that dislocates or displaces existing residents or vital low-income community resources must create relocation plans to mitigate displacement.

**Housing Strategy 1.g.** Coordinate with municipalities and providers of subsidized and/or income-restricted housing to develop consistent programs that offer displaced residents rights of first refusal for available units affordable to those residents across the County when redevelopment displaces affordable units.

#### Housing Goal 2. Economically available housing

Ensure that a broad range of housing types are available across all economic segments of the community and demographic groups from both private and public development.

**Housing Policy 2.1.** Support regulatory updates to allow a wide range of housing types in urban areas.

**Housing Policy 2.2.** Coordinate the review and evaluation of regulations, programs, and community resources with tribes, agencies, and jurisdictions to offer a variety of housing types across income levels.

**Housing Policy 2.3.** Evaluate that available housing types align with the needs of residents across income levels and demographic groups.

**Housing Strategy 2.a.** Review and revise as necessary dimensional standards, use standards, and design standards to allow for a wide variety of housing types.

**Housing Strategy 2.b.** Develop incentive programs to increase housing in the 30-80% AMI range, such as voluntary inclusionary zoning, Multi-Family Tax Exemption, or improved permit review.

**Housing Strategy 2.c.** Evaluate support of a program to match homeowners with roommaterenters.

**Housing Strategy 2.d.** Evaluate existing development regulations and consider modifications to allow for boarding houses, Single Room Occupancy buildings, and micro-units. This would include definitions, modifications to use tables, and dimensional regulations. Additionally, examine how applications of the relevant building codes may affect the viability of these housing types.

**Housing Strategy 2.e.** Use the Land Capacity Analysis to ensure zoned capacity is available for middle housing types in unincorporated urban growth areas where housing growth is anticipated. Specific tools may include lifting density minimums or maximums or establishing density bonuses when middle housing types are proposed.

#### Housing Goal 3. Affordable housing

#### Increase the supply of affordable housing units through both private and public development.

**Housing Policy 3.1.** Develop regulatory strategies to incentivize and provide flexibility for the development of affordable and supportive housing, especially housing that is affordable to households making less than 80 percent of the Area Median Income.

**Housing Policy 3.2.** Pursue new and existing funding opportunities and sources to support the development of additional affordable housing.

**Housing Policy 3.3.** Mitigate documented displacement impacts occurring as part of the affordable housing development process.

**Housing Strategy 3.a.** Explore available or surplus County properties for affordable housing wherever possible and appropriate.

**Housing Strategy 3.b.** Pursue tools to improve and streamline permit review processes, including efforts to reduce permitting timelines, bolster staff capacity for permit and application review, and other improvements to processes related to regulatory predictability.



#### Housing Goal 4. Preservation of affordable housing inventory

#### Preserve the existing stock of affordable housing units in the County.

**Housing Policy 4.1.** Support the preservation of existing subsidized housing units with expiring or expired affordability restrictions that are at risk of being converted to market-rate housing to limit displacement.

**Housing Policy 4.2.** Coordinate the creation and maintenance of funding opportunities for repairs and upgrades to existing subsidized housing units, especially in areas where subsidized housing units are occupied by historically marginalized populations.

**Housing Strategy 4.a.** Evaluate regulations to limit displacement of residents of existing manufactured home parks if sold or redeveloped (e.g. requiring owners of manufactured home parks to offer the property for sale to the residents as a cooperative prior to being offered for sale on the open market).

**Housing Strategy 4.b.** In projects requiring an affordable housing component as a condition of approval, longer term for affordability should be promoted e.g., 30 years or more.

Housing Strategy 4.c. Support the establishment of a housing-focused community land trust.



#### Housing Goal 5. Integrated planning of affordable housing

# Integrate affordable housing planning with transportation, workforce development, emergency management, and economic development efforts.

**Housing Policy 5.1.** Improve consistency between Kitsap County policies and other planning efforts and documents, including the Consolidated Plan, the Kitsap Homeless Housing Plan, Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan, the Area Plan on Aging, and others.

**Housing Policy 5.2.** Cooperate with other jurisdictions and entities to support their efforts to plan for and develop housing, limiting and mitigating displacement in the process.

**Housing Strategy 5.a.** Conduct regular review and evaluation of County policies, code, and strategic plans to ensure coordination and consistency between planning efforts.

**Housing Strategy 5.b.** Coordinate with housing authorities and other city and nonprofit agencies to ensure land and services are available countywide for planned affordable housing development.

**Housing Strategy 5.c.** Track affordable housing development as part of the 5-year review for the Comprehensive Plan to ensure that workforce and economic development efforts and transportation investments are appropriately serving affordable housing developments.

#### Housing Goal 6. Equitable access to housing

# Ensure equitable access to housing, prioritizing efforts to remove disparities in housing access for historically marginalized communities and households that experience disproportionate access barriers.

**Housing Policy 6.1.** Promote fair housing to ensure that all residents of Kitsap County have an equal and fair opportunity to obtain safe and healthy housing suitable to their needs and financial resources, regardless of race, religion, gender, sexual orientation, age, national origin, family status, income, disability, or other protected class.

**Housing Policy 6.2.** Coordinate with tribes, jurisdictions, agencies, the building industry, and community partners to identify and remove local regulatory barriers that limit the provision of a diverse supply of housing units affordable to low-, very low-, and extremely low-income households, especially for populations historically affected by systematic inequities.

**Housing Policy 6.3.** Encourage affordable housing opportunities to be distributed throughout the County, prioritizing opportunities in historically marginalized communities and areas with a concentration of households making less than 80 percent of the Area Median Income.

**Housing Policy 6.4.** Increase public awareness of affordable housing opportunities throughout the County, especially for communities facing disproportionate barriers in obtaining information on such opportunities.

**Housing Strategy 6.a.** Work with Kitsap Transit to ensure that affordable and supported housing is developed with transit access.

**Housing Strategy 6.b.** Partner with local tribes, agencies, departments, community organizations, and educational institutions to:

- share and promote public resources for affordable housing opportunities throughout the County.
- produce a report identifying how systematic inequities created, and have maintained, barriers to housing for historically marginalized communities in Kitsap County.
- review and propose amendments to County policies and programs that have maintained barriers to housing for historically marginalized communities in Kitsap County

Housing Strategy 6.c. Update the Fair Housing Plan to improve housing accessibility.

#### Housing Goal 7. Mitigation of risk of displacement

*Ensure equitable treatment for residents currently housed by mitigating harmful practices that may put households at risk of displacement.* 

**Housing Policy 7.1.** Collaborate with community organizations and agencies to review and assess the development of tenant protections for residents, especially for those with an increased risk of displacement.

**Housing Policy 7.2.** Review land surplus and disposal policies, especially for scenarios impacting historically marginalized households.

**Housing Strategy 7.a.** Coordinate with tribes, local agencies, organizations representing historically marginalized communities, developers, landlords, and additional partners in the review process of anti-displacement policies to ensure policies limit displacement from the area.

**Housing Strategy 7.b** Monitor known areas of displacement risk using Puget Sound Regional Council's Displacement Risk Map and integrate into housing planning.



### HUMAN SERVICES GOALS, POLICIES, AND STRATEGIES

#### **Housing Goal 8. Homelessness**

#### Make homelessness rare, brief, and one-time in Kitsap County

**Housing Policy 8.1.** Increase opportunities for expanded housing options and supportive services for people in foster care, group homes, emergency housing or shelters, or experiencing homelessness.

**Housing Policy 8.2.** Identify and remove regulatory barriers to alternative housing models for people experiencing housing insecurity or homelessness.

**Housing Policy 8.3.** Coordinate Housing Authorities, nonprofit builders, and social services providers to create additional permanent supportive housing units in an effort to meet projected need from the Commerce Housing for All Planning Tool (HAPT) and expand service options for Kitsap residents who have significant barriers to independent, stable housing.

**Housing Policy 8.4.** Support programs and resources for individuals with identities and/or lived experiences that place them at higher risk of experiencing homelessness.

**Housing Policy 8.5.** Review and update as necessary coordinated planning in partnership with tribes, jurisdictions, agencies, and community organizations, ensuring communities disproportionately at-risk of or experiencing homelessness are accounted for in the plan.

**Housing Policy 8.6.** Evaluate and mitigate the impacts of climate change and natural disasters on the County's response to addressing homelessness, including factors like heat events and flooding.

# What is Housing First?

Housing First (Housing Strategy 8.a) is a homeless assistance approach that prioritizes providing permanent supportive housing and other housing services to people experiencing homelessness, thus ending their homelessness and serving as a platform from which they can pursue personal goals and improve their quality of life.

It is referred to as "Housing First" because of the principle that housing people who are currently experiencing homelessness can stabilize them and provide a safe environment. Housing is seen as a prerequisite to addressing other needs.

**Housing Policy 8.7.** Coordinate with tribes, jurisdictions, agencies, and community organizations the provision of emergency housing and shelters where

needed, understanding that emergency needs will vary depending on the impacted individual/s and the situation.

Housing Strategy 8.a. Support a Housing First model for chronically unsheltered individuals.

**Housing Strategy 8.b.** Coordinate with local schools, colleges, and community organizations to identify and house youth experiencing homelessness, especially youth from historically marginalized communities.

**Housing Strategy 8.c.** Regularly review and update the Kitsap Homeless Housing Plan to continuously improve and update the County's approach to homelessness.

**Housing Strategy 8.d.** Maintain an updated inventory and analysis of emergency housing and emergency shelter capacity and needs in the County, taking into consideration the additional temporary impact of various emergency scenarios.

**Housing Strategy 8.e.** Support and fund the Coordinated Entry program and service provider and maintenance of the Homelessness Management Information System to ensure equitable access to new and existing housing options for people experiencing homelessness, imminently losing housing, or at risk of homelessness.

#### **Housing Goal 9. Support services**

#### Increase support, referral, and connections to social services

**Housing Policy 9.1.** Support existing and develop new programs as needed that link human services with housing, especially to limit or mitigate displacement impacts.

**Housing Policy 9.2.** Ensure all residents have an equal and fair opportunity to access human services, especially services mitigating displacement impacts, regardless of identity or lived experience and ensure services are accessible via reliable public transportation.

**Housing Policy 9.3.** Collaborate with partner agencies and organizations in providing support to programs that assist low-income seniors, area veterans, students, and residents with disabilities.

**Housing Policy 9.4.** Coordinate with partner agencies and community organizations to ensure social services for displacement impacts are accessible and readily available for individuals at-risk or experiencing displacement.

**Housing Policy 9.5.** Support services for the Kitsap area's underserved youth with job training and placement.

**Housing Policy 9.6.** Explore increased support and expansion of services for formally incarcerated individuals re-entering the community.

**Housing Policy 9.7.** Explore increased support and expansion of services for residents suffering from mental health or substance abuse issues.

**Housing Policy 9.8.** Identify and confront barriers to providing adequate capacity of childcare services.



**Policy 9.7.** Support the goals of the Kitsap County Division of Aging and Long-Term Care Area Plan 2024-2027.

**Strategy 9.a.** Engage with economic development and workforce organizations to ensure job training and placement programs have the most up-to-date data and are targeted at communities identified as underserved or at risk of displacement.

**Strategy 9.b.** Incorporate a geographic analysis of underserved communities when making capital program decisions about where human services investments are made.

**Strategy 9.c.** Ensure that when multimodal level of service decisions are made in the context of transportation planning, human and social services are accessible by all forms of transportation available to residents of Kitsap County.

**Strategy 9.d.** Focus local mental health and substance abuse funding towards strategic and sustainable programs/projects that show measurable, significant outcomes.

**Strategy 9.e.** Remove barriers to in-home childcare providers in provision of service to Kitsap families.

Strategy 9.f. Remove barriers to healthy aging and Age-Friendly communities.

#### REFERENCES

- Buildable Lands Report November 2021
- Housing for All Planning Tool (HAPT)
- Kitsap Homeless Housing Plan 2019 Update
- Establishing Housing Targets (July 2023)
- <u>Kitsap-Bremerton Affordable Housing Study (March 2020)</u>
- <u>Kitsap Count CDBG (kitsapgov.com)</u>
- <u>Coordinated Grant Application Process (kitsap.gov)</u>
- Displacement Risk Mapping | Puget Sound Regional Council (psrc.org)
- Housing First National Alliance to End Homelessness
- <u>HH Homeless Crisis Response and Housing Plan</u>
- <u>2021-2025 Consolidated Plan Fair Housing Plan</u>
- <u>Kitsap County Division of Aging and Long Term Care Area Plan 2024-2027</u>
- <u>The WHO Age-friendly Cities Framework Age-Friendly World</u>



SILVERDALE TRANSIT CENTER

# **CHAPTER 5 Transportation**



## Chapter 5 / Transportation Element

#### VISION

The County has a transportation vision of a well-maintained, safe, integrated, and sustainable multimodal transportation system that supports the County's population, land use plan, and provides connections within and between communities.

#### INTENT

The Transportation Goals, Policies, and Implementation Strategies guide preservation, maintenance, planning, and improvements to the County's multi-modal transportation system in Unincorporated Kitsap County. The transportation element includes a current inventory of transportation facilities and programs and ensures the future transportation system is safe, cost effective, sustainable, and accessible for all users.

#### GROWTH MANAGEMENT ACT AND REGIONAL COORDINATION

The Washington State Growth Management Act is the framework for all land use planning in the state and lays out the requirements for comprehensive plans and development regulations that implement the plans. The Transportation Element is a required element and must include:

- Land use assumptions used in estimating travel, located in the CFP Appendix C Traffic Model Data;
- Estimated impacts to state-owned transportation facilities, located in the CFP appendix B Transportation Tables;
- Facilities and services needs, including:
- Inventory of air, water, and ground transportation;
- o Multimodal level of service standards;
- o Plans for bringing substandard facilities or services to acceptable level of service standards;
- $\circ$   $\,$  10-year demand and need forecasts, located in the CFP; and
- $\circ$  ADA transition plan
- Concurrency strategies
- Consistency with capital facilities plans

The County's policy framework for the Transportation Element Goals and Policies pulls from the Growth Management Act (GMA), Chapter 36.70A Revised Code of Washington (RCW), Puget Sound Regional Council's (PSRC's) VISION 2050, Kitsap County Countywide Planning Policies (CPPs), and the County's vision.

State and regional guiding directives for this element include:

• Establish a seamless multi-modal regional transportation system through intergovernmental

coordination,

- Avoid concentrating people and commercial/industrial uses in environmentally sensitive areas, to minimize need for development of transportation systems in such areas,
- Emphasize moving people rather than vehicles through support of high-capacity transit, and non-motorized facilities.
- Continue to pursue Growth Management Act requirements for Level of Service and Concurrency,
- Maximize the efficiency of existing transportation corridors before creating new ones.



Photo credit: Kitsap County

#### **RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER ELEMENTS**

This Element implements and is consistent with the Land Use Element and other Elements including Economic Development, Environment, Climate Change, Housing and Human Services, Parks and Recreation, and Capital Facilities. The transportation element plans for a transportation system that will support the County's future land use map and implements the land use element.



#### BACKGROUND

The Kitsap transportation system includes state highways, city and county roads, interchanges and bridges, bikeways and trails, public transportation facilities and services, railroads, marine ports, ferries, and airports. The State, County, municipalities, and special districts share jurisdiction over these facilities.

- The County Road Department maintains over 20,000 signs, 20 miles of guardrails and 915 miles of roadways requiring over 1,600 miles of painted lane stripes.
- The County maintains over 145 miles of on-road non-motorized facilities, and more than 7 miles of off-road non-motorized facilities.
- Kitsap County has 371 miles of water trails.
- The County spends about \$15 Million per year on capital transportation projects identified in the County's Transportation Improvement Program.
- Kitsap Transit operates 37 fixed route buses, 35 worker/driver buses and 4 ferry routes, transporting more than 3.8 million rides a year.
- WA State Ferries operate 4 ferry terminals and transport 8.3 million riders per year.



• There are 103 miles of State highways in Kitsap County.

Photo credit: Kitsap County

#### **KEY TERMS**

**Complete Streets** - a systems approach to planning, designing, building, operating, and maintaining the transportation system that enables safe and convenient access to destinations for all people, including pedestrians, bicyclists, rolling, motorists, freight, and transit riders.

**Concurrency** - transportation infrastructure and services must be adequate to support land use, with adequacy defined by locally adopted Level of Service (LOS) standards, i.e., jurisdictions must adopt LOS standards by which the minimum acceptable roadway operating conditions are defined.

**Context Sensitive Design** - a collaborative, interdisciplinary project design approach that involves all stakeholders to provide a transportation facility that fits its physical setting and community needs while maintaining safety, mobility, and intent of the transportation system. This approach addresses the total context within which a transportation facility is planned, implemented, maintained, and operated.

**Multi-modal** - includes pedestrian, bicyclists, rolling, motorist, freight, aviation, marine, and transit modes of transportation, systems, and facilities.

**State of Good Repair** - the transportation facility is in a condition sufficient for the asset to operate as intended.

**Level of service (LOS)** - a term used to qualitatively describe the operating condition of a roadway, intersection, other infrastructure, or service.

LOS designations for vehicle travel are qualitative measures of congestion that describe operational conditions within a traffic stream and consider such factors as volume, speed, travel time, and delay. Six letter designations, "A" through "F," are used to define LOS. LOS A represents conditions with the lowest amounts of delay and LOS F indicates that traffic volumes are at a high level of congestion with unstable traffic flow.

**Level of Service Standards** - evaluate the transportation impacts of long-term growth and to ensure concurrency.

**Project Evaluation System** - a process used for the selection of transportation improvement projects for funding in the County's six-year TIP program. Prospective projects that are placed into the process are scored and ranked using objective criteria including safety, capacity needs, structural condition, staff availability, and timing of funding and other criteria.

## How are transportation projects selected?

Funded transportation projects are kept on a 6-year Transportation Implementation Program, or Transportation Improvement Plan (TIP). The process and criteria for transportation project selection for the TIP are outlined in Kitsap County's Annual Update Process. This system scores projects on aspects of preservation, capacity, safety, environmental retrofit, and non-motorized travel.

For more information, please see Kitsap County's description of the Project Evaluation System: <u>TIP Annual Update Process 2024</u>



**Roadway Functional Classification** - the role a roadway plays in the multi-modal transportation system. The three major categories of classification are:

- Arterials supporting higher mobility and lower degree of access to adjacent properties.
- Collectors balancing between mobility and access.
- Locals lower mobility and higher degree of access to adjacent properties.

The County uses the Federal Functional Classification (FFC) system for transportation systems planning. A more detailed discussion of FFC can be found in the Capital Facilities Plan.

**State Freight and Goods Transportation System** - a freight designation system which classifies freight corridors based on annual freight tonnage moved through truck, rail, and waterway freight corridors.

**Transportation Improvement Program (TIP)** - a six-year transportation construction program to coordinate the County's road and transportation improvements. Public Works updates the TIP annually based on available and projected funding.

**Walk, Bike, and Roll** - pedestrian mobility including walking or running, the use of a mobility assistive devices such as wheelchairs, bicycles, strollers and small personal devices such as foot scooters or skateboards for transportation and recreation for all ages and abilities.

	Maximum V/C Ratio* / LOS Standard						
Functional Classification	Urban	Rural					
Principal Arterial	0.89/D	0.79/C					
Minor Arterial	0.89/D	0.79/C					
Collector	0.89/D	0.79/C					
Minor Collector	0.89/D	0.79/C					
Residential/Local	0.79/C	0.79/C					

#### Table 13. Kitsap County Roadway Level of Service Standards

\*V/C = the ratio of vehicles to roadway capacity. A more detailed discussion of LOS can be found in the Capital Facilities Plan.

Technical documents used in development of this Transportation Element include the Capital Facilities Plan, transportation system inventory, the Environmental Impact Statement, and a review of changes to the Washington State Growth Management Act since the previous Comprehensive Plan update.

### TRANSPORTATION GOALS, POLICIES AND STRATEGIES

#### **Transportation Goal 1. Sustainable Connections**

Provide a well-maintained, safe, integrated, and sustainable multi-modal transportation system that supports the County's population, land use plan, and provides connections within and between communities.

**Transportation Policy 1.1.** Develop multi-modal transportation level of service standards for urban and rural areas to support the associated land uses and facilitate connections within and between communities.

**Transportation Policy 1.2.** Ensure equitable public participation in multi-modal transportation planning, including the recognition of and minimization of negative impacts to people of color, persons with disabilities, seniors, youth, people with low-incomes, and people with special transportation needs.

**Transportation Policy 1.3.** Identify the Washington State Department of Transportation's levels of service for State Routes in the Capital Facilities Plan.

**Transportation Policy 1.4.** Utilize data-driven planning processes to guide multi-modal transportation system planning and programming.

**Transportation Policy 1.5.** Utilize Complete Streets system design approaches for Urban Growth Areas, subarea planning, and facility design.

**Transportation Policy 1.6.** Require adequate location sensitive multi-modal access and connections within the development, with adjacent uses, and to the multi-modal transportation network for new development.

**Transportation Policy 1.7.** During project identification, scoping, and design, utilize contextsensitive design approaches and consider alternative concepts to address unique transportation needs.

**Transportation Policy 1.8.** Incorporate resiliency designs and redundant access and routes in multi-modal transportation planning and development review.

**Transportation Policy 1.9.** Solicit public feedback and incorporate comment into development of the Transportation Improvement Plan (TIP) priorities, when appropriate.

**Transportation Policy 1.10.** Implement the goals and policies designated in the adopted Kitsap County Non-Motorized Facility Plan.

**Transportation Strategy 1.a.** Establish multi-modal levels of service for urban and rural areas in the Capital Facilities Plan.

**Transportation Strategy 1.b.** Maintain the County's Transportation Concurrency program to monitor and review levels of service and address capacity needs in the multi-modal



transportation system during planning, implementation, and the development review processes.

**Transportation Strategy 1.c.** Identify and address capacity deficiencies in terms of identified funding, adjustment to the level of service standard, or placing restrictions on development (e.g., modifications to or denial of permit applications, or in extreme circumstances, a temporary moratorium on development).

**Transportation Strategy 1.d.** Maintain system, subarea, and intersection level traffic modeling capability to analyze and assess system level of service and operations.

**Transportation Strategy 1.e.** Monitor and review State Route levels of service to support concurrency review and the land use plan.

**Transportation Strategy 1.f.** Utilize the policy-based and data-driven Public Works Transportation Project Evaluation System's candidate project analysis process to support project selection for the Transportation Improvement Program.

**Transportation Strategy 1.g.** Within Urban Growth Areas, centers, and subareas use the Transportation Implementation Strategy process specific to those areas to prioritize system improvements and to inform the Transportation Improvement Program.

**Transportation Strategy 1.h.** Monitor and refine as necessary the Federal Functional Classification designations of County roads to support connections within and between communities.

**Transportation Strategy 1.i.** Periodically review the County Road Design Standards and subarea plans to ensure compatibility and support for Complete Streets system design.

**Transportation Strategy 1.j.** Use the development review process to analyze, assess, and condition developments to incorporate appropriate multi-modal access and connections.

**Transportation Strategy 1.k.** Identify and mitigate potential health, safety, capacity, multimodal access, environmental, social, economic, and other impacts which may result from public or private development during the State Environmental Policy Act review process.

**Transportation Strategy 1.I.** Promote public involvement by engaging a broad spectrum of individuals, historically underserved people and communities, and community advisory committees, in systems and project planning and implementation processes (e.g. Transportation Imprvoement Program (TIP) project selection process).

#### **Transportation Goal 2. Maintenance and Operations**

Maintain, preserve, and operate the County's multi-modal transportation infrastructure in a State of Good Repair.

**Transportation Policy 2.1.** Sustain the County's asset management program to manage multimodal transportation assets.

**Transportation Policy 2.2.** Proactively manage the multi-modal transportation system's risk exposure to natural and human-caused hazards and increase resiliency of the system.

**Transportation Policy 2.3.** Emphasize maintenance, operations, and preservation of arterial and collector transportation facilities.

**Transportation Policy 2.4.** Within the County's asset management system and operations procedures, emphasize maintaining County levels of service standards and resources to the arterial and collector classified facilities.

Transportation Policy 2.5. Control and minimize access points on arterial and collector facilities.

**Transportation Policy 2.6.** Address resiliency to natural and human-caused hazards through project design, improvements, preservation activities, and operational procedures.

**Transportation Strategy 2.a.** Continue to update, expand, and refine the County's asset management program to manage the County's multi-modal transportation system in a State of Good Repair.

**Transportation Strategy 2.b.** Continue to refine and document the nature and scope of potential natural and human-caused hazards to the multi-modal transportation system in the County's asset management program; provide for vulnerability assessment of transportation systems.

**Transportation Strategy 2.c.** Continue to use best available science to update, expand, and refine the County's asset management program to manage culvert maintenance activities and remediation of fish barriers within the County's multi- modal transportation system with an emphasis on the arterial and collector transportation facilities.

**Transportation Strategy 2.d.** During project design and development review minimize access points on arterial and collector roads.



#### **Transportation Goal 3. Safety**

*Improve safety outcomes of the multi-modal transportation system.* 

**Transportation Policy 3.1.** Reduce transportationrelated deaths and serious injury crashes to support Washington's Target Zero objectives, and the Safe System Approach.

**Transportation Policy 3.2.** Coordinate with school districts to identify and address transportation safety concerns and solutions near schools.



Photo credit: Kitsap County

**Transportation Policy 3.3.** Utilize County-specific crash data and analytical process from the County's Safety Action Plan to identify safety concerns and prioritize projects to address safety needs.

**Transportation Strategy 3.a.** Highlight safety review of the multi-modal transportation system in the County's Comprehensive Safety Action Plan to support project selection and project design processes.

**Transportation Strategy 3.b.** Incorporate school-specific safety analysis and solutions into the County's Comprehensive Safety Action Plan which address the County's multi-modal system and school districts' transportation management policies and facilities.

**Transportation Strategy 3.c.** Where possible separate non-motorized users from the roadway through the use of separated paths, landscaping, and other new or creative solutions that provide safe and efficient ways to walk, bike, and roll.

#### **Transportation Goal 4. Complete Streets**

# Incorporate a Complete Streets systems approach to walking, biking, and rolling systems and facilities design to support all ages and abilities access, safety, and connectivity within and between communities.

**Transportation Policy 4.1.** Within Urban Growth Areas, centers, and subareas, walk, bike, and roll facilities will emphasize access for all ages and abilities, safety, and providing access to and linking land uses and activity areas within and between communities, public facilities, parks, and open space.

**Transportation Policy 4.2.** Address existing mobility barriers in the public rights-of-way as identified in the County's Americans with Disabilities Act Transition Plan.

**Transportation Policy 4.3.** Maximize the opportunities for walking, biking, and rolling for transportation, recreation, and health within new and existing public and private development through the provision of integrated walk, bike, and roll facilities within the development, connecting to adjacent properties, and accessing the multi-modal transportation system.

**Transportation Policy 4.4.** Walk, bike, and roll facilities in Rural areas which provide connections between and within communities, parks, and open space will emphasize an all ages and abilities accessibility.

**Transportation Policy 4.5.** Ensure walk, bike, and roll facility planning includes priority for connection to schools, childcare facilities, and other youth activity centers.

**Transportation Strategy 4.a.** Ensure Urban Growth Area and subarea planning incorporate a Complete Streets system approach for walking, biking, and rolling facilities and networks within and between communities and centers.

**Transportation Strategy 4.b.** Develop a walk, bike, and roll facilities plan and ensure consistency with the County Road Design Standards.

**Transportation Strategy 4.c.** Continue implementation of the County's Americans with Disabilities Act Transition Plan through specific project implementation, and incorporation into capital projects.

**Transportation Strategy 4.d.** When implementing walk, ride, and roll plans within Urban Growth Areas and subareas emphasize continuous connections within community service areas and between residential, commercial, and recreational uses to maximize opportunities to utilize alternative transportation options for daily activities.

**Transportation Strategy 4.e.** During public and private project development review, condition development to support implementation of walking, biking, and rolling facilities that incorporate a Complete Streets system approach, connections within the community, and emphasized access for all ages and abilities.

#### **Transportation Goal 5. Freight Mobility**

#### Ensure the County's multi-modal transportation system supports freight movements.

**Transportation Policy 5.1.** Support the State Freight and Goods Transportation System freight classification and Complete Streets system design approaches.

**Transportation Strategy 5.a.** Coordinate with the Washington State Department of Transportation and businesses to maintain the State Freight and Goods Transportation System Classification.

**Transportation Strategy 5.b.** Coordinate with the Department of Defense to maintain needed freight and goods movement and access to Naval Base Kitsap while minimizing community impacts from freight and goods movement.

**Transportation Strategy 5.c.** Coordinate with other jurisdictions including Department of Defense, Washington State Department of Transportation, Washington State Legislature, Governor, Congress, and tribes to expedite capacity and safety improvements to SR 3 and SR 16 in Gorst to support freight mobility and national defense.



**Transportation Strategy 5.d.** Monitor and evaluate impacts to the multi-modal transportation system from local freight and parcel delivery.

#### **Transportation Goal 6. Airports**

#### Preserve the County's existing aviation facilities.

**Transportation Policy 6.1.** Coordinate with aviation services providers and the community to maintain an air transportation system appropriate to the needs of the County and which is compatible with County land uses.

**Transportation Policy 6.2.** Explore creation and expansion of commercial airline service in Kitsap County.

**Transportation Strategy 6.a.** Coordinate with the Port of Bremerton and other airport operators to support aviation access to the County and address impacts to the community with existing aviation activities and potential impacts of growth, consistent with the Port of Bremerton Airport Feasibility Study.

**Transportation Strategy 6.b.** Promote the Bremerton National Airport as an option for regional commercial airline service.

#### **Transportation Goal 7. Public Transit**

Ensure Public Transit supports access within and between County communities and is a viable transportation alternative to support peoples' daily needs and the County's land uses, reducing per capita Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT).

**Transportation Policy 7.1.** Ensure public transit services within the Urban Growth Areas and subareas have routing, frequencies, and levels of service to promote public transit as a viable alternative for daily transportation needs within and between communities and centers.

**Transportation Policy 7.2.** Ensure that Express and Bus Rapid Transit services providing services between communities and centers are routed through and provide direct access to major destinations within the Silverdale, Central Kitsap, and East Bremerton Urban Growth Areas.

**Transportation Policy 7.3.** Provide public transit services to rural areas and LAMIRDs to provide practical transportation alternatives.

**Transportation Policy 7.4.** Support Transportation Demand Management and multi-modal transportation.

**Transportation Strategy 7.a.** Work with Kitsap Transit to plan and implement fixed route and on-call transit services within Urban Growth Areas and subareas with routing, frequencies, and level of service to support use of transit within the community for daily transportation needs.
**Transportation Strategy 7.b.** Work with Kitsap Transit to plan and implement Express and Bus Rapid Transit services to support user access within the Urban Growth Areas and between communities and centers.

**Transportation Strategy 7.c.** Work with Kitsap Transit to plan and implement public transit options in the rural areas which balance access within the rural areas and connections between communities.

**Transportation Strategy 7.d.** Work with Kitsap Transit to support the Worker Driver commuter program in rural areas.

**Transportation Strategy 7.e.** Support incentive-based Transportation Demand Management that provides options in transportation modes, e.g., transit pass subsidies, bike lockers, preferential carpool parking, etc.

**Transportation Strategy 7.f.** Explore the feasibility of expanding the interlocal ferry system to other Kitsap County locations, consistent with Kitsap Transit's Long-Range Transit Plan.

#### **Transportation Goal 8. Environmental Protection**

Avoid first, minimize second, and then mitigate negative environmental impacts from improvements to the multi-modal transportation system.

**Transportation Policy 8.1.** Plan, locate, design, and operate transportation facilities to minimize negative environmental impacts.

**Transportation Policy 8.2.** Plan for resiliency within the multi-modal transportation system to minimize and/or mitigate the impacts of climate change, extreme weather events, and natural or human-caused hazards.

**Transportation Policy 8.3.** Utilize Best Management Practices in planning and design of systems and facilities.



Photo credit: Kitsap County

**Transportation Strategy 8.a.** During project identification, scoping, and design, utilize context-sensitive design approaches and consider alternative project designs and solutions to address unique environmental conditions associated with a multi-modal transportation facility.

**Transportation Strategy 8.b.** Identify potential environmental impacts which may result from public or private development during the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) review and mitigate the on-site and off-site impacts as part of the development permit application approval process.

**Transportation Strategy 8.c.** Minimize impervious surfaces where feasible and retain or utilize native vegetation where possible when implementing multi-modal transportation projects.



#### **Transportation Goal 9. Funding**

Ensure County multi-modal transportation revenue levels are sufficient to provide a well-maintained, safe, efficient, integrated, and sustainable multi-modal transportation system that supports the people, County's land use plan, and provides connections within and between communities.

**Transportation Policy 9.1.** County transportation funding, predominantly received from revenue sources in the unincorporated County, can only be utilized for the primary benefit of the land uses and population of those areas.

**Transportation Policy 9.2.** Ensure County transportation revenue levels are sufficient to maintain, preserve, and operate the County's multi-modal transportation infrastructure in a State of Good Repair.

**Transportation Policy 9.3.** Seek grant funding and partnership agreements that support implementation of the Transportation Improvement Program.

**Transportation Policy 9.4.** Sustain the Transportation Impact Fee program at a level sufficient to generate a proportionate share of the cost of new transportation improvement projects needed to serve new growth and development.

**Transportation Policy 9.5.** Emphasize County levels of service and resources to arterial and collector transportation facilities.

**Transportation Policy 9.6.** Use the County's Impact Fee Service Area approach to ensure impact fees are spent within the area in which it was generated.

**Transportation Policy 9.7.** Prioritize investments in designated regional and countywide centers, consistent with regional policy.

**Transportation Strategy 9.a.** Continue to update, expand, and refine the County's asset management program to manage the County's multi-modal transportation system in a State of Good Repair. Identify trends in revenue sources, costs, and program needs and ensure the program is sufficiently funded.

**Transportation Strategy 9.b.** Seek grant and partnership opportunities that support the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) and delivery schedule.

**Transportation Strategy 9.c.** Monitor and adjust the Transportation Impact Fee program as needed.

#### **Transportation Goal 10. Interjurisdictional Coordination**

Coordinate multi-modal transportation planning with cities, transit, Washington State Department of Transportation, Ports, Health District, adjacent counties, Navy, and tribes to establish and maintain an effective transportation system for Kitsap County.

**Transportation Policy 10.1.** Advocate for regional planning and funding to implement the County's multi-modal transportation system in federal, regional, statewide, and national multi-modal planning, public-private-partnerships, and grant funding processes.

**Transportation Policy 10.2.** Advocate for equitable access to regional, state, and federal grant processes and proportionate award of grant funding to support the County's multi-modal transportation system.

**Transportation Policy 10.3.** Work with the Washington State Department of Transportation to research, analyze, and implement solutions to impacts from service interruptions to communities and County facilities from State Routes and Washington State Ferries.

**Transportation Policy 10.4.** Continue to participate in efforts to engage and support interjurisdictional cooperation to provide all the County's residents a safe, efficient, and reliable transportation network for all modes of travel.

**Transportation Strategy 10.a.** Allocate staff and resources to support the County's representation at the Kitsap Regional Coordinating Council, Puget Sound Regional Council, Peninsula Regional Transportation Planning Organization, as well as with the State, local cities, Kitsap Transit, Ports, other agencies, and Tribal planning processes to ensure regional and local plans support the County's land uses, growth, and multi-modal transportation planning.

**Transportation Strategy 10.b.** Work with the Washington State Department of Transportation, State Legislature, and Governor to identify, fund, and implement State Route segment and intersection improvements to address safety, capacity, and multi-modal connectivity on State Routes.

**Transportation Strategy 10.c.** Work with the Washington State Department of Transportation to ensure Urban Growth Area and subarea state planning, projects, and development review address the community's need for walking, biking, and rolling within a Complete Streets system approach.

**Transportation Strategy 10.d.** Work with the Washington State Department of Transportation and Kitsap Transit to identify, fund, and implement solutions to mitigate ferry traffic related impacts to County communities and facilities.

**Transportation Strategy 10.e.** Work with local tribes to plan, fund, and implement multimodal transportation solutions within and in support of their respective reservations.

**Transportation Strategy 10.f.** Work with federal, state, local and Tribal jurisdictions to mitigate inter-jurisdictional traffic impacts as the County grows.



#### REFERENCES

- Transportation Improvement Program
- Capital Facilities Plan
- Non-motorized Facility Plan
- Transportation Project Evaluation System
- <u>Road Design Standards</u>
- <u>Comprehensive Safety Action Plan</u>
- Road Impact Fee Service Boundaries
- ADA Transition Plan (Expected 2025)



SUQUAMISH PARK

## CHAPTER 6

# Parks, Recreation and Open Space Element



# Chapter 6 / Parks, Recreation, and Open Space Element

#### VISION

The County's vision for parks is to create a thriving and accessible park system that meets the diverse needs and interests of the community. The park system offers recreational opportunities and the preservation and stewardship of natural resources. This vision recognizes the County's vital role in providing outdoor recreation areas and facilities that contribute to the overall quality of life for its residents and aims to ensure equitable access to parks for all community members.

In partnership with other agencies and organizations, the County envisions enhancing its park facilities, developing new parks, and creating multi-functional corridors that integrate recreational opportunities and wildlife habitat connectivity, while emphasizing the importance of sustainable land management that promotes environmental protection and climate resilience within the park system.

#### INTENT

This element of the Comprehensive Plan serves as a reference and foundation for future updates of the County's Parks, Recreation, and Open Space (PROS) Plan. This element provides an outlook for the County's park system, identifying areas for improvement and presenting innovative approaches based on public input and community engagement. To make these aspirations actionable, the next update of PROS Plan (anticipated to be complete in 2025 will implement the goals, policies, and strategies in this element, detailing specific projects, initiatives, and timelines for park development and enhancement. It will identify opportunities for partnerships and funding and foster collaboration with stakeholders to ensure equitable access, environmental stewardship, and diverse recreational opportunities for the community.

The goals and policies in this element recognize County residents' interests in promoting pedestrian use, bicycling, and accessibility through the provision of trails in the park system as well as the desire to institute management programs for habitat value, forest health, groundwater recharge, water quality, climate resiliency, and safety.

Technical documents used in development of this Element include an inventory of current parks facilities, level of service standards, and other requirements outlined in the Capital Facilities Plan, the Environmental Impact Statement, the Washington State Growth Management Act, and the Washington Administrative Code.

#### GROWTH MANAGEMENT ACT AND REGIONAL COORDINATION

The Washington State Growth Management Act is the framework for all land use planning in the state and lays out the requirements for comprehensive plans and development regulations that implement the plans. The Parks and Recreation Element is a required element and must include:

- Estimates of park and recreation demand for at least a ten-year period;
- Evaluation of facilities and service needs;
- Evaluation of tree canopy coverage within the urban growth area; and
- Evaluation of intergovernmental coordination opportunities to provide regional approaches for meeting park and recreational demand.

By aligning with the Growth Management Act (GMA) and the Washington State Recreation and Conservation Office (RCO), this element will provide a comprehensive and visionary framework for the parks, recreation, and open space system. In some cases, the County's PROS plan provides additional information related to GMA requirements for this element.

This work must also align with regional strategies including Vision 2050 and the Regional Open Space Conservation Plan. These plans aim to protect and enhance a diverse range of public and private open spaces, including urban and rural areas, to provide essential economic, recreational, cultural, aesthetic, and ecological services. These plans emphasize equitable access to open spaces and, to achieve this, propose strategies like integrating open space conservation into planning at all levels, protecting critical habitats, enhancing urban open spaces,



Photo credit: Kitsap County

building a regional trail network, and restoring high-value habitat areas.

Additionally, the plans emphasize the need for coordination among agencies and organizations and the promotion of the many benefits of green infrastructure to support mental and physical health, recreational opportunities, habitat preservation, and stormwater management.

#### **RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER ELEMENTS**

The goals and policies in this Element are an integral part of other elements including *Land Use*, *Economic Development, Environment, Housing and Human Services, Transportation, Climate Change and Capital Facilities and Utilities*.

Focusing on the inter-related nature of Parks, Recreation, and Open Space to other Comprehensive Plan elements, this element provides the guidance to do the following:



- Provide parks, recreation, and open space facilities and services in an efficient and economical manner;
- Manage and maintain parks, recreation facilities, and open space lands;
- Work with cities and other communities for park and open space acquisition projects;
- Incorporate a network of trails and greenways throughout the County to connect population and employment centers, schools, and public facilities;
- Manage parks when in proximity to new and existing housing;
- Manage parks and open space properties for environmental values;
- Establish and maintain level of service standards for parkland acreage, equitable access, distribution, function, and maintenance and operations;
- Engage underrepresented communities, including historically underserved groups, lowincome populations, and individuals with disabilities, to ensure their access and meaningful participation in park activities;
- Move towards identifying and categorizing lands within Kitsap County Parks for potential future development and restoration efforts;
- Attempt to segregate natural resource protection lands from active/passive recreation elements within each park facility; and
- Ensure park, recreation, and open space acquisition, facility development, and management is balanced with the required funding and operational budget.

#### BACKGROUND

Kitsap County is known for its many distinctive features including its glacier-carved rolling topography, evergreen forests, freshwater lakes, inlets, bays, and Puget Sound. Kitsap County's nature-oriented park system reflects this diversity of settings and provides for developed recreation facilities to serve a population of diverse ages, backgrounds, abilities, and outdoor interests.

Kitsap County's Park system is a comprehensive network comprised of various park types, collectively totaling 10,843 acres. This diverse range of parks includes heritage parks, waterways and waterfront parks, community recreation complexes, legacy parks, special use parks, and open spaces and greenbelts. Each park type offers distinct recreational opportunities, such as natural landscapes, access to water bodies, community gathering spaces, and areas of historical and cultural significance. The inclusion of this wide variety of park types ensures that the park system caters to the diverse interests and needs of the community while promoting equitable access to nature, recreation, and cultural experiences throughout Kitsap County.

Nearly three quarters of all park and open space acreage lies within six heritage parks that have become the cornerstone of Kitsap County's Park system. A balanced approach that takes into

consideration established levels of service, protection of critical areas, historic and cultural values, equitable and inclusive access, and recreation services for the public will be critical to the success of these heritage parks and the park system overall.

Equally critical is both the long- and short-term stewardship of these lands by the community and County staff, promoting landscapes that endure as legacies for future generations. Through responsible management and preservation practices, these landscapes will remain vibrant and sustainable over time. This stewardship entails adopting strategies that promote health and wellness for the community, recognizing the role of parks in fostering physical activity, mental well-being, and connection with nature.

As the challenges posed by climate change increase, it becomes imperative to adapt parks to the changing climate conditions. This includes integrating resilient design principles, implementing sustainable green infrastructure, and supporting habitats that can withstand the impacts of climate change.



Photo credit: Kitsap County



#### **KEY TERMS**

**ADA Standards** - Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) standards ensure that public facilities and amenities are accessible to individuals with disabilities.

**Climate Resilience** - the capacity of natural areas and recreational facilities to withstand, adapt to, and recover from the impacts of climate change including the ability to withstand extreme weather events, rising temperatures, changes in precipitation patterns, and other climate-related challenges while maintaining functionality and benefits for the community.

**Critical Areas** - areas identified as: (a) wetlands; (b) critical aquifer recharge areas; (c) fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas; (d) geologically hazardous areas; and (e) frequently flooded areas.

**Equitable Access** - ensuring that all members of a community, regardless of their background, socioeconomic status, age, ability, or location, have fair and inclusive opportunities to access and enjoy parks and recreational facilities. It involves providing equal access to safe, well-maintained, and culturally relevant park spaces, programs, and amenities, fostering a sense of belonging and promoting social, physical, and mental well-being for all individuals within the community.

**Green Infrastructure** - includes a wide array of natural assets and built structures, such as parks and stormwater management facilities, at multiple scales that manage wet weather and that maintain and restore natural hydrology.

**Level of service (LOS)** - the specific criteria and standards used to measure and evaluate the adequacy and quality of park facilities, services, and amenities provided to the community. It is a measurable representation of the level of recreational opportunities and resources available to residents and visitors within a defined area and time frame.

**Public Private Partnership** - a collaborative arrangement between a government and private entities to jointly plan, develop, operate, or manage parks and recreational facilities. These partnerships leverage the resources, expertise, and capabilities of both sectors to enhance the quality, accessibility, and sustainability of parks and recreational amenities for the community's benefit.

**Transfer of Development Rights (TDR)** - a land use planning strategy that allows for the transfer of development rights from one area (typically rural or environmentally sensitive) to another area (usually urban or designated for higher-density development). In this program, landowners in the sending areas, where development is restricted or limited, can sell their development rights to developers or landowners in the receiving areas, where increased development density or intensity is desired.

**Universal Design Principles** - a set of seven principles and associated guidelines developed in 1997 by a working group of architects, product designers, engineers, and environmental design researchers. These principles are, in brief: equitable use; flexibility in use; simple and intuitive use; perceptible information; tolerance for error; low physical effort; and size and space for approach and use.

# PARKS, RECREATION, AND OPEN SPACE GOALS, POLICIES AND STRATEGIES

#### **Parks Goal 1. Equity**

Provide equitable access to regional parks and open space to meet the recreational and diverse user needs for active healthy communities.

**Parks Policy 1.1.** Develop park facilities to accommodate specialized activities, large special events, and athletic tournaments to meet current and future demand.

**Parks Policy 1.2.** Develop and upgrade sport field complexes to meet the needs of organized recreation activities, using public and private partnerships where possible.

**Parks Policy 1.3.** Restore, manage, and protect the natural and cultural resources within Kitsap County Parks for the benefit of the greater community and for future generations to safely enjoy.

Parks Policy 1.4. Ensure geographic distribution and equitable access to park facilities.

**Parks Policy 1.5.** Develop and redevelop County parks to provide equity of service and activities offered for all demographics and accessibility levels.

**Parks Policy 1.6.** Limit impacts to vulnerable and underserved populations when locating park facilities.

**Parks Policy 1.7.** Maintain and enhance a balance between the economic benefits of tourism and the local quality of life.

Parks Policy 1.8. Design and develop facilities that will encourage tourism.

**Parks Policy 1.9.** Develop and redevelop certain County parks and the Fairgrounds and Events Center to become "destination facilities".

**Parks Policy 1.10.** Coordinate regional parks development and operation with regional trails and other trail systems.

**Parks Policy 1.11.** Implement universal design principles in park planning and development to ensure that park amenities and facilities are accessible to individuals of all ages and abilities.

**Parks Policy 1.12.** Offer a diverse range of cultural programming and events within parks that celebrate the community's various cultural traditions and preferences, fostering a sense of belonging and cultural appreciation.

**Parks Strategy 1.a.** Carefully consider the acquisition of lands with characteristics that offer opportunities for diverse recreational uses while ensuring adequate resources are available to maintain and operate these facilities into the future.

**Parks Strategy 1.b.** Create new and foster current partnerships with local, state, and federal government agencies and organizations.

**Parks Strategy 1.c.** Continue to support and maintain the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board to include community involvement and conduct public outreach.

**Parks Strategy 1.d.** Work with qualified tourism and business entities to consider and identify current and future opportunities for public access to natural recreation assets and potential economic benefits that align with County goals and policies.

**Parks Strategy 1.e.** Enhance the Port Gamble Heritage Park Framework with additional environmental and wildlife habitat assessments before planning new major projects within the Park.

**Parks Strategy 1.f.** Implement strategies from the Non-Motorized Facility Plan when investing in the development and maintenance of the park system.

**Parks Strategy 1.g.** Collaborate with transportation agencies to improve public transportation connections to parks, ensuring that individuals without private vehicles have safe and reliable access to recreational opportunities.

**Parks Strategy 1.h.** Develop Park funding allocation criteria in a manner that prioritizes and supports projects aimed at enhancing park accessibility and inclusivity, ensuring equitable distribution of resources throughout the community.

#### Parks Goal 2. Funding

Provide appropriate and necessary funding and resources to support the management and maintenance of parks, facilities, and open space lands of the highest quality possible.

Parks Policy 2.1. Establish stable funding sources to support the County's parks system.

**Parks Policy 2.2.** Facilitate partnerships with community organizations, businesses, non-profits, and other government organizations to promote and maintain parks facilities and open space to help offset expense burdens.

**Parks Policy 2.3.** Encourage the development of multi-use indoor activity centers, through public/private partnerships where possible, to provide year-round recreational opportunities, meeting the needs of the population.

Parks Policy 2.4. Design and develop recreational facilities that require limited maintenance.

**Parks Policy 2.5.** Explore and implement innovative funding and operational methodologies to effectively manage, provide, and enhance quality parks, recreation, and open space experiences, opportunities, and facilities.

**Parks Policy 2.6.** Establish necessary staffing levels to support the growing needs of the Parks Department.



**Parks Policy 2.7.** Invest in upgrades to existing facilities to bring them up to Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) standards.

**Parks Policy 2.8.** Develop and redevelop County parks to accommodate the preferences and needs of all visitors and residents with particular attention to historically marginalized, elderly, persons with disabilities, young, and low-income populations.

**Parks Policy 2.9.** Develop and redevelop County parks in a manner that allows allweather activity where feasible.

**Parks Policy 2.10.** Provide visitor accommodations including trailheads, parking, and restrooms where needed, appropriate, and as funds allow.

**Parks Policy 2.11.** Recognize parks as an important component of Kitsap County's economy, climate resiliency, and quality of life.

**Parks Policy 2.12.** Integrate sustainable practices in park management and maintenance to reduce operational costs and minimize the environmental impact of park facilities.



Photo credit: Kitsap County

**Parks Strategy 2.a.** Implement the Parks, Recreation and Open Space Plan to strategically acquire and develop open space, greenways, and wildlife habitat using allocated funds to ensure responsible and sustainable growth.

**Parks Strategy 2.b.** Provide dedicated funding for parks projects and efforts and to establish a formal, ongoing capital maintenance and improvement program (e.g., countywide metropolitan parks district).

**Parks Strategy 2.c.** Form partnerships with community groups to maintain natural areas and trails collaboratively and effectively.

**Parks Strategy 2.d.** Encourage homeowner associations and property owners to work with parks agencies and land trusts to effectively maintain buffers and open space within and around developments.

**Parks Strategy 2.e.** Prioritize sustainability in all aspects of park planning, development, and maintenance, emphasizing resource efficiency, water conservation, carbon reduction, waste reduction, and environmental awareness.

#### Parks Goal 3. Efficiency

*Establish a land acquisition strategy, including the necessary funding, that will facilitate a more efficient service delivery model.* 

**Parks Policy 3.1.** Prioritize the acquisition of trail corridors that connect parks, schools, residential, and urban areas where financially feasible.

**Parks Policy 3.2.** Integrate reusable grey water in parks, golf courses, and other high use public facilities when feasible.

**Parks Policy 3.3.** Utilize low impact development techniques within Kitsap County Parks when practical.

**Parks Policy 3.4.** Coordinate with Transfer of Development Rights (TDR) program, as needed, for the development of trails in rural areas through acquisitions or easements under the TDR program.

Parks Strategy 3.a. Develop a land acquisition evaluation method to ensure new properties

meet specific criteria such as proximity to urban growth areas, multi-functional corridors, climate resilience, cultural significance, equitable access, and achieve desired goals.

**Parks Strategy 3.b.** Purchase lands along the lower main stem of Chico Creek Watershed as recommended in the Chico Creek Main Stem Restoration Plan.

#### Parks Goal 4. Water Access

Provide physical and visual public access opportunities and space for diverse forms of water-oriented recreation in such a way that private property rights, public safety, and shoreline ecological functions and processes are protected in accordance with existing laws and statutes.

**Parks Policy 4.1.** Support and promote the Kitsap Peninsula Water Trail.

# Kitsap Peninsula Water Trail

Kitsap Peninsula Water Trail, a celebrated segment of the Cascadia Marine Trail, opens over 350 miles of saltwater shoreline on western Puget Sound and Hood Canal to modern day exploration. Kitsap is a destination because of its unique marine environments, natural scenic beauty of mountains and sound, migrating marine mammal populations, and friendly and inviting ports and towns steeped in tradition.

(Source: Washington Water Trails Association)



**Parks Policy 4.2.** Prioritize acquisition of properties that provide access to public tidelands to maximize public access.

**Parks Policy 4.3.** Ensure waterfront facilities and infrastructure are designed to accommodate people of all ages, abilities, and mobility levels.

Parks Policy 4.4. Consider ranges of compatible uses in our regional parks.

**Parks Strategy 4.a.** Identify and consider opportunities to increase public access and foster environmental and economic benefits associated with Kitsap Peninsula Water Trails and designation as part of the National Water Trails System in coordination with other public landowners (e.g. port districts).

**Parks Strategy 4.b.** Conduct accessibility assessments of waterfront facilities and implement improvements, such as accessible pathways, ramps, and seating areas, to ensure equitable access for individuals with diverse mobility needs.

**Parks Strategy 4.c.** Prioritize ecological restoration efforts and adopt best management practices to protect shoreline ecosystems and promote habitat conservation while accommodating water-oriented recreation.

#### **Parks Goal 5. Environmental Compatibility**

*Provide regional parks and open space for passive recreation that preserves the ecological needs of wildlife.* 

#### **Parks Policy 5.1.** Support development of a regional trail system throughout the County and recognize that trails, when built, must be sensitive to the impact on the natural environment.

**Parks Policy 5.2.** Incorporate the Local Habitat Assessment completed by Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife to assist in identifying crucial corridor areas that may not necessarily be identified in the Shoreline Master Program or the Critical Areas Ordinance.



Photo credit: Kitsap County

**Parks Policy 5.3.** When implementing the Parks, Recreation, and Open Space Plan, ensure that coordination with local tribes and other relevant stakeholders occurs to ensure protection of treaty rights and natural and cultural resources.

**Parks Policy 5.4.** Strive to limit conflict between wildlife and humans and decrease impact on habitat by improving identification of protected areas using the Kitsap Natural Resource Asset Management Program as an information source.

**Parks Policy 5.5.** Prioritize redevelopment of existing impacted areas over disturbing undeveloped areas.

**Parks Policy 5.6.** Continue to improve educational efforts and signage regarding the importance of limiting contact with wildlife and the value of habitat preservation.

**Parks Policy 5.7.** Mitigate tree canopy cover loss due to increased development while striving to utilize best forest management practices in restoring areas to maintain green space, enhance carbon sequestration, and mitigate Greenhouse Gas Emissions within Kitsap County Parks.

Parks Policy 5.8. Locate and design trail corridors to also serve wildlife when possible.

**Parks Policy 5.9.** Ensure that the County's Parks, Recreation, and Open Space Plan is consistent with habitat inventories, habitat protection, restoration programs (e.g. 2014 Chico Creek Watershed Assessment for the Identification of Protection and Restoration Actions), natural resource management policies, and County code.

**Parks Policy 5.10.** Incorporate climate resilience principles into park and open space management plans, using adaptive management strategies to monitor and respond to climate-related changes.

**Parks Policy 5.11.** Private properties bordering or adjacent to County parks shall have no legal access to the park from their private property. Only County designated and approved access points will be used for all park visitors.

**Parks Strategy 5.a.** Educate residents on natural resources, forest stewardship, wildlife, and forest ecology, including native flora and fauna indigenous to the Pacific Northwest.

**Parks Strategy 5.b.** Identify both acquisition and preservation opportunities for open space in rural areas.

**Parks Strategy 5.c.** Identify, assess, and prioritize parks resource areas for their suitability for recreational uses and needs for habitat restoration or preservation, utilizing the Kitsap Natural Resource Asset Management Program as a tool.

**Parks Strategy 5.d.** Develop individual forest management plans for regional and heritage parks.

**Parks Strategy 5.e.** Develop a climate sustainability and resiliency management plan for Parks-owned properties.



**Parks Strategy 5.f.** Identify and designate specific areas within regional parks and open spaces that serve as multi-functional corridors, integrating both recreational opportunities and wildlife habitat connectivity.

#### REFERENCES

- Port Gamble Forest Heritage Park Framework
- <u>Chico Creek Watershed Assessment</u>
- Kitsap Peninsula Water Trail
- Shoreline Master Program
- Critical Areas Ordinance
- Transfer of Development Rights
- <u>Kitsap Natural Resource Asset Management</u>
- WDFW Local Habitat Assessment
- Parks, Recreation, and Open Space (PROS) Plan



KITSAP COUNTY ROAD DEPARTMENT

CHAPTER 7

# **Capital Facilities and Utilities Element**



# Chapter 7 / Capital Facilities and Utilities Element

#### VISION

Kitsap County has a vision that public services and facilities are provided in an efficient, high-quality, and timely manner by the County and partner agencies. Public services and facilities are monitored, maintained, and enhanced to meet level of service standards.

#### INTENT

The Capital Facilities and Utilities Element guides planning, funding, and project decisions for unincorporated Kitsap County. With rapid population growth in the County, guidance to plan for sufficient capital facilities and utilities is crucial. The goals, policies, and strategies within this element direct the County and utility providers to stay updated on facility levels and demands in order to meet specific level of service standards and forecasted future needs for public facilities laid out in the Capital Facilities Plan.

Kitsap County chose to combine the Capital Facilities and Utilities Elements together to show how these elements build off each other and create a shared responsibility between County service providers and non-County providers. This shared duty allows the County to create well-coordinated and proactive planning measures that address current and future facility, utility, and service needs.

#### GROWTH MANAGEMENT ACT AND REGIONAL COORDINATION

The County's policy framework for the Capital Facilities and Utilities Element Goals and Policies pulls from the Growth Management Act (GMA), Chapter 36.70A Revised Code of Washington (RCW), Puget Sound Regional Council's (PSRC's) VISION 2050, Kitsap County Countywide Planning Policies (CPPs), and the County's vision.

The Capital Facilities and Utilities elements are two separate elements required under Washington's Growth Management Act. Each element has a unique purpose and set of requirements; however, the two elements share similarities in ways that make addressing them together particularly valuable in ensuring sufficient facilities and utilities are planned to meet population growth for the County.

Capital Facilities GMA Requirements (RCW 36.70A.070(3)):

- an inventory of existing facilities owned by public entities, showing their locations and capacities;
- a forecast of the future needs;
- the proposed locations and capacities of expanded or new capital facilities;

- at least a six-year plan that will finance such capital facilities within projected funding capacities and clearly identifies sources of public money for such purposes; and
- reassessment of the land use element if probable funding falls short of meeting existing needs and to ensure that the land use element, capital facilities plan element, and financing plan within the capital facilities plan element are coordinated and consistent.

Utilities GMA Requirements (RCW 36.70A.070(4)):

• include the general location, proposed location, and capacity of all existing and proposed utilities, including, but not limited to, electrical lines, telecommunication service, and natural gas lines.



Photo credit: Kitsap County

### **RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER ELEMENTS**

Capital Facilities and Utilities goals and policies in this Comprehensive Plan are an integral part of the other elements, including Land Use, Climate Change, Economic Development, Environment, Housing and Human Services, Parks and Recreation, and Transportation. Public services and facilities include, but are not limited to, parks and recreation, law enforcement, fire protection, emergency preparedness,



water/sewer, roads, transit, walk, bike, and roll facilities, ferries, stormwater management, education, library services, health and human services, energy, and telecommunications.

#### BACKGROUND

Technical documents used in development of this Element include an inventory of current public capital facilities, level of service standards and concurrency requirements outlined in the Capital Facilities Plan, the Environmental Impact Statement, the Washington State Growth Management Act, and the Washington Administrative Code.

County, city, Tribal, and special districts provide capital facilities for growth in their respective jurisdictions and have contributed to this element of the Kitsap County Comprehensive Plan. The types of capital facilities and services addressed under this element are included in Table 14.

Capital Facility	Provider(s)
Community Centers	Kitsap County, Cities, Tribes
Corrections Facilities/Law Enforcement	Kitsap County, Tribes
County Buildings	Kitsap County
County Courts (Superior/District)	Kitsap County
Ferries	Washington State, Kitsap Transit
Fire Protection/Emergency Medical Services	Fire Districts
Health and Human Services	Kitsap Public Health District
Hospitals	Virginia Mason Franciscan Health
Libraries	Kitsap Regional Library
Local Roads	Kitsap County
Parks	Kitsap County, Park Districts
State highways	Washington State
Sanitary Sewer	Kitsap County, Districts, Cities
Schools	School Districts
Solid Waste Disposal	Kitsap County
Stormwater Management	Kitsap County, Cities
Telecommunications	Districts, Service Providers
Transit	Kitsap Transit
Water	Districts, Cities
Energy	Puget Sound Energy

#### Table 14. Providers by facility type

#### **KEY TERMS**

**Concurrency** - transportation infrastructure and services must be adequate to support land use, with adequacy defined by locally adopted Level of Service (LOS) standards, i.e., jurisdictions must adopt LOS standards by which the minimum acceptable roadway operating conditions are defined.

**Essential Public Facilities** – those facilities that are typically difficult to site, such as airports, education facilities, transportation facilities, transit facilities, correctional facilities, solid waste facilities, and certain inpatient facilities, such as substance abuse facilities or group homes. The State Office of Financial Management maintains a list of capital projects required or likely to be built in the next six years. Establishment and siting of Essential Public Facilities must be consistent with the GMA provision in RCW 36.70A.200.

**Green Infrastructure** - a wide array of natural assets and built structures, including parks, stormwater management facilities at multiple scales that manage wet weather and that maintain and restore natural hydrology.

**Level of service (LOS)** - a term used to qualitatively describe the operating condition of a roadway, intersection, other infrastructure, or service.



## CAPITAL FACILITIES AND UTILITIES GOALS, POLICIES, AND STRATEGIES

#### **Capital Facilities and Utilities Goal 1. Levels of Service**

Define types of public facilities and services, establish standards for levels of service, and determine what improvements are needed to achieve and maintain those standards.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 1.1.** Coordinate the provision of utilities with future development by designating appropriate sites for utility facilities in a manner that ensures equitable access to all communities and prioritizes addressing disparities for communities that have been historically underserved and disproportionally burdened.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 1.2.** Define level of service standards in the Capital Facilities Plan.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 1.a.** Work with communities and decision makers, where required, to develop level of service standards for each asset.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 1.b.** Measure and monitor levels of service for public facilities and services at regular intervals to ensure the County has the data it needs to make changes in the capital improvement program or to levels of service standards.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 1.c**. Use available environmental equity tools (e.g., PSRC's toolkit, Kitsap County's Equity Atlas) to assist in prioritizing investments that address disparities.

#### **Capital Facilities and Utilities Goal 2. Essential Public Facilities**

#### Implement a countywide process for siting essential public facilities.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 2.1.** Coordinate with jurisdictions and communities that may be impacted by the siting of essential public facilities.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 2.2.** Essential public capital facilities such as schools and libraries that generate substantial travel demand should first be considered in Urban Growth Areas (UGAs) and then, along or near major transportation corridors and public transportation routes.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 2.3.** Public facilities located beyond UGAs should be selfcontained or be served by urban governmental services in a manner that will not promote sprawl. Utility and service consideration must be incorporated into site planning and development.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 2.4.** Establish regulations for development that promote sewer connectivity between UGA parcels or tracts.



**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 2.5.** Essential public facilities for sewage disposal shall adhere to local health district and state agency rules regarding commercial and industrial use of on-site sewage systems.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 2.6.** Essential public facilities in designated resource lands, critical areas, or other areas should be carefully considered and other alternatives assessed.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 2.7.** Preserve and promote expansion of access to air transportation facilities in Kitsap County.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 2.8.** Promote the health and safety of the community and airport users through compatible land use planning adjacent to airports.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 2.9.** The siting or expansion of essential public facilities must mitigate its impacts on the environment and public health, prioritizing the minimization of adverse impacts on historically marginalized populations and disproportionally burdened communities.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 2.10.** Consider the effects of climate change, including enhanced risk from sea level rise, flooding, wildfire, and urban heat island, when evaluating and siting essential public facilities.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 2.a.** Develop a process for coordinating with cities, public agencies and special districts, the siting and evaluation of Essential Public Facilities within the County.

This evaluation should consider:

- The impacts created by existing facilities;
- The potential for reshaping the economy, the environment, and community character;
- The development of site-specific siting criteria for the proposed project, giving priority consideration to siting within Centers;
- The identification, analysis, and ranking of potential project sites;
- Measures to first minimize and second mitigate potential physical impacts including but not limited to those relating to land use, natural environment, transportation, utilities, noise, odor, and public health and safety;
- Measures to first minimize and second to mitigate potential fiscal impacts;
- Impacts to historically underserved communities and those facing disproportionate burdens when siting or expanding public facilities.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 2.b.** Use health impact assessment, equity, and other tools to evaluate health and other equity impacts to communities when evaluating potential sites for essential public facilities.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 2.c.** When completing and implementing plans for designated centers, ensure that important capital facilities that serve new housing and employment growth in the centers can be accommodated within or directly adjacent to those centers.

#### **Capital Facilities and Utilities Goal 3. Concurrency**

Ensure that those public facilities and services necessary to support development are adequate to serve that development at the time it is available for occupancy and use without decreasing service levels below locally established minimum standards.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 3.1.** Follow the established requirements for concurrency as defined in <u>WAC 365-196-840.</u>

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 3.2.** Consider amendments to the Comprehensive Plan if a development is to be denied based on concurrency.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 3.a.** Develop concurrency management standards, including timing and costs, for the development review process to provide required services.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 3.b.** Identify and address level of service deficiencies in terms of identified funding, adjustment to the level of service standard, or placing conditions on development.

#### **Capital Facilities and Utilities Goal 4. Funding**

# *Ensure adequate public facilities are available by providing needed capital improvements; maintain a financially feasible schedule of capital improvements in the Capital Facilities Plan.*

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 4.1.** Provide public facilities or accept independent public facilities which meet County standards only when the County or other providers can pay for subsequent operating and maintenance costs of the facility.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 4.2.** Ensure that existing development funds improvements to address any existing deficiencies in the system.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 4.3.** Ensure future development funds its proportionate share of the capital improvements needed to service the increment of new demand it generates and the cost of the replacement of obsolete or worn-out facilities.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 4.4.** Ensure that impact fees for future development only fund the impacts of the demand related to it rather than reduce or eliminate existing deficiencies at the time of approval.



#### **Capital Facilities and Utilities**

**Policy 4.5**. Balance limited financial and physical resources with regularly scheduled maintenance and necessary upgrades needed for operation of existing facilities to ensure efficient use.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 4.6.** The estimated costs of all needed capital improvements should not exceed conservative estimates of revenues from sources that are available to the County under current law.



Photo credit: Kitsap County

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 4.7.** Determine priorities between facilities of different types and between facilities of the same type as follows:

- Use maintenance and funding allocation plans for capital facilities to prioritize investments in maintenance of existing facilities and revise these plans from time to time. This should include a range of cost estimates in accordance with Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 4.6.
- Convene representatives of Public Works, Sheriff, Administration, Community Development, Auditor, and other County Departments/Offices to develop a coordinated set of principles and a process to evaluate and prioritize capital projects, particularly those that share related funding sources. The following interim principals are proposed:
- Facilities of different types. Legal restrictions on the use of many revenue sources limit the extent to which types of facilities compete for priority with other types of facilities because they do not compete for the same revenues. All capital improvements that are necessary for achieving and maintaining a standard for levels of service adopted in this Capital Facilities Element are included in the financially feasible schedule of capital improvements contained in the Capital Facilities Plan (CFP). The relative priorities among types of public facilities (e.g., roads, sanitary sewer, etc.) were established by adjusting the standards for levels of service and the available revenue until the resulting public facilities needs became financially feasible. This process is repeated with each update of the Kitsap CFP, thus allowing for changes in priorities among types of public facilities.
- **Facilities of the same type.** Capital improvements within a type of public facility should be evaluated on the following criteria and considered in the order of priority listed below. Establish the final priority of all capital facility improvements using the following criteria as general guidelines. Any revenue source that cannot be used for a high priority facility

should be used beginning with the highest priority for which the revenue can legally be expended.

- I. <u>Preservation</u> Reconstruction, rehabilitation, remodeling, renovation, or replacement of obsolete or worn-out facilities that contribute to achieving or maintaining standards for levels of service adopted in this Plan.
- II. <u>Capacity</u> New or expanded facilities that reduce or eliminate deficiencies in levels of service for existing demand. Expenditures in this priority category include equipment, furnishings, and other improvements necessary for the completion of a public facility (e.g., recreational facilities and park sites).
- III. <u>Safety</u> New public facilities, and improvements to existing public facilities that eliminate public hazards if hazards were not otherwise eliminated by facility improvements prioritized according to Policies a or b, above.
- IV. <u>Support Development</u> New or expanded facilities that provide the adopted levels of service for new development and redevelopment during the next six fiscal years, as updated by the regular review of the CFP no less frequently than every 2 years. The County may acquire land or right-of-way in advance of the need to develop a facility for new development. The location of facilities constructed pursuant to this policy should conform to the Land Use Element and specific project locations must serve projected growth areas within the allowable land use categories. If the planned capacity of public facilities is insufficient to serve all applicants for development permits, the capital improvements are scheduled to serve the following priority order:
  - a. previously approved permits for redevelopment,
  - b. previously approved permits for new development,
  - c. new permits for redevelopment, and
  - d. new permits for new development.
- V. <u>Cost Reduction</u> Improvements to existing facilities and new facilities that significantly reduce the operating cost of providing a service or facility or otherwise mitigate impacts of public facilities on future operating budgets.
- VI. <u>Growth</u> New facilities that exceed the adopted levels of service for new growth during the next six fiscal years by either
  - e. providing excess public facility capacity needed by future growth beyond the next six fiscal years, or
  - f. providing higher quality public facilities than are contemplated in the County's normal design criteria for such facilities.
- VII. <u>Legal Obligations</u> Facilities not described in Policies a through f, above, but which the County is obligated to complete, as evidenced by a written agreement the County executed prior to the adoption of this Plan.



All facilities scheduled for construction or improvement under this policy are evaluated to identify any plans of state or local governments or districts that affect the proposed County capital improvement.

Project evaluation may also involve additional criteria that are unique to each type of public facility as described in other sections of this element.

#### **Capital Facilities and Utilities Goal 5. Coordinated with Development**

*Coordinate capital facilities improvements with land development.* 

Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 5.1. Manage the land development process to ensure that new development meets the public facility levels of service standards, prioritizing improvements for historically underserved communities to meet adopted standards.



**Capital Facilities and Utilities** 

**Policy 5.2.** In accordance with Kitsap County Health District and

Photo credit: Kitsap County

Washington State requirements, require connection to a public sewer system for new or extensively remodeled development located within 200 feet of a public sewer system.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 5.3.** Ensure that development regulations require timely development of utility facility additions and improvements, and evaluate need to offsite improvements to be constructed by projects that exceed planned system capacities.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 5.4.** Utilize the most up-to-date utility information provided by service providers to assist in the analysis of the effects of climate change.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 5.5.** Ensure the coordination of capital improvements and land development is conducted in a manner that is accessible to all communities, especially those that have been historically underserved and marginalized, and provides clear, transparent, and timely information for impacted parties.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 5.6.** Consider the use of alternative sewage treatment techniques in areas that contain a significant concentration of critical areas, will be impacted by extreme rain and coastal flooding, or which have topographic challenges or critical aquifer recharge areas.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 5.a.** Implement the schedule of capital improvements in the Capital Facilities Plan.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 5.b.** Review stormwater regulations and design manuals as required by state law to ensure that Kitsap County is using the most up-to-date Best Management Practices in accordance with changes in state and federal stormwater regulations.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 5.c.** Conduct an inventory of drainage basins through the Stormwater Division of Public Works to investigate existing and future stormwater drainage problems that may result from extreme precipitation or coastal flooding events.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 5.d.** Use a health impact assessment or other equity tools to ensure communities that have been historically underserved and marginalized are included in the capital improvements planning process early and often.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 5.e.** Regularly coordinate collection, integration, and maintenance of Geographic Information System (GIS) utility data among providers to ensure information on facility locations and capacities is consistent and up to date.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 5.f.** On a yearly basis, propose any capital facilities or utilities Comprehensive Plan changes in the annual Docket and consider Plan amendments and related amendments to regulations consistent with RCW 36.70A.130.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 5.g.** Evaluate requiring sewage treatment prior to drainfield treatment, either individually or for a community, in urban and rural areas.

#### **Capital Facilities and Utilities Goal 6. Utility Efficiency**

Ensure utilities are provided in an efficient, coordinated, and timely manner to meet the needs of the County's current and future population.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 6.1.** Designate utility corridors and facilities in a manner consistent with the needs and resources of Kitsap County.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 6.2.** Encourage siting of large, above ground utilities (e.g., antennas, towers) in industrial or commercial areas or along appropriate transportation and utility corridors.



**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 6.3.** Support the use of alternative sanitary sewer techniques within Urban Growth Areas, such as package plants, membrane, and drip systems, and/or community drain fields, in areas where public sewer systems may be more than 200 feet away.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 6.a.** Evaluate requiring sewage treatment prior to drainfield, either individually or for a community, in urban and rural areas.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 6.b.** Assess and plan for any impacts of climate change on sewer capacity, with coastal flooding and extreme rain events, through climate mitigation and adaption measures.

#### **Capital Facilities and Utilities Goal 7. Service Quality**

#### Maintain and enhance utility service and quality.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 7.1.** Coordinate with utility providers to eliminate existing gaps or deficiencies in utility service and quality through enhancements, repairs, and replacements of obsolete or worn-out facilities to meet the needs of current and future development.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 7.2.** In coordination between the County and utility providers, ensure that repairs and replacements of utilities are made to improve utility resilience to climate impacts, prioritizing improvements in areas that are disproportionately affected by climate change.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 7.3.** Support utility programs and investments that reduce greenhouse gas emissions and increase energy conservation, including the retrofit of existing buildings, expansion of alternative/clean energy within the public and private sector, and the use of environmentally sustainable building techniques and materials.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 7.a.** Inventory existing deficiencies in service and quality in partnership with utility providers and the Kitsap County community.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 7.b.** In coordination with utility providers, evaluate the fiscal cost of eliminating deficiencies in service, enhancing service quality, increasing resiliency, and reducing emission levels.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 7.c.** Coordinate with community members and utility providers in developing an equity-driven approach to eliminate service deficiencies in Kitsap County.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 7.d.** Utilize health impact or equity tools (e.g., those developed by PSRC, Kitsap County's Equity Atlas) parties when evaluating service deficiencies.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 7.e.** When making improvements to increase resiliency of utilities, evaluate how changes to the following hazards could change the lifespan

and/or replacement cycle for facilities and equipment: sea level rise, flooding, wildfire, and urban heat island.

#### **Capital Facilities and Utilities Goal 8. Environmental Protection**

#### Minimize environmental impacts of utility facilities and operations.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 8.1.** Evaluate opportunities for groundwater quality and quantity enhancement that may be provided by sewer plants and septic systems.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 8.2.** Continue to utilize emerging science and technologies to mitigate impacts from pollutants, increased rain events, and coastal flooding that may occur with these systems."

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 8.3.** Evaluate and mitigate the environmental health impacts in facilities development, including efficient use of energy, water, and materials, waste reduction, protection of environmental quality, and ecologically sensitive site selection and development.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 8.4.** Evaluate, minimize, and mitigate unavoidable impacts to groundwater and surface water quality and quantity during the planning and development review process.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 8.5.** Analyze the cumulative impacts of existing and future capital facilities and utilities development on groundwater and surface water quantity and quality.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 8.6.** Ensure utility project designs address the extent of and mitigate for the recharge-limiting effect of impermeable surfaces and other factors affecting groundwater and surface water quantity and quality and consider increased flooding and rain events due to climate change.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 8.7.** Support Kitsap Public Health District efforts to correct failing on-site sewage systems and address the impacts of heavier and more frequent rainfall events on on-site sewage systems and public health.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 8.8.** Explore the use of green infrastructure wherever practical to reduce impacts on the environment, to manage wet weather and maintain and restore natural hydrology.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 8.9.** Minimize the visual impact of utility facilities on view corridors, vistas, and adjacent properties by evaluating new or progressive design standards for cellular towers, antennas, power lines, and other types of utility facilities.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 8.10.** Protect the quality and quantity of groundwater used for domestic water supplies.



**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 8.a.** Utilize watershed and basin plans as a means of reducing stormwater impacts and nonpoint pollution.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 8.b.** Explore long-term plans for stormwater controls at the watershed level and coordinate with neighboring jurisdictions. This should include consideration of facility capacity for increased extreme rain events and coastal flooding due to climate change.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 8.c.** Expand the use of underground utilities and coordinate utility placement with road improvements.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 8.d.** Participate in regional efforts to achieve Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDLs) for local water bodies as required by the Clean Water Act. Take steps to reduce nonpoint sources of pollution to Puget Sound and other water bodies.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 8.e.** Consider and adapt to the impacts of climate change on TMDLs and nonpoint source pollution due to increased rain events, coastal flooding, as well as potential impacts to utility facilities.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 8.f.** Review and if necessary, update previously adopted plans (2004 Groundwater Management Plan and Coordinated Water System Plan) to be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.

#### **Capital Facilities and Utilities Goal 9. Urban Facilities**

#### Provide adequate public facilities to Urban Growth Areas.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 9.1.** Require urban-level sanitary sewer or equivalent service in all Urban Growth Areas.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 9.2.** Utilize existing capital facilities and utilities infrastructure more efficiently and cost effectively by incorporating energy conservation and alternative energy methods where feasible.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 9.3.** Research and explore tools and methods for capital facilities and amenities to meet or exceed the baseline goals needed to address growth needs.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 9.4.** Provide capital facilities that will serve the most pressing needs of the greatest number of Kitsap County community members through an equitable decision-making process that considers disparities across marginalized communities.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 9.5.** Plan for appropriate locations for future satellite offices for Kitsap County Sheriff's Office.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 9.6.** Promote the siting of schools, institutions, and other community facilities that primarily serve urban populations within the urban growth area in locations where they will promote the local desired growth plans, except as provided for by RCW 36.70A.211.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 9.a.** Update county-owned and operated sewer facility plans to include capacity demand and needs, and also major collection or conveyance systems for the 2044 planning horizon, while accounting for extreme precipitation and coastal flooding events.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 9.b.** Prioritize Kitsap County expenditures for public services and facilities in Urban Growth Areas as an incentive to encourage development in urban areas.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 9.c.** Negotiate with municipalities and other providers of public facilities to coordinate planning for and development of Urban Growth Areas.

#### **Capital Facilities and Utilities Goal 10. Rural Facilities**

#### Provide adequate public facilities to rural areas.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 10.1.** Ensure that public facilities provided in rural areas are compatible with rural character and are at a level, scale, and in locations that do not encourage urban expansion or development pressure.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 10.2.** Coordinate with tribal governments, jurisdictions, and agencies to support the County as the preferred provider for rural services, agricultural services, services for natural resource areas, and regional services including hazard mitigation and emergency response planning.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 10.3.** Promote affordable and equitable access to rural public services for all residents and employers in unincorporated rural Kitsap County, especially the historically underserved.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 10.a.** Establish level of service standards in the rural area that are appropriate for rural land use and development patterns.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 10.b.** Use data on underserved populations to help prioritize investments in rural infrastructure.



#### **Capital Facilities and Utilities Goal 11. Adaptation and Resilience**

Support efforts to increase the resilience of public services, utilities, and infrastructure by preparing for disasters and other impacts and having a coordinated plan for system recovery.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 11.1**. Plan for the adaptation and mitigation of the impacts of climate change, including sea-level rise, flooding, wildfire hazards, and urban heat on all new and existing development, infrastructure, and services.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 11.2.** New electrical distribution lines should be installed underground where feasible to increase resilience. Encourage underground placement of existing distribution lines through such tools as local improvement districts.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 11.a.** Develop a climate change, resiliency, and mitigation plan that assesses the vulnerabilities of vital County assets and that is coordinated with the cities, tribes, federal, and regional jurisdictions.

Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 11.b.

Coordinate the development of community public safety plans with appropriate jurisdictions, agencies, tribes, service providers, and community organizations to address public health impacts,

# How has Kitsap County studied climate change resiliency?

Kitsap County completed a Climate Change Resiliency Assessment in 2020 as a step toward identifying and mitigating the impacts of climate change. See the assessment here: <u>Climate Change Resiliency</u> <u>Assessment (2020)</u>

especially for most vulnerable populations, during system outages induced by climate impacts.

#### Capital Facilities and Utilities Goal 12. Energy Sustainability and Resilience

Support plentiful, cost-effective environmentally friendly energy generation and promote energy conservation.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 12.1.** Support renewable energy incentives to businesses and groups for a comprehensive renewable energy effort.

#### **Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy**

**12.2.** Encourage alternative energy production as appropriate in urban and rural areas that are consistent with their respective zoning.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 12.3.** Support green building and retrofit of existing public buildings and facilities.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 12.4.** Encourage electrification and decarbonization of the transportation system.



Photo credit: Kitsap County

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 12.5.** Coordinate with local energy utilities to assess energy generation needs of the Kitsap Peninsula.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 12.a.** Integrate energy conservation and efficiency measures into County-sponsored capital improvement projects to reduce operating costs.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 13.b.** Install electric vehicle charging stations at county-owned facilities and develop programs to incentivize their construction on private property.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 12.c.** Encourage replacement of County fleet vehicles with electric vehicles at regularly scheduled replacement intervals as appropriate.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 12.d.** Support development of alternative power generation, especially environmentally friendly methods, to supplement Kitsap County's power grid.

#### **Capital Facilities and Utilities Goal 13. Communication**

Support efforts through private and public organizations to extend high-tech services including power and telecommunications.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 13.1.** Support the extension of fiber optic cable in Kitsap County.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 13.2.** Support the expansion of telecommunication infrastructure in accordance with Federal Communications Commission regulations and guidance to provide access to residents and businesses in all communities, especially underserved areas.



**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 13.a.** Dedicate funding and resources to provide Wi-Fi and internet connection services within Kitsap County Parks for the public and in support of maintenance and operations.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 13.b.** Coordinate with providers to ensure affordable and trustworthy broadband services are available to residents and businesses currently underserved.



Photo credit: Kitsap County

#### **Capital Facilities and Utilities Goal 14. Community Enhancement**

#### Integrate social, educational, and cultural components in public facilities whenever possible.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 14.1.** Support and promote public art in all of Kitsap's communities.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 14.2.** Support organizations and services that improve social, community, cultural, and health outcomes.

Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 14.3. Enhance awareness of social determinates of health.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Policy 14.4.** Coordinate the design of public buildings and spaces in a manner that contributes to a sense of community.

Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 14.a. Establish an Arts and Culture Commission.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 14.b.** Connect residents with organizations and services that fill gaps where the County is limited.
**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 14.c.** Create opportunities for organizations to fill social, educational, health, and cultural gaps in public services and facilities.

**Capital Facilities and Utilities Strategy 14.d.** Feature the work of local artists, especially those from historically marginalized communities, in public art projects whenever possible.

#### REFERENCES

- <u>Capital Facilities Plan</u>
- 2004 Groundwater Management Plan
- <u>Coordinated Water System Plan, 2005 Revision</u>





### CHAPTER 8

# Climate Change Element

# Chapter 8 / Climate Change Element

#### VISION

County services, local economy, communities, and natural resources and systems are resilient to a changing climate and County greenhouse gas emissions are reduced consistent with regional goals.

#### INTENT

Climate change has already affected and will continue to affect the infrastructure, natural systems, economy, culture, safety, and livelihood of people who live, work, and play in Kitsap County. Kitsap County has experienced measurable and observable climate change trends and impacts including extreme heat, coastal flooding, and wildlife smoke. The intent of this element is to provide a consolidated policy framework related to climate issues that is essential to facilitating planning for the County and to assist in meeting the planning goals of the Growth Management Act.

#### **GROWTH MANAGEMENT ACT & REGIONAL COORDINATION**

The Growth Management Act includes 15 goals to guide the development and adoption of comprehensive plans and regulations, with climate change and resiliency being the most recently added following the adoption of House Bill 1181. RCW 36.70A.020 was amended during the 2023 state legislative session to include the following goal for climate change and resiliency:

Ensure that comprehensive plans, development regulations, and regional policies, plans, and strategies ... adapt to and mitigate the effects of a changing climate; support reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and per capita vehicle miles traveled; prepare for climate impact scenarios; foster resilience to climate impacts and natural hazards; protect and enhance environmental, economic, and human health and safety; and advance environmental justice.

Climate change is a key focus area for the 2024 Comprehensive Plan update. The County is taking a proactive approach to addressing climate change impacts. This element includes sub-elements focused on climate resilience and adaptation and greenhouse gas emissions reductions. Further, the element includes a variety of measures intended to advance environmental justice.



#### **RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER ELEMENTS**

Climate change related goals, policies, and strategies are found throughout the other elements of the Comprehensive Plan. Goals and policies that are specifically related to Climate Change, rather than incidentally related, appear in this element.



Photo credit: Kitsap County

#### BACKGROUND

Kitsap County has recently completed assessments and studies to understand the impact of climate change on both built and natural systems. These assessments and studies help clarify the areas in which mitigation and resiliency planning is most needed. The findings of these assessments and studies, summarized below, in conjunction with other resources informed the development of this new Climate Change element.

#### Kitsap County Climate Change Resiliency Assessment, 2020

Kitsap County completed a Climate Change Resiliency Assessment in June 2020 in partnership with the cities of Bremerton and Port Orchard. The assessment is based on the best available science at the time and considers the probability of a wide range of impacts as they apply to Kitsap County including public health, infrastructure, agriculture, hydrology and hydrogeology, economy, land use and

development, cultural resources, habitat, local government finance, geologic and natural hazards, and wildfire. The assessment prioritizes risks to Kitsap County's residents, environment, economy, built environment, and infrastructure due to climate change. It provides a basis for future resiliency planning and information for Kitsap County agencies to prioritize specific threats. The analysis narrowed the range of possible impacts to a set of probable impacts and provides a high-level assessment and prioritization based on probability, timing, and magnitude.

Figure 28. GHG Emissions Sources, 2022



# Kitsap County Community Wide Geographic Greenhouse Gas Emissions Inventory and Analysis, 2022

Kitsap County completed a greenhouse gas inventory that quantifies the annual emissions produced within the County's boundaries due to activities such as on-road transportation, tree loss, and energy consumption. The inventory and analysis provide a comprehensive update of Kitsap County's geographic greenhouse gas emissions for 2019. The report includes a progress update of historical trends and progress towards emission reduction goals, a contribution analysis to explore drivers of changes in emissions between 2015 and 2019, and a wedge analysis that shows estimated emissions reductions from existing policies and additional reduction needs to meet regionwide and countywide climate goals.

Based on 2019 data, Kitsap County's total greenhouse gas emissions were 3.2 million metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent (MTCO2e). As shown in Figure 28 on the previous page, five main sectors produced the greenhouse gas emissions. From 2015 to 2019, Kitsap County's overall emissions increased by approximately 16 percent.



Federal and state policies have already been passed to address some key emission sources. For example, the state Clean Energy Transformation Act sets milestones for all electric utilities serving retail customers to be carbon neutral by 2030 and to provide energy free of greenhouse gas emissions by 2045. The act requires utilities to eliminate coal-fired electricity from state portfolios.

Future forecasts indicate that the biggest emissions sources in 2050 will result from tree loss and agriculture, natural gas, mobile sources such as on-road vehicles, aviation, and off-road equipment, and solid waste disposal. Forecasts indicate that in 2050 there will still be an emissions gap of approximately 690,000 MTCO2e that the County will need to close in order to meet the regional greenhouse gas emissions reduction goal.

#### **KEY TERMS**

**Urban Forest** - land in and around urban growth areas occupied or potentially occupied by trees and associated vegetation. Urban forest land may be planted or unplanted, used or unused, and includes public and private lands, lands along transportation and utility corridors, and forested watershed lands within populated areas.

**Tree Cover** - the biophysical presence of trees including natural forests or plantations existing over a range of densities. Data used for analysis defined tree cover as any vegetation taller than 16.4 feet.

**Frontline community** - a community that often face the first and worst impacts of climate change or will experience disproportionately higher climate-related health risks. These groups of people include children, elderly people, Tribal and Indigenous peoples, outdoor laborers, people experiencing homelessness, and people with chronic illnesses, among others.

**Neighborhood Gathering Sites** - a meeting point designated in a neighborhood to gather volunteers and to establish a point to drop-off resources after a disaster.

#### CLIMATE RESILIENCE AND ADAPTATION SUB-ELEMENT

Climate resilience is the ongoing process of anticipating, preparing for, and adapting to changes in climate and minimizing negative impacts to our natural systems, infrastructure, and communities. Climate resilience and adaptation goals and policies aim to improve the resiliency of Kitsap County's natural and built assets and communities to the negative impacts of climate change.

The goals and policies in this sub-element are organized by systems that are most vulnerable to and at risk of current and future climate change impacts based on the 2020 Kitsap County Climate Change Resiliency Assessment. Additionally, this sub-element includes Emergency Preparedness and Response goals and policies.

These systems include:

- Emergency Preparedness and Response Community preparedness, response, and recovery adaptation is needed as the impacts of heat waves, drought, flooding, wildfires, and water shortages on individuals and households are likely to increase with the changing climate.
- Public Health Harmful algal blooms, seawater intrusion due to sea level rise, nearshore flooding which impacts wells and onsite septic systems, respiratory illnesses from wildfire smoke, temperature related health issues from intense heat waves, zoonotic diseases and groundwater recharge changes which affect onsite septic systems and wells are the most likely impacts to public health due to climate change. Food insecurity and health issues could increase for people with natural resource-related occupations, such as fishing, forestry, agriculture, recreation, service industries, and construction. Frontline communities, or communities that often face the first and worst impacts of climate change, have and will continue to experience disproportionately higher climate-related health risks. These groups of people include the elderly, children, communities of color, people with chronic illnesses, Tribal and Indigenous peoples, and outdoor laborers, and people with low incomes.
- **Economy** Values of property in low-lying or coastal areas may be adversely affected from future flooding and sea level rise. A wide variety of industries may be affected in the future, including construction and development, manufacturing, food and hospitality services, and natural resource economies. Displacement of workers due to flooding, extreme heat, fire, and other natural hazards exacerbated by climate change results in lost wages and productivity.
- **Cultural Resources** Historical sites and buildings, parks, waterfronts, and archaeological sites are likely to be damaged from future flooding, extreme heat, and shifting precipitation patterns. Flooding, habitat shifts, and impacts to certain species such as salmon will have cultural and health impacts for tribes.
- **Public Infrastructure** Coastal flooding impacts from a combination of sea level rise, storm surges, and heavy precipitation events can result in substantial physical, ecological, and



infrastructure damage. This includes flooding of transportation routes, damage to waterfronts, inundation and saltwater intrusion of wastewater infrastructure, impacts to onsite sewage systems, impacts to drinking water wells, and overload of stormwater systems.

- Land Use and Development Future urbanization and the increased use of impervious pavements are likely to increase the probability and severity of climate impacts such as urban flood events. Land use and vegetation cover may also shift with warmer temperatures and changing precipitation patterns, which may have secondary effects on natural flood control, urban heat island effect, and wildfire risk.
- Hydrology and Hydrogeology Intense precipitation events, changes in seasonal precipitation patterns, higher water temperatures, changing streamflow patterns, less groundwater recharge, and declining water quality have implications for ecosystems, infrastructure, agriculture, and local communities.
- Geologic and Natural Hazards Landslide risk will likely increase due to heavier rain events, soil erosion and destabilization, and sediment transport patterns. Bluff erosion rates may accelerate from winter storms, storm surges, sea level rise, and heavy rain events. Increased rates of bluff erosion will have long-term implications for properties, roads, and habitat on bluffs.
- **Habitat** Future climate change will likely alter terrestrial, freshwater, marine, and coastal habitats. These habitat changes will have a wide range of impacts to sensitive species and ecological processes. The prevalence of invasive species and diseases is likely to increase.
- Wildfire Wildfire risk is growing for Kitsap County under future climate conditions. New development within or adjacent to previously undeveloped (wildland) areas increases the risk of larger, more frequent, and destructive fires in susceptible areas and increases the likelihood that fires will spread uncontrolled across large areas and broad landscapes.

### CLIMATE RESILIENCE AND ADAPTATION GOALS AND POLICIES

#### **Climate Change Goal 1. Emergency preparedness and response**

In collaboration with tribes and local emergency management programs, enhance emergency preparedness, prevention, response, and recovery efforts and mitigate the impacts associated with extreme weather and other hazards worsened by climate change.

**Climate Change Policy 1.1.** Collaborate with Kitsap County Department of Emergency Management to plan and implement the Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan (2020) and Hazard Identification and Vulnerability Assessment (2019).

**Climate Change Policy 1.2.** Support all hazard emergency preparedness, planning, and resiliency programs to reduce the impacts of climate change, such as heat waves, drought, flooding, wildfires, and water shortages on individuals and households.

**Climate Change Policy 1.3.** Ensure emergency evacuation procedures, including safe evacuation routes and arrival destinations exist, are in place, adequate to ensure life-safety, are known and accessible during flooding, wildfires, and other emergencies.

**Climate Change Strategy 1.a.** Develop policy recommendations to support mitigation efforts.

**Climate Change Strategy 1.b.** Support development of mitigation funds for homeowners to raise properties or relocate out of flood zones or areas frequently flooded due to sea level rise.

**Climate Change Strategy 1.c.** Support alternatives to and community education on the dangers of fireworks in collaboration with tribes and local emergency management programs and fire districts.

**Climate Change Strategy 1.d.** Facilitate development of objectives and strategies to improve resilience in vulnerable populations and frontline communities.

**Climate Change Strategy 1.e.** Facilitate development of disaster shelters that could be operated to provide life-safety respite during events where normal severe weather shelters cannot be opened.

**Climate Change Strategy 1.f.** Manage and remove debris during and after a disaster to reduce the risks of subsequent fire, flood, injury, contamination of waterways, blocking public safety access, and disease vectors.

**Climate Change Strategy 1.g.** Develop and expand hazard specific public information and outreach programs in coordination with County first responders, law enforcement, public and private agencies, local emergency management departments, Kitsap Public Health District, and Department of Community Development. Include the expansion of address searchable Geographic Information System (GIS) hazard maps and mitigation strategies for property owners.



**Climate Change Strategy 1.h.** Identify locations within the County using available technology to aid in finding people, such as unhoused encampments, and emergencies that do not have a physical address.

**Climate Change Strategy 1.i.** Develop a comprehensive countywide wildfire mitigation and protection strategy in collaboration with County residents, local fire marshals and code authorities, fire districts and departments, emergency management agencies, public and private utility providers, public schools, evacuation maps, and community warning systems.

**Climate Change Strategy 1.j.** Identify key evacuation sites to provide emergency sheltering during mandatory evacuations.

**Climate Change Strategy 1.k.** Develop eco-friendly paved bike routes to offer alternative transportation options and serve as emergency routes when primary roadways are blocked.

**Climate Change Strategy 1.I.** Identify locations that can serve as "resilience hubs," community-serving facilities augmented to support multiple Neighborhood Gathering Sites for residents and coordinate resource distribution and services before, during, or after a natural hazard event.

**Climate Change Strategy 1.m.** Explore locations for permanent Neighborhood Emergency Supplies and Tools (NEST) kits for use by KCDEM volunteers and staff to use during declared emergencies.

#### **Climate Change Goal 2. Public health**

Protect community health and well-being from the impacts of climate-exacerbated hazards, prioritizing focus on overburdened communities, and ensuring that the most vulnerable residents do not bear disproportionate health impacts.

**Climate Change Policy 2.1.** Prioritize options for at-risk community members during wildfire smoke, extreme heat events, and flooding.

**Climate Change Policy 2.2.** Promote mitigation actions in flood-prone areas where wastewater systems and drinking water supplies may be compromised.

**Climate Change Policy 2.3.** Ensure public health and safety data related to climate change impacts are tracked, evaluated, and used for adaptive management of strategies and actions.

**Climate Change Strategy 2.a.** Support the Kitsap Public Health District in providing education and information to the community about the public health impacts of wildfire smoke and flooding.

**Climate Change Strategy 2.b.** Incentivize infrastructure updates (e.g., HVAC improvements) that protect against wildfire smoke for facilities that serve at-risk populations. Connect interested parties to grant resources as they become available for facilities to make improvements.

**Climate Change Strategy 2.c.** Support the Kitsap Public Health District in providing educational materials to the community on available air quality assistance and resources such as filter fans.

**Climate Change Strategy 2.d.** Amplify messaging from official agency watches and warnings to County residents about air quality and recommended actions to reduce exposure to wildfire smoke and particulate matter.

**Climate Change Strategy 2.e.** Incorporate wastewater and drinking water mitigation measures for new construction.

**Climate Change Strategy 2.f.** Support the Kitsap Public Health District in assessing onsite septic systems vulnerability to mitigate potential groundwater contamination.

**Climate Change Strategy 2.g.** Support the Kitsap Public Health District in assessing drinking water system vulnerability to sea level rise and provide information to the community about likely impacted areas to protect against salt water intrusion.

**Climate Change Strategy 2.h.** Work with Kitsap Public Health District and Kitsap County Department of Emergency Management to develop and implement a wildfire smoke resilience strategy in partnership with Kitsap County residents, tribes, state, county, and city emergency management partners, Puget Sound Clean Air Agency, and other partners.

**Climate Change Strategy 2.i.** Develop a program to provide emergency cooling and/or airpurifying resources to vulnerable populations.

**Climate Change Strategy 2.j.** Promote monitoring and mitigation actions for increased public health impacts due to climate change including those of the Kitsap Public Health District.

**Climate Change Strategy 2.k.** Support the Kitsap Public Health District's tracking of climate change related health indictors as part of their ongoing community health assessment.

**Climate Change Strategy 2.I.** Support the Kitsap Public Health District in providing educational materials and public health advisories to the community about harmful algae blooms (HABs) to minimize exposure.

**Climate Change Strategy 2.m.** Support the Kitsap Public Health District's efforts to provide educational materials and public health advisories to the community about increasing zoonotic diseases related to climate change.



#### **Climate Change Goal 3. Economy**

Shoreline properties, port districts, maritime industries, and businesses in general are resilient to impacts of climate change.

**Climate Change Policy 3.1.** Ensure development of Kitsap's shoreline and waterfront economy is resilient to coastal flooding and sea level rise.

Climate Change Policy 3.2. Support workers displaced due to impacts of climate change.

**Climate Change Policy 3.3.** Support relocation or elevating of businesses in future inundation areas.

**Climate Change Strategy 3.a.** Assess the impacts of sea level rise on economic resources and develop strategies to mitigate the impacts.

**Climate Change Strategy 3.b.** Support development of programs that provide incentives or relief from impacts of climate change.

#### **Climate Change Goal 4. Cultural resources**

Cultural resources including historical sites and buildings, parks, waterfronts, and archaeological sites are protected from climate change impacts.

**Climate Change Policy 4.1.** Protect and preserve historical and archaeological sites from climate impacts.

**Climate Change Strategy 4.a.** Develop and implement a historic preservation plan that includes identification of climate impacts and mitigation planning for cultural resources such as historical sites and buildings, parks, waterfronts, and archaeological sites.

#### **Climate Change Goal 5. Public infrastructure and transportation network**

#### Public services, utilities, and infrastructure are resilient to impacts of climate change.

**Climate Change Policy 5.1.** Develop and adopt a coordinated plan for infrastructure system resilience and recovery after disasters.

**Climate Change Policy 5.2.** Develop and adopt a climate change mitigation plan that assesses the vulnerabilities of vital assets, in coordination with the cities, tribes, federal, and regional jurisdictions.

**Climate Change Policy 5.3.** Consider stormwater utility improvements to accommodate increased conveyance during extreme rain events and coastal flooding.

**Climate Change Policy 5.4.** Explore adoption of a coordinated wastewater management plan to include Kitsap Public Health District, Public Utility Districts, Public Works, and other entities to enhance resiliency and adaptation planning for sewer utilities and wastewater management systems.

**Climate Change Policy 5.5.** Proactively manage the transportation system's risk exposure to sea level rise, coastal flooding, extreme precipitation, and extreme heat.

**Climate Change Strategy 5.a.** Construct new wastewater management systems in areas resilient to climate change.

**Climate Change Strategy 5.b.** Coordinate with Public Works, utility providers, Kitsap Public Health District, and coastal communities to develop a sea level rise and coastal flooding vulnerability and risk assessment that identifies and maps areas of highest risk and outlines strategies to protect coastal infrastructure, communities, and natural assets.

**Climate Change Strategy 5.c.** Integrate climate resilient designs in transportation construction projects (e.g., climate smart culverts and bridges for fish passage and habitat quality).

#### **Climate Change Goal 6. Resiliency through land use**

# *Establish land use patterns that increase the resilience of the built environment, ecosystems, and communities to climate change.*

**Climate Change Policy 6.1.** Restore and maintain critical areas and open space areas to maximize the climate resilience benefits they provide (e.g., frequently flooded areas, floodplains).

**Climate Change Policy 6.2.** Focus new development in areas where exposure to climate hazards is low.

**Climate Change Policy 6.3.** Consider environmental justice impacts to overburdened communities when considering new land use designations and rezoning actions.

**Climate Change Strategy 6.a.** Explore the use of environmental justice audits in creation of new zoning designations or rezoning.

**Climate Change Strategy 6.b.** Periodically update the Shoreline Master Program, Critical Areas Ordinance, and coastal resiliency plans to mitigate and adapt to climate change impacts.

**Climate Change Strategy 6.c.** Support and develop programs which incentivize voluntary restoration and preservation of critical areas, shorelines, and open space through financial or technical assistance.



#### **Climate Change Goal 7. Protect and enhance forests**

Maintain and expand tree canopy cover, improve watershed health, prioritize carbon sequestration, and build climate resilience.

**Climate Change Policy 7.1.** Ensure that construction within or abutting urban forests occurs in such a way as to protect the forest and the structures against the hazards of wildfire spreading from one to the other.

**Climate Change Policy 7.2.** Prioritize urban forestry planning resources for frontline communities that are impacted first and worst by climate change.

Climate Change Policy 7.3. Encourage private forestland to remain in timber production.

**Climate Change Policy 7.4.** Preserve tree canopy cover in critical areas such as streams, wetlands, geologic hazard areas, critical aquifer recharge areas, frequently flooded areas, and shorelines.

Climate Change Policy 7.5. Promote programs and grants to protect forested areas.

**Climate Change Strategy 7.a.** Reduce loss of private forestland through forest stewardship, education, and incentives for forest landowners to keep private forest lands in production.

**Climate Change Strategy 7.b.** Provide vegetation guidance to promote the planting of species that are resilient to climate change.

**Climate Change Strategy 7.c.** Coordinate with conservation groups and land trusts to identify and implement public outreach and education opportunities for the use of the Open Space Program, Transfer of Development Rights Program, Conservation Futures Tax Program, and other programs.

**Climate Change Strategy 7.d.** Promote urban forests through tree planting programs; maintenance of large healthy trees in parks, residential, commercial, and industrial areas; increased education and awareness, and through the protection and restoration of forest ecosystems.

**Climate Change Strategy 7.e.** Consider development of an urban forest master plan and applicable regulations.

**Climate Change Strategy 7.f.** Consider establishment of tree retention and replacement policies in all zones.

**Climate Change Strategy 7.g.** Utilize the Kitsap Natural Resource Asset Management Program (KNRAMP) to establish baseline data, monitor tree canopy cover and successional stages, and adaptively manage forest cover.

#### **Climate Change Goal 8. Hydrology and hydrogeology**

# Protect and preserve water quality and quantity from drought, extreme heat, extreme precipitation, and other hazards exacerbated by climate change.

**Climate Change Policy 8.1.** Prioritize green infrastructure and low-impact development techniques, where appropriate, to address increased storm events, stormwater runoff, and local ocean acidification due to nutrient loading from runoff.

**Climate Change Policy 8.2.** Promote environmentally sustainable farming practices, waterstorage systems, and nutrient management that help adapt to a changing climate and reduce production losses while balancing ecosystem needs.

**Climate Change Policy 8.3.** Coordinate with Kitsap Public Health District and water purveyors on well monitoring, specifically aquifer levels and saltwater intrusion.

**Climate Change Policy 8.4.** Coordinate with state and federal partners to evaluate long term cumulative impacts to watershed hydrology, including the provisions of sufficient streamflow for salmonids, and identify mitigation options.

**Climate Change Strategy 8.a.** Incentivize development that minimize the use of impervious pavements and retains tree canopy.

**Climate Change Strategy 8.b.** Provide guidance to promote the use of smart irrigation, stormwater nutrient management, preventative maintenance, water conservation and wastewater reuse, plant selection, and landscape management.

**Climate Change Strategy 8.c.** Identify and promote the development of water supplies in wildland and wildland urban interface or intermix areas to increase firefighting capabilities in rural and resource lands.

**Climate Change Strategy 8.d.** Coordinate with Kitsap Public Health District, Silverdale Water, and other interested purveyors on the use of recycled wastewater for uses such as building plumbing, irrigation, and groundwater recharge.

**Climate Change Strategy 8.e.** Protect and restore areas of hydrologic importance for water availability, including headwater wetlands, floodplains, and aquifer recharge areas.

#### **Climate Change Goal 9. Geologic and natural hazards**

#### Built environment and new construction are resilient against landslides and other land instabilities.

**Climate Change Policy 9.1.** Develop regulations designed to avoid or restrict development, construction, or reconstruction in areas with known severe slide potential or other geologic hazards.



**Climate Change Strategy 9.a.** Ensure development regulations are based on best available science and take into consideration geologic and natural hazards exacerbated by climate change impacts.

#### **Climate Change Goal 10. Habitat**

Ensure the health, functions, and processes of natural environments and ecosystems, including forest lands, shorelines, freshwater systems, and critical areas are protected and adaptively managed for resiliency.

**Climate Change Policy 10.1.** Sustain functionality of ecosystem services and fish and wildlife habitat into the future.

**Climate Change Policy 10.2.** Utilize best available science to assist in identifying and protecting crucial wildlife corridor and riparian areas that may face impacts of climate change.

**Climate Change Policy 10.3.** Consider climate change impacts including sea level rise, extreme precipitation, increased streamflow, and other impacts in floodplain management planning.

Climate Change Policy 10.4. Support actions that increase the resilience of aquatic ecosystems.

**Climate Change Policy 10.5.** Protect and restore watershed-scale processes to maximize the ecological benefits and climate resilience of riparian ecosystems.

**Climate Change Policy 10.6.** Consider sea-level rise in coastal and nearshore habitat restoration projects.

**Climate Change Policy 10.7.** Protect and restore riparian vegetation to improve resilience of streams by reducing erosion, providing shade, regulating temperature, and enhancing other indicators.

**Climate Change Policy 10.8.** Protect and restore wetlands and headwaters to ensure biological and hydrological connectivity.

**Climate Change Policy 10.9.** Restore floodplains and their connectivity to improve the resilience of waterways and reduce flood risk.

**Climate Change Strategy 10.a.** To improve the climate resilience of streams and watersheds, implement actions identified in restoration and salmon recovery plans for watersheds in Kitsap County, including, but not limited to: Hood Canal Integrated Watershed Plan, West Sound Ecosystem Recovery Plan, East Kitsap Demographically Independent Population Steelhead Recovery Plan, Salmon Recovery and Conservation Plan East Kitsap Watershed Chapter, West Sound Nearshore Integration and Synthesis, Chico Creek Watershed Restoration Plan, Curley Creek Watershed Restoration Plan, and Blackjack Creek Watershed Restoration Plan.

**Climate Change Strategy 10.b.** Maintain and update a critical areas ordinance that incorporates climate change considerations.

**Climate Change Strategy 10.c.** Update the Shoreline Master Program to address potential changes to shorelines from sea level rise and coastal flooding.

**Climate Change Strategy 10.d.** Take early action to eliminate or control non-native invasive species, especially where they threaten native species or ecosystem function.

**Climate Change Strategy 10.e.** Implement the Kitsap Natural Resources Asset Management Program to assist in prioritizing projects that restore ecosystem health.

**Climate Change Strategy 10.f.** Maximize ecological benefits and climate resiliency of aquatic ecosystems through the implementation of salmon recovery and other ecosystem recovery plan recommendations, as appropriate.

**Climate Change Strategy 10.g.** Assess recommendations of approved Lead Entity salmon recovery plans and Ecosystem Recovery Plans to inform updates to County plans and development regulations.

**Climate Change Strategy 10.h.** Work with tribal, public, and private sector partners to restore the functions of streams and floodplains to improve the resilience of aquatic ecosystems and reduce flood risk.

#### **Climate Change Goal 11. Wildfire resilience**

#### Create resilience against wildfire across forest lands and Wildland Urban Interface / intermix areas.

**Climate Change Policy 11.1.** Promote and incentivize creation and implementation of Firewise strategies in coordination with County fire districts, the WA Department of Natural Resources, community groups, and landowners in forest and urban interface / intermix areas.

**Climate Change Policy 11.2.** Establish policies that manage growth within the Wildland Urban Interface.

**Climate Change Strategy 11.a.** Implement modern fire protection regulations and best management practices for all new development in urban interface / intermix areas and on private forest lands while safely maintaining tree canopy coverage where possible.

**Climate Change Strategy 11.b.** Provide incentives for current landowners to adopt and implement best management practices and modern fire regulations on existing land development and forest lands.

**Climate Change Strategy 11.c.** Provide educational material and resources for new and existing property owners to use in lowering their risk for wildland fires including fire resistive construction techniques, construction and maintenance of defensible spaces, and fire-resistant landscapes, fuel reduction, and land use practices.

**Climate Change Strategy 11.d.** Develop a mitigation fund for Firewise neighborhood projects and re-roofing of homes with noncombustible materials.



#### **GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS REDUCTION SUB-ELEMENT**

Greenhouse gas emissions reduction means taking action to reduce or eliminate greenhouse gas emissions, the quantity of which can help estimate the extent and severity of climate change impacts over time. This greenhouse gas reduction sub-element includes goals and policies that have a demonstrated ability to reduce local greenhouse gas emissions in support of statewide and regional climate goals.

A comprehensive update of Kitsap County's geographic greenhouse gas emissions was completed in 2022 as part of the Puget Sound Regional Emissions Analysis Project. It includes a progress update of historical trends, contribution analysis update to explore drivers of changes in emissions between 2015 and 2019, and a wedge analysis that shows estimated emissions reductions from existing policies. The goals and policies in this sub-element are organized by and build on the 2022 Kitsap County Greenhouse Gas Emissions Analysis.

- **Building energy** residential, commercial, and industrial electricity and natural gas use and associated loss and leakage, residential fuel oil and propane, and industrial processes. Electricity and natural gas use in buildings account for most of the emissions in this sector.
- Transportation driving within County limits, flights from County travelers, maritime and rail travel, equipment used for agriculture, recreation, construction, logging, and commercial activities. On-road passenger travel and freight movement account for most of the emissions in this sector.
- **Tree Loss** agriculture and loss of tree cover. Loss of tree cover accounts for most of the emissions in this sector.
- **Solid Waste** solid waste generation and disposal. Emissions from solid waste disposal transportation to a landfill out of state account for most of the emissions in this sector.

### GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS REDUCTION GOALS AND POLICIES

#### **Climate Change Goal 12. Emissions reduction**

#### Reduce greenhouse gas emissions consistent with regional goal.

**Climate Change Policy 12.1.** Kitsap County adopts VISION 2050's climate change goal for the Puget Sound region to reduce greenhouse gas emissions to 80% below 1990 levels by 2050.

**Climate Change Strategy 12.a.** Work with incorporated cities, transit agencies, utility provides, tribes, and community partners to explore and implement strategies and actions to reduce community wide greenhouse gas emissions.

**Climate Change Strategy 12.b.** Promote strategies and actions that reduce per capita Vehicle Miles Traveled within the County.

**Climate Change Strategy 12.c.** Periodically conduct GHG emissions inventory and analysis to quantify and monitor the effectiveness of climate change policies and strategies (Tree Canopy Regulations, C-PACER, transportation mode shift, focusing growth in UGA, etc.) in reducing GHG emissions; and adaptively manage mitigation measures to achieve VISION 2050 and Countywide Planning Policies.

#### **Climate Change Goal 13. Building decarbonization**

#### Reduce greenhouse gases from buildings energy systems.

**Climate Change Policy 13.1.** Promote energy efficiency in County buildings.

**Climate Change Policy 13.2.** Recognize the importance of retrofitting existing buildings.

**Climate Change Policy 13.3.** Promote cost-effective renewable low-carbon energy generation.

**Climate Change Policy 13.4.** Promote energy conservation in new buildings.

**Climate Change Strategy 13.a.** Explore use of solar panels and other alternative energy on County buildings.

Forests store carbon in tree trunks, roots, leaves, branches, and soil. When tree cover is lost, that carbon is released into the atmosphere.

Trees and forests in Kitsap County sequester around 942,000 MTCO2e per year.

Tree cover loss is driven by deforestation due to development and other factors including timber harvest, fire, disease, and storm damage. According to a <u>2022 Greenhouse Gas Emission</u> <u>Inventory and Assessment,</u> Tree cover loss emissions in 2019 increased by 51% compared to 2015.

**Climate Change Strategy 13.b.** Promote energy efficiency assessments to prioritize investments in County facilities.



**Climate Change Strategy 13.c.** Explore funding and collaboration with community partners on incentives connecting homeowners and renters to energy efficiency opportunities (e.g., appliances, weatherization).

**Climate Change Strategy 13.d.** Develop a public building retrofit and replacement plan based on needs assessment and where the benefits are shared by low-income populations and BIPOC communities.

#### Climate Change Strategy 13.e.

Explore programs and incentives for businesses and organizations to implement small-scale renewable energy production and storage at their properties.

**Climate Change Strategy 13.f.** Explore incentives for sustainable and green development (e.g., LEED certified) and low impact development.



Photo credit: Kitsap County

#### Climate Change Strategy 13.g.

Adopt a Commercial Property Assessed Clean Energy and Resiliency (C-PACER) Program to ensure a lower-cost financing option is accessible and affordable to building owners to use for higher-efficiency electrified systems and resiliency improvements.

#### **Climate Change Goal 14. Tree loss prevention**

#### Minimize tree loss due to development and preserve existing tree canopy cover.

**Climate Change Policy 14.1.** Focus growth within existing Urban Growth Areas (UGAs) using infill and redevelopment techniques.

**Climate Change Policy 14.2.** Reduce tree loss by using infill, redevelopment techniques, and lot clustering in rural zones.

**Climate Change Strategy 14.a.** Coordinate with federal and state agencies to create and support forest management plans to minimize tree loss on military bases in Kitsap County.

**Climate Change Strategy 14.b.** Coordinate with the Department of Natural Resources (DNR), Tribal governments, community groups, and private forest landowners to promote long-term preservation of forest lands.

**Climate Change Strategy 14.c.** Develop and implement tree canopy regulations, standards, and incentives to protect existing tree canopy cover and replace removed trees in areas slated for development, while addressing best management practices for wildfire prevention.

**Climate Change Strategy 14.d.** Consider conservation or in-lieu fee programs to allow for offsite tree planting when not feasible on a development site.

#### **Climate Change Goal 15. Park tree canopy**

#### Manage tree canopy within park areas to sequester carbon.

**Climate Change Policy 15.1.** Support implementation of forest management plans to maintain healthy forests on Parks-owned properties while allowing opportunities for recreation.

**Climate Change Strategy 15.a.** Identify and assess parks resource areas for their suitability for recreational uses and opportunities for habitat restoration or preservation utilizing tools including but not limited to the Kitsap Natural Resource Asset Management Program.

#### **Climate Change Goal 16. Transportation decarbonization**

#### Reduce greenhouse gas emissions from on-road passenger and freight vehicle.

**Climate Change Policy 16.1.** Encourage mixed use, high density, Transit Oriented Development (TOD) to reduce reliance on Single Occupancy Vehicles (SOVs) and reduce per capita Vehicle Miles Traveled.

**Climate Change Policy 16.2.** Support compact commercial areas in order to encourage pedestrian and non-motorized travel and transit use.

**Climate Change Policy 16.3.** Support Electric Vehicle charging expansion throughout the County in collaboration with local utilities.



Photo credit: Kitsap County

**Climate Change Policy 16.4.** Work in collaboration with local utilities, freight companies, and service agencies toward fleet electrification of freight and service vehicles.

**Climate Change Strategy 16.a.** Work with Kitsap Transit to plan and implement Express and Bus Rapid Transit services to help reduce greenhouse gas emissions within the Urban Growth Areas and between communities and centers.



Climate Change Strategy 16.b. Develop and implement an Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Plan.

**Climate Change Strategy 16.c.** Develop a plan to electrify freight and publicly owned service vehicles, which should include analysis and recommendations on 2030 and 2050 fleet electrification goals and on the facilities and infrastructure required to meet those goals and complement the Electric Vehicle Infrastructure plan.

#### **Climate Change Goal 17. County equipment decarbonization**

#### Decarbonize County-owned off-road and construction equipment.

**Climate Change Policy 17.1.** Partner with public and private entities to utilize more sustainable fuels in offroad equipment.

**Climate Change Strategy 17.a.** Establish goal dates to phase out gas-powered maintenance equipment and transition to using electric equipment (lawnmowers, leaf blowers, etc.) for County maintenance and operations and allocate funding for additional batteries to avoid down time due to charging needs.

#### Climate Change Goal 18. Solid waste and wastewater emissions reduction

#### Reduce emissions resulting from the generation, transportation, and disposal of solid waste.

**Climate Change Policy 18.1.** Encourage reduction as a first step in reducing waste and associated emissions.

**Climate Change Policy 18.2.** Ensure that community facilities for reuse and recycling, including composting, are easily accessible.

**Climate Change Policy 18.3.** Consider methods to manage solid waste locally, thereby reducing emissions associated with transportation to out-of-state landfill facilities.



Photo credit: Kitsap County

**Climate Change Policy 18.4.** Reduce carbon footprint and methane release of wastewater treatment facilities.

**Climate Change Policy 18.5.** Explore collaborative partnerships to reduce energy demand at existing facilities and offset emissions.

**Climate Change Strategy 18.a.** Engage in environmentally preferable purchasing practices and support use of products with minimal impacts on the environment, health, and safety.

**Climate Change Strategy 18.b.** Encourage local development of recovery facilities for recyclable materials.

**Climate Change Strategy 18.c.** Evaluate scenarios of operating a local landfill with methane capture, waste to energy plant, or other methods of keeping solid waste disposal local.

**Climate Change Strategy 18.d.** Evaluate expansion of yard waste collection services to minimize emissions from burning of yard waste debris.

#### RESOURCES

- <u>Clean Energy Transformation Act (CETA) Washington State Department of Commerce</u>
- Kitsap County Climate Change Resiliency Assessment, 2020
- Kitsap County Communitywide Geographic Greenhouse Gas Emissions, 2022
- Kitsap County Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan, 2020
- Hazard Identification and Vulnerability Assessment, 2019





PORT ORCHARD, WA

### CHAPTER 9

# Subarea and Neighborhood Plans

## Subarea and Neighborhood Plans

A subarea plan is a type of long-range planning for a limited geographic area within a community. Within Kitsap County, the following subarea plans and neighborhood plans have been adopted:

- Kingston Subarea Plan
- Manchester Subarea Plan
- Silverdale Regional Center Subarea Plan
- Silverdale Subarea Plan
- Suquamish Subarea Plan
- Keyport Neighborhood Plan
- Gorst Neighborhood Plan
- Illahee Neighborhood Plan

These subarea plans focus on goals and policies to form the framework for the plan as well as specific goals and policies for land-use, environmental protection, and transportation.



KINGSTON, WA By Erik Hanson

### CHAPTER 10

# Kingston Subarea Plan

## **Kingston Subarea Plan**

#### VISION FOR KINGSTON

Kingston is a small ferry community, located on Appletree Cove, known for its sweeping views of Puget Sound and both the Cascade and Olympic Mountain ranges. It is bordered by rural residential properties on three sides and Puget Sound to the east. The community offers small-town character as well as a recently built multi-generational community center, small locally owned businesses, and several parks and trails within walking distance from the Old Town Center. The waterfront encompasses a port with a large marina, public beach access and a terminal for the Washington State Ferry Kingston-Edmonds route and a Kitsap Transit fast foot ferry that connects Kingston to Seattle, making it a key transportation hub between the Olympic and Kitsap Peninsulas and the Seattle metropolitan area. The community also serves as a commercial and service destination for North Kitsap.

The Kingston Urban Growth Area (UGA), the northernmost UGA in Kitsap County, was established in May 1998 through adoption of the Kitsap County Comprehensive Plan, encompassing approximately 1,400 acres. The Kingston UGA includes three design districts - Old Town, adjacent to the marina and ferry terminal; and two that are uptown. Lindvog Commercial, which straddles State Route 104, and Village Green, which sits entirely on the south side of State Route 104 and reflects the neighborhood in and around the Village Green Community Center and park.

A portion of Kingston is designated as a High-Capacity Countywide Center in the Kitsap Countywide Planning Polices (CPPs). This Countywide Center and the remainder of the Kingston UGA must accommodate increased population, employment, and housing growth consistent with those designations.

Kingston provides expanded development opportunities in its downtown as infill development occurs and major projects including the SR104 realignment and Port of Kingston redevelopment occur. Improved street aesthetics and parking infrastructure will create a more walkable community and encourage accessibility to local shops and restaurants. Expanded infrastructure such as sidewalks, bike lanes connecting activity centers such as the community center, local schools, and retail and service businesses will increase health, safety, and connectedness within the community.

With multiple high-capacity transit opportunities to the greater Seattle Area, Kingston is a part of critical transit system for the community, commuters, and tourists. Service by multiple ferry systems must be maintained and expanded to meet expected growth. Kingston must balance this growth with its history as a welcoming and family friendly community that values a healthy and sustainable environment, quality education, and recreational resources for all ages. By prioritizing preservation and development of diverse housing types, Kingston intends to maintain and increase its posture as an affordable and inclusive community.



The vision for Kingston focuses on the continued preservation and protection of open space, forests, and critical habitat areas in the surrounding sensitive environment. As an Urban Growth Area, Kingston will expand on the success of the Village Green Project and continue to develop better public facilities and infrastructure as it grows. County support of local economic development and Kitsap Transit and State support in managing the impact of regional transportation are vital to Kingston's vision and vitality.

Figure 29. Kingston UGA Zoning Map – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative







Figure 30. Kingston Countywide Center Zoning Map – Board of County Commissioners Direction Preferred Alternative

## Kingston Goals, Policies, and Strategies

### COMMUNITY

#### **Kingston Goal 1.**

Identify, protect, and promote community identity and history.

**Kingston Policy 1.1.** Preserve Kingston's small-town waterfront and maritime character and local history through community planning and development.

**Kingston Policy 1.2.** Promote community organizations and events that maintain, enhance, and promote community character.

**Kingston Policy 1.3.** Preserve the community's historic cultural assets in public planning and development projects.

**Kingston Policy 1.4.** Support the Kingston community's discussions of incorporation with access to readily available data regarding revenues and costs of service to the Kingston UGA.

**Kingston Strategy 1.a.** Notify the Kingston Historical Society in addition to mandated agencies when artifacts or evidence of historic structures or activities are unearthed or otherwise discovered.

**Kingston Strategy 1.b.** Provide available materials to promote a community inventory of cultural resources: places and events significant to Kingston's history and people, including natural landmarks, settler contact with the Suquamish and S'Klallam Tribes, military and maritime history, timber and commercial enterprises, homesteads and early town life, community organizations, milestones and special occasions, and national contributions of local figures.

**Kingston Strategy 1.c.** Encourage self-guided tours that highlight Kingston's community inventory of cultural resources.

**Kingston Strategy 1.d.** Develop interpretive signage recognizing sites in the community inventory.

Kingston Strategy 1.e. Promote educational seminars that feature the community inventory.

**Kingston Strategy 1.f.** Engage in a campaign that educates the general public about identifying and understanding the significance of cultural resources and how protecting historic assets may be integrated into urban development or other land uses.

**Kingston Strategy 1.g.** Explore funding for the preservation of historic, archaeological, and cultural resources.



#### LAND USE

#### **Kingston Goal 2.**

#### Involve the Kingston community in review and revision of goals, policies, and development regulations.

**Kingston Policy 2.1.** Provide support to the Kingston Community Advisory Council (KCAC) to review the sub area plan to ensure code provisions and design standards are achieving the vision for downtown Kingston, incorporating public feedback, and supporting redevelopment.

**Kingston Policy 2.2.** Acknowledge past community planning efforts in updates to policies and codes (e.g., Kingston UVC Taskforce).

**Kingston Strategy 2.a.** Beginning in 2026 and every three years after, establish a community workgroup process to review the Kingston Design standards and code provisions to ensure they are in alignment with the comprehensive plan update goals and policies.

#### **Kingston Goal 3.**

#### Encourage development that is compatible with Kingston's character and maritime history.

Kingston Policy 3.1. Consider the impact on view corridors when approving new developments.

**Kingston Strategy 3.a.** Apply the Kingston Design Standards in the permitting process.

#### **Kingston Goal 4.**

#### Support redevelopment in the Kingston Countywide Center.

**Kingston Policy 4.1.** Encourage a mix of urban residential, mixed-use, and commercial development in the downtown core as defined by the boundaries of the Kingston Countywide Center.

**Kingston Policy 4.2.** Prioritize the required infrastructure to encourage urban medium and highdensity residential uses near commercial areas and public spaces.

**Kingston Strategy 4.a.** Revise densities, heights, setbacks, infrastructure, parking, and other requirements in the Kingston Countywide Center to eliminate barriers for developing small parcels and explore incentives to promote aggregation of small lots into larger parcels.

**Kingston Strategy 4.b.** Revise the subdivision regulations to remove barriers to the creation of short subdivisions and multi-family development in the Kingston Countywide Center.

**Kingston Strategy 4.c.** Assess opportunities for development to meet recreational and open space requirements off-site where there are existing services and amenities are within one-quarter mile.

**Kingston Strategy 4.d.** Assess roadways in the Kingston Countywide Center to identify where right of way could be reduced to incentivize redevelopment.

**Kingston Strategy 4.e.** Review fire department requirements for small developments in the Kingston Countywide Center for alternatives that preserve safety and consider existing fire infrastructure and historic street patterns.

**Kingston Strategy 4.f.** Explore grant and other funding opportunities to address infrastructure needs.

#### **Kingston Goal 5.**

Promote adequate parking to meet Kingston's needs while encouraging transit and non-motorized options.

**Kingston Policy 5.1.** Collaborate with community groups and the Port of Kingston to develop a parking plan for the Kingston Countywide Center.

**Kingston Strategy 5.a.** Explore the reduction of parking requirements where transit route expansion is expected.

**Kingston Strategy 5.b.** Complete a public parking availability and accessibility study, considering updates or changes to parking requirements relating to occupancy in the Kingston Countywide Center.

**Kingston Strategy 5.c.** Coordinate public and private partnerships in review of the existing public parking availability and future expansions.

### **ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT**

#### **Kingston Goal 6.**

#### Support Kingston's maritime economy

**Kingston Policy 6.1.** Support Port initiatives designed to prioritize maritime and water dependent uses (e.g., boat/kayak rentals).

**Kingston Policy 6.2.** Explore partnerships with the Port of Kingston to seek grants for maritime uses, mixed use development, and environmental protections.

**Kingston Policy 6.3.** Support the development of lodging opportunities in Kingston by reviewing zoning and regulatory requirements to remove any barriers.

**Kingston Strategy 6.a**. Implement way-finding signage consistent with the community's identity to highlight local businesses, history, attractions, and trails, especially during the development of infrastructure projects.



**Kingston Strategy 6.b.** Support tourism groups, the Port of Kingston, the Greater Kingston Chamber of Commerce, and the Kitsap Economic Development Alliance to assess tourism opportunities and develop strategies to promote tourism.

#### Kingston Goal 7.

Within the Kingston Urban Growth Area, support locally owned businesses, cottage industries, and home businesses.

**Kingston Policy 7.1.** Encourage the development of telecommunication and broadband infrastructure to serve the Kingston UGA.

**Kingston Policy 7.2.** Collaborate with local organizations and agencies including the Chamber of Commerce, Kitsap Public Utilities District, and Port of Kingston to foster and promote an information system infrastructure and promote a business atmosphere that encourages and supports technology-based industry.

Kingston Policy 7.3. Encourage small business development and business incubators.

#### **Kingston Goal 8.**

#### Support tourism to enhance the local economy.

**Kingston Policy 8.1.** Foster partnerships with the Kitsap Tourism Coalition, Visit Kitsap, the Port of Kingston, the Greater Kingston Chamber of Commerce, the Greater Kingston Economic Development Committee, and other organizations to promote tourism and business development.

#### HOUSING

#### **Kingston Goal 9.**

Promote the development of affordable housing within the Kingston UGA

**Kingston Policy 9.1.** Monitor Kitsap County-owned property in the Kingston UGA and assess their availability for affordable housing projects.

**Kingston Policy 9.2.** Review and revise as appropriate regulations to improve the viability and long-term sustainability of affordable housing projects.

**Kingston Policy 9.3.** Incentivize affordable housing projects through negotiation of development agreements, creation of multi-family taxation exemptions, and other allowable methods (see Appendix B).

**Kingston Policy 9.4.** Support Housing Kitsap, housing agencies, and non-profit housing providers in considering affordable housing projects within the Kingston UGA.

**Kingston Policy 9.5.** Encourage private property owners with vacant property or property available for redevelopment within Kingston's UGA to consider affordable housing projects.

**Kingston Policy 9.6.** Promote housing diversity including missing-middle housing (e.g., duplex townhomes, cottage housing) within existing and planned residential developments.

#### **Kingston Goal 10.**

Consider affordable housing projects within the Kingston UGA for any County-administered funding programs.

**Kingston Policy 10.1.** Partner with non-governmental groups and non-profits (e.g., Kitsap Affordable Housing Task Force and Kingston Affordable Housing Working Group) to ensure knowledge and participation in local funding opportunities.

#### Kingston Goal 11.

*Encourage increased support services in the Kingston UGA to serve residents in need of affordable housing.* 

**Kingston Policy 11.1.** Work with County agencies and non-government service providers to increase the local availability of services for mental health support, social work case management, private duty caregiver assistance, alcohol and chemical dependency treatment, disability assistance, and healthcare.

**Kingston Policy 11.2.** Encourage transit agencies such as Kitsap Transit and Washington State Ferries to provide reliable and expanded transportation options for residents in the Kingston UGA.

#### Kingston Goal 12.

Monitor housing types including emergency housing and provide policy direction to facilitate adequate housing for all economic segments living in the Kingston UGA.

**Kingston Policy 12.1.** Seek to ensure that unhoused options in the Kingston UGA include long term supportive housing for those who are unhoused and others with special needs, affordable housing for low-income seniors and others, "missing middle" housing, workforce housing, and market rate housing.

**Kingston Policy 12.2.** Work with Kingston Community Advisory Council to support ongoing efforts to provide severe weather shelter services and/or warming stations in public buildings.



**Kingston Strategy 12.a.** Explore increased density and building heights, reduced parking requirements, lower impact fees and permitting fees, and improved permit processing for affordable housing projects.

**Kingston Strategy 12.b.** Adopt ordinances, development regulations, and zoning regulations to reduce barriers to the construction and use of Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) for long term rental housing in the Kingston UGA.

**Kingston Strategy 12.c.** Support community and housing organization efforts to fund affordable and supportive housing efforts in the Kingston UGA.

#### ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

#### Kingston Goal 13.

Protect and work to restore wildlife habitat, marine shorelines, wetlands, streams, and other natural areas in the Kingston UGA.

**Kingston Policy 13.1.** Support community work with non-profit groups to acquire land for conservation and preservation of wildlife habitat.

**Kingston Policy 13.2.** Participate in the West Sound Watersheds Council and support Puget Sound Salmon Recovery programs.

**Kingston Policy 13.3.** As feasible, acquire shoreline property and conservation easements in Kingston for public stewardship and habitat protection.

**Kingston Policy 13.4.** Coordinate an integrated network of open spaces that could expand recreational opportunities for both residents and visitors and that takes advantage of Kingston's visual amenities and natural environment.

#### Kingston Goal 14.

#### Reduce sources of pollution in the built and natural environment of Kingston.

**Kingston Policy 14.1.** Partner with Puget Sound Clean Air Agency to identify and establish strategic initiatives and projects that will protect public health, improve neighborhood air quality, and reduce our region's contribution to climate change.

**Kingston Policy 14.2.** Establish a community culture that supports pedestrians and nonmotorized forms of transportation.

Kingston Policy 14.3. Identify and reduce systemic energy waste and its associated GHGs.

Kingston Policy 14.4. Reduce water and soil pollution from land uses and development.
**Kingston Policy 14.5.** Educate and build a culture in the greater Kingston community about the marine environment and the unique nexus of estuarine and lowland stream environments to inspire future stewards of our natural heritage.

**Kingston Strategy 14.a.** Review and consider tree canopy requirements to promote GHG emission absorption.

**Kingston Strategy 14.b.** Support ferry traffic solutions, in alignment with the WSF 2040 Long Range Plan, that leverage both system-wide and Kingston-Edmonds route-specific adaptive management strategies to reduce peak demand in closer alignment with supply.

**Kingston Strategy 14.c.** Support measures such as peak fares in the ferry system to reduce vehicle idling and queuing which results in increased vehicle emissions.

**Kingston Strategy 14.d.** Encourage expansion of sewer service to properties served by existing septic systems within the Kingston UGA through Utility Local Improvement Districts, Developer Extensions, and other development options.

#### **Kingston Goal 15.**

#### Encourage businesses that intentionally work to build and support a healthy natural environment.

**Kingston Policy 15.1.** Support locally based businesses that intentionally address environmental sustainability (e.g., green building practices, recycling of construction or demolition waste, non-motorized services).

### PARKS, TRAILS, AND OPEN SPACE

#### **Kingston Goal 16.**

Support access to and within regional parks, local pocket parks, and public beaches for active recreational use, passive enjoyment of the natural environment, and conservation of natural habitat.

**Kingston Policy 16.1.** Prepare a Kingston conservation plan and list of potential properties for conservation, preservation, and wildlife enhancement in coordination with local tribes, the Great Peninsula Conservancy, West Sound Watersheds Council, and Puget Sound Salmon Recovery programs.

**Kingston Policy 16.2.** Acquire shoreline property for public access to Apple Tree Cove, Puget Sound, and Carpenter Lake.

**Kingston Strategy 16.a.** Seek funding to acquire and protect marine and riparian shoreline for conservation and habitat preservation.



**Kingston Strategy 16.b.** Survey and analyze public lands for potential value as park land, trails, or open space.

**Kingston Strategy 16.c.** Clarify public access opportunities along beaches and tidelands around Apple Tree Cove and publish maps and other information to the public.

**Kingston Strategy 16.d.** Support the Kitsap Peninsula Water Trail by developing water trail launch and rest facilities in the Kingston area.

**Kingston Strategy 16.e.** Coordinate shoreline access opportunities with the Port of Kingston and their future development plans.

#### Kingston Goal 17.

Provide Kingston with the open space, sports, and playground facilities to support recreation, sports, healthy exercise, and social activities for all members of the greater Kingston population.

**Kingston Policy 17.1.** In accordance with the Kitsap Parks and Recreation Department PROS Plan, develop and maintain an inventory of Kingston and North Kitsap parks, open space, and sports facilities available for use by the general population and organized sports clubs.

**Kingston Policy 17.2.** Based on public surveys, growth projections, and other data, prepare and publish a gap analysis to show the current and future need for public sports and recreational facilities.

**Kingston Policy 17.3.** Develop dog parks within or near the Kingston UGA and establish a program for their maintenance and support.

**Kingston Strategy 17.a.** Acquire land and develop sports fields, courts, and playground facilities as the population growth warrants to serve the greater Kingston area to support local, regional, and invitational sports events to include:

- Baseball and softball fields
- Fields for soccer, lacrosse, and ultimate frisbee
- Football fields
- Outdoor basketball courts
- Pickleball and tennis courts
- Frisbee golf course

**Kingston Strategy 17.b.** Develop criteria for location and design of local dog parks, identify areas suitable for such facilities, and establish a budget for acquisition, maintenance, and upkeep.

**Kingston Strategy 17.c.** Improve and expand parking and signage for the "Kingston entrance" to the North Kitsap Heritage Park located at the south end of Norman Road.

#### Kingston Goal 18.

*Ensure public participation in development of plans for maintenance and operation of parks, open space, fields, and facilities in the Kingston area including volunteer efforts.* 

**Kingston Policy 18.1.** Coordinate discussions of new, renovated, or existing parks and open space plans and facilities with community groups (e.g., Kingston Community Advisory Council, park stewards, Kingston Rotary, Chamber, Port of Kingston), environmental organizations (e.g. Kitsap Environmental Coalition), and residents.

**Kingston Policy 18.2.** Consult with state agencies, local tribes, and local jurisdictions to provide parks, open space, fields, and facilities that support active and passive recreation.

### TRANSPORTATION

#### **Kingston Goal 19.**

Support the development of housing diversity, multi-family, and mixed-use housing in the Kingston Countywide Center through expanded transportation options.

**Kingston Policy 19.1.** Promote expansion of access and accessibility of transit and transit facilities within the Kingston UGA to benefit the community and provide access to regional activity centers (e.g. Poulsbo, Silverdale, Seattle).

**Kingston Strategy 19.a.** Coordinate with Kitsap Transit, Sound Transit, Community Transit, and Washington State Ferries to provide access and service frequencies necessary to support planned population and employment growth and densities.



#### Kingston Goal 20.

#### Improve compatibility between ferry traffic and residential and commercial uses in the Kingston UGA.

**Kingston Policy 20.1.** Work with WSDOT to expedite the installation of ferry traffic flow improvement methods to improve traffic flow within the Kingston UGA.

**Kingston Strategy 20.a.** Support development of the Active Traffic Management System (ATMS) project.

**Kingston Strategy 20.b.** Until installation of the ATMS system, encourage WSDOT to train staff on traffic management methods that expand access to Kingston businesses and amenities for passengers during ferry wait times.

Kingston Strategy 20.c. Promote the development of a remote ferry vehicle holding lot.

Kingston Strategy 20.d. Support the SR104 realignment project.

**Kingston Strategy 20.e.** Encourage WSDOT exploration of demand management strategies to reduce peak volumes. Examples include peak fares.

**Kingston Strategy 20.f.** Review traffic stoplight timing patterns that would prioritize ferry traffic flow within the Kingston UGA.

**Kingston Strategy 20.g.** Encourage improvements to the Kitsap Transit Ferry dock to allow severe weather use.

**Kingston Strategy 20.h.** Continue to explore the use of a reservation system with WSDOT for Kingston Ferry service.

#### Kingston Goal 21.

#### Provide safe, accessible walk, bike, and roll routes within Kingston and to other communities.

**Kingston Policy 21.1.** Plan and construct walk, bike, and roll facilities described in the Kingston Complete Streets Study, connecting to those in the greater Kingston area.

**Kingston Policy 21.2.** Expand ADA compliant sidewalks, connector trails, and walk, bike, and roll routes in greater Kingston.

**Kingston Policy 21.3.** Ensure new development constructs walk, bike, and roll facilities and community connections in accordance with Kitsap County Code and the Kingston Complete Streets Plan.

**Kingston Policy 21.4.** Provide bicycle parking at transit and ferry facilities, community centers, and commercial uses within the Kingston Countywide Center.

**Kingston Strategy 21.a.** Explore traffic calming techniques, where safe and feasible within the Kingston UGA (e.g. painted visual cues or plastic bollards in areas such as Barber Cut-Off Rd at West Kingston Rd.)

**Kingston Strategy 21.b.** Develop and publish an accessibility rating and description for each walk, ride and roll facilities and parks within Kingston to increase community awareness and user understanding of which sidewalks and trails are accessible to those with mobility limitations.

**Kingston Strategy 21.c.** Expand sidewalks with development proposals along arterials and collectors, and routes connecting pedestrians and bicyclists within the Kingston UGA.

**Kingston Strategy 21.d.** Review traffic flow and safety issues for pedestrian and vehicle traffic at SR104 and Barber Cut-off/Parcells Rd in collaboration with WSDOT.

**Kingston Strategy 21.e.** Expand sidewalks in commercial and residential areas to complete continuous connections between activity centers consistent with Kingston Complete Streets and Kingston Design Standards. These should include:

- Along SR104 from ferry terminal to Lindvog Avenue.
- Along West Kingston Road from Carpenter Creek Bridge to Kingston Middle School.
- Along Ohio Ave NE from SR 104 to Kingston Laborer's Training School.
- Along Lindvog Ave NE from SR 104 to NE 272nd Street.
- Along the south side of West Kingston Road from Central Ave. to South Kingston Rd.

**Kingston Strategy 21.f.** Explore increased scoring for non-motorized facilities in local funding programs such as the Transportation Improvement Program.

**Kingston Strategy 21.g.** Review all utility easements, tax title strips, and unopened right of ways for potential trail connections. For those utility easements considered as feasible for trail routes, negotiate an appropriate agreement for use as a non-motorized trail and/or route.

**Kingston Strategy 21.h.** Install fog lines along all public roads within the Kingston UGA to improve the safety of non-motorized users.

#### Kingston Goal 22.

In support of the Kitsap County Non-Motorized Facilities Plan, provide safe, direct routes to multi-user, regional trails within the county and to regional trails in adjacent counties.

**Kingston Policy 22.1.** On a regular basis, review the Kitsap County Non-Motorized Facilities Plan for new opportunities and status of existing regional routes and trails.

**Kingston Strategy 22.a.** Prepare a Kingston Trails Plan that identifies the existing system of community connector and recreational trails and routes. Identify and prioritize the



community's desired projects and additions to extend the range and accessibility of that system of trails and routes.

**Kingston Strategy 22.b.** Install signs that identify access points and destinations of the various connector trails and routes.

**Kingston Strategy 22.c.** Coordinate local trails and routes to the Kitsap County Non-Motorized Facility Plan.

**Kingston Strategy 22.d.** Submit possible connecting trails and routes to the County via the annual TIP process.

**Kingston Strategy 22.e.** Ensure public notification to include Kingston community groups before approval of requests vacation of rights-of-way.

#### Kingston Goal 23.

Improve the safety and appearance of walk, bike, and roll facilities within Kingston UGA as recommended in the Complete Streets Study.

**Kingston Policy 23.1.** Provide clear walk, ride, and roll road crossings of SR 104, West Kingston Road NE, Barber Cut Off Road NE, and Miller Bay Road for pedestrian routes to activity centers including schools and parks.

**Kingston Policy 23.2.** Encourage connectivity between existing developments, by providing alternate emergency access/egress routes for residential development currently served by a single access roadway.

**Kingston Strategy 23.a.** Within the Kingston Countywide Center, explore Street Lights on all streets within the UGA.

**Kingston Strategy 23.b.** Require planting strips between the roadway and sidewalks and bicycle paths with new development, where feasible.

**Kingston Strategy 23.c.** Review the Kingston Design Standards to ensure consistency with state and local road standards.

### CAPITAL FACILITIES AND UTILITIES

#### Kingston Goal 24.

*Provide adequate infrastructure capacity to support development of housing diversity, multi-family, and mixed-use housing in the Kingston UGA.* 

**Kingston Policy 24.1.** Provide adequate wastewater infrastructure including new and upgraded pump stations to accommodate growth, with opportunities for private development to construct new and improve existing pump stations.

Kingston Policy 24.2. Provide adequate stormwater infrastructure focused on regional systems.

**Kingston Strategy 24.a.** Develop new and expanded pump stations (e.g., 41 and 71) and force and gravity sewers to expand capacity for new growth.

**Kingston Strategy 24.b.** Develop new stormwater facility to facilitate development in the Kingston Countywide Center (e.g., Kingston Regional Stormwater Facility, Bannister Green Street Project, Eastside Green Street Project and Main Street WQ Treatment Project).





**DOWNTOWN MANCHESTER, WA** 

# CHAPTER 11

# Manchester Subarea Plan

# Manchester Subarea Plan

#### VISION FOR MANCHESTER

The Manchester Community Plan is a statement of the community values and aspirations for the future. This is an effort to recognize what originally attracted visitors in the past combined with a phasing process of improvements to enhance the atmosphere and visual character of the area. When posed with the question, "What would the perfect Manchester look like?" residents envisioned a village center that acts as a social center with restaurants and cafes, augmented by a food or general store to provide basic needs. It would strive to maintain the small-town charm and quaintness that Manchester currently offers. Of parallel importance is the preservation of the spectacular views of the Puget Sound, the cosmopolitan city of Seattle, Cascade Mountain ranges, and the breathtaking view of Mount Rainier. Residents wish to maintain and enhance their high quality of life as well as the quality of the natural environment. Protection of wetlands, streams and wildlife habitat is highly emphasized. This can be accomplished by expanded infrastructure and environmental protections while maintaining Manchester's Village atmosphere for visitors and a safe and inviting home for residents.





#### Figure 31. Manchester LAMIRD Zoning map

### **PUBLIC PARTICIPATION**

#### Manchester Goal 1.

#### Increase public participation in the implementation of the Manchester Community Plan.

**Manchester Policy 1.1.** Use the Manchester Community Advisory Council (MCAC) webpage and vehicles such as: Manchester Days, community activities (such as tree lighting) and the Manchester Community Association's educational programs.

### ZONING AND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS

#### Manchester Goal 2.

Maintain and manage growth, density, zoning, and land use consistent with the requirements and policies of the Manchester LAMIRD.

Manchester Policy 2.1. Ensure development is consistent with existing community character.

**Manchester Strategy 2.a.** Maintain maximum height limits of 28 feet consistent with Manchester view protection overlay.

**Manchester Strategy 2.b.** Maintain and enforce existing code regarding legacy and nonconforming lots.

**Manchester Strategy 2.c.** Protect Manchester's existing views including but not limited to Mt. Rainier, the Cascade Mountain Range, Puget Sound, and the Seattle skyline by addressing vegetation height and density regulations.

**Manchester Strategy 2.d.** All parking lots in the Commercial District should incorporate separate entrance and exit lanes, where possible.

**Manchester Strategy 2.e.** Increase available parking in the Manchester Village Commercial district by ensuring all new development in the Manchester Village Commercial district provides parking consistent with the Manchester Design Standards.

### ENVIRONMENT

#### Manchester Goal 3.

*Protect and enhance the shoreline resources that add to the unique character of the Manchester LAMIRD.* 

**Manchester Policy 3.1.** Coordinate with Port of Manchester to achieve a balanced use of their public shoreline facilities to create minimal environmental impact.



**Manchester Policy 3.2.** Educate the public on issues of wildlife habitat, critical area and shoreline protection, stormwater management and air quality.

**Manchester Policy 3.3.** Create a plant list that includes native, water retaining, non-invasive, and height-limited vegetation, to encourage replanting native tree and plant species on all properties.

### TRANSPORTATION

#### Manchester Goal 4.

Provide the residents the opportunity to participate in the development of transportation planning policy regarding street designs and development patterns that accommodate pedestrians, vehicles, transit users and bicyclists in a balanced way.

**Manchester Policy 4.1.** Beach Dr., Colchester Dr., Chester Rd., Main Street, Madrone Street, and California Avenue improvements should incorporate Complete Streets and Safe Routes to Schools design approaches to provide access for all ages and ability, safety, and provide access to and link land uses and activity areas within the Manchester community.

**Manchester Policy 4.2.** Involve the Manchester Community Advisory Committee in the Kitsap County Public Works transportation improvement planning (TIP) process to provide input for and act on all public works plans that affect the Manchester LAMIRD.

#### Manchester Goal 5.

*Encourage design practices to reduce accidents and potential accidents by providing a safe transportation system.* 

**Manchester Policy 5.1.** Assess opportunities for traffic calming techniques to improve safety for pedestrians, bicyclists, and vehicles, where feasible.

### CAPITAL FACILITIES AND UTILITIES

#### Manchester Goal 6.

Provide the availability of sewer service to all residents within the Manchester Limited Area of More Intense Rural Development (LAMIRD) boundary without expansion of the existing sewer treatment plant.

**Manchester Policy 6.1.** Provide education to property owners on benefits to sewer service versus existing septic systems.

#### Manchester Goal 7.

Encourage expansion of the sewer system to all properties within the Manchester LAMIRD boundary through the formation of utility local improvement districts (ULIDs) and other mechanisms.

**Manchester Policy 7.1.** Require property owners along shorelines or near wetlands or streams to connect to the sewer system if their current system has failed.

#### Manchester Goal 8.

Support development of a comprehensive approach to stormwater management that encourages coordination between transportation, sewer, stormwater, and private development projects.

**Manchester Policy 8.1.** Involve the Manchester community in the assessment and prioritization of stormwater capital facility projects.

**Manchester Policy 8.2.** Continue to identify areas needing improved stormwater infrastructure within Manchester.

#### Manchester Goal 9.

Promote stormwater management systems that preserve natural drainage systems, such as streams, and construct facilities that complement these systems by taking advantage of opportunities for filtration, infiltration, and flow control where feasible.

**Manchester Policy 9.1.** Encourage the use of permeable surfaces and other Low Impact Development technologies in new building construction and property development.

**Manchester Policy 9.2.** Educate property owners through public outreach on the benefits and potential implications when new stormwater regulations are proposed.

**Manchester Policy 9.3.** Assess cumulative impacts of development on surrounding properties and minimize negative consequences of stormwater runoff on properties.

#### Manchester Goal 10.

Maintain clear communication between government agencies including the Kitsap Public Health District and Kitsap Sewer Utility as it relates to septic and sewer issues.

**Manchester Policy 10.1.** Provide materials for residents regarding the importance of septic system maintenance and the process for connection to the public sewer system.



### **PUBLIC FACILITIES AND PARKS**

#### Manchester Goal 11.

*Ensure public participation for future improvements to public facilities and parks within the Manchester LAMIRD.* 

**Manchester Policy 11.1.** Develop strategies for balancing private property rights with public benefit when furthering the public's interest in the waterfront, views, and recreation.

#### Manchester Goal 12.

#### Maintain current public facilities.

**Manchester Policy 12.1.** Coordinate with the Friends of the Manchester Library, the Manchester Foundation Board, the Port of Manchester Commissioners, and Kitsap County concerning any development plans for public facility improvements and additions.

#### Manchester Goal 13.

#### Plan for a community center within Manchester.

**Manchester Policy 13.1.** Encourage discussion of a future community center with groups, agencies, non-profits, and residents to find a location and secure funding for construction.

#### Manchester Goal 14.

#### Expand pedestrian and biking paths.

**Manchester Policy 14.1.** Develop public right-of ways for the purpose of creating trails and providing foot access along and between the main thoroughfares to connect with non-motorized facilities and Kitsap Peninsula Water Trails.

Manchester Policy 14.2. Create a walkability map of the Manchester LAMIRD.



SILVERDALE, WA

## CHAPTER 12

Silverdale Regional Center Subarea Plan



# Silverdale Regional Center Subarea Plan

#### INTRODUCTION

The Silverdale Urban Growth Area (UGA), located in Central Kitsap County at the north end of Dyes Inlet, was established in 1998 with the adoption of the Kitsap County Comprehensive Plan. In 2006, as part of the adoption of the 10-year update to the Kitsap County Comprehensive Plan, the Silverdale UGA was expanded to encompass approximately 7,400 acres, the Silverdale Subarea Plan was adopted, and Draft Silverdale Design Guidelines were referenced in the Integrated Comprehensive Plan and Draft Environmental Impact Statement.

In 2003, the Kitsap Countywide Planning Policies and Puget Sound Regional Council (PSRC) recognized portions of the Silverdale UGA as a Regional Growth Center for employment and population. Regional growth centers are intended to be dense and diverse urban centers with a regional focus on significant business, cultural, governmental, residential, and recreational activities. Development should result in compact and centralized working, shopping and activity areas linked by transit. PSRC's VISION 2050 includes a goal of attracting 65% of regional population growth and 75% of employment growth to centers and high-capacity transit station areas.

In 2018 and 2020, PSRC updated and more clearly defined the minimum requirements for a Regional Center through the Regional Centers Framework and VISION 2050. In 2021, the Kitsap Regional Coordinating Council (KRCC) updated Kitsap County Countywide Planning Policies to stay consistent with PSRC's Regional Centers Framework and ensure Silverdale is a Regional Center.

PSRC requirements establish minimum requirements for jobs and population, known as "activity units". Each resident or job counts as one activity unit. To be designated as a regional center, Silverdale Regional Center must have at least 18 current activity units per acre and a planned target of 45 activity units per acre. As of 2024, the Silverdale Regional Center is 717 acres and includes 15.8 activity units.

In the 2044 Comprehensive Plan, targeted growth for the overall Silverdale UGA includes 11,416 new jobs and 9,896 new people in the 20-year time horizon through 2044. A large share of that growth is planned to occur within Silverdale Regional Center boundary, with capacity for 6,751 additional jobs and 3,557 additional people. Regional Centers may receive additional focus and funding at regional scale. For the County, Silverdale is a place where hallmark planning efforts can take shape, transforming into a hub of economic activity and cultural importance.



Figure 32. Silverdale Regional Center Planning Area and Boundary



#### VISION FOR SILVERDALE REGIONAL CENTER

The Silverdale Regional Center Plan (Plan) will guide the evolution of the Silverdale Regional Center from a collection of strip malls and office buildings into a more livable, sustainable, and balanced mixed use urban area serving everyday essentials to residents, employees, and visitors. In accordance with the PSRC regional growth center designation criteria, the Plan will:

- Include a vision for the center that describes the role (economic, residential, cultural, etc.) of the center within the County and region;
- Clearly identify the boundaries of the regional growth center;
- Describes the relationship of the Plan to the County's Comprehensive Plan, PSRC Vision 2050, and countywide planning policies; and
- Include a market analysis of the regional growth center's development potential.

Significant housing and job population increases over the next 20 years will transform Silverdale. A key component of the Plan is channeling anticipated growth of Silverdale Urban Growth Area into the Silverdale Regional Center. This will protect the character and scale of Silverdale's existing neighborhoods while also setting a vision for new and evolving neighborhoods within the Center. The result: a far more vibrant urban community with convenient access to commercial, service, and cultural activities.

Silverdale's substantial Dyes Inlet waterfront and upland water views are the Regional Center's biggest visual and physical amenity. Protecting and enhancing this asset will play a big role in the community's growth and character. Public assets include the Silverdale Waterfront Park, Old Mill Park, Clear Creek Trail, Port of Silverdale Boat Ramp, and Bayshore Drive. Numerous private developments and businesses take advantage of the waterfront setting, including the Christa Shores Senior Living complex, Best Western Plus Silverdale Beach, Oxford Suites Silverdale, Golden Tides II, the Yacht Club Boiler, among other establishments. Further enhancing access to the waterfront and promoting infill development that strengthens the community's waterfront character and setting is essential.

Figure 33. Silverdale's Dyes Inlet waterfront setting and upland views.



A multimodal network linking the waterfront amenities with other destinations, parks, riparian corridors, tree lined streets, active and passive plazas, and other shared urban spaces, is fundamental to the Silverdale Regional Center's livability. Connectivity will be achieved by incentivizing mixed use developments and providing easy, safe, and enjoyable walk, bike, roll, transit, and vehicle connections to residential, retail shopping, major public facilities, open space, and connections between communities. A vibrant retail core and strong residential community can be sustained and enhanced by making walk, bike, and roll circulation a priority.

Figure 34. A vision for Silverdale: a mixed-use center with welcoming streetscapes and open spaces



The Urban Community & Design, Connectivity & Mobility, Environment, Economic Development and Housing Elements in this Plan lay the groundwork for urban density development that creates a sense of place, promotes an active transportation system for pedestrians, cyclists, transit, and cars, and protects and includes the natural environment - all without sacrificing Silverdale's existing character and vitality. The Silverdale Regional Center's growth and transformation will not happen overnight. Key capital investments in multimodal transportation facilities that connect parks and open spaces will encourage and support the redevelopment of the Silverdale Regional Center.

To accomplish our goal of transforming Silverdale, we must take action: Grow density, increase investment, seek out and welcome both new development and redevelopment; encourage forward-thinking opportunities that redefine the intersection between retail and residential. This, all while highlighting and providing greater access to Old Town, Dyes Inlet, and the remarkable views of water and mountains that surround Silverdale will enable it to become a first- class waterfront city.

#### "AN EMERGING DOWNTOWN"

Downtown Silverdale is an unincorporated regional growth center with different types of commercial, office, civic and residential patterns. There is no coherent or integrated downtown/community center area because of the historical, incremental growth pattern. However, most of the activities and functions of a downtown and civic/community center are present. Lacking are well-defined nodes, a



compact human-scale, and strong physical and circulation connectors between and among the various places and districts.

Shopping centers throughout North America are undergoing significant design changes due to market forces, competition, and aging malls. Due to these pressures, a changing development pattern will benefit the long-term viability and health of Silverdale. For example, closings of some large-scale retailers in other similar centers have created opportunities for compact pedestrian-oriented residential and mixed-use redevelopment. Such changes can help to create a true "center" for communities and spur similar developments on adjacent properties. As large areas of Silverdale's Regional Center are devoted to large scale retail uses, these areas provide opportunities for future transformation into a "Town Center", with mixed-use developments of residential, office, retail, civic, and cultural uses.

Town Centers often serve as a focus of community life for surrounding areas. They provide basic retail services and gathering or leisure places for residents. They contain shared parking, provide town squares or village greens as central gathering areas, and capitalize on natural environmental features as desired amenities. The residential uses are deemed the "glue" for Town Centers, providing an on-site population. Libraries, community centers, exercise facilities and other public or semi-public uses are often included.

#### SILVERDALE CONTEXT

This section documents subarea assets, challenges, and opportunities plus the physical context, population, housing, and employment characteristics, the transportation context, development characteristics and trends, and open space patterns.

### ASSETS

Silverdale is a regional commercial center with a wide range of retail and service uses and amenities, including:

- **Healthy regional center.** Silverdale is centrally located to serve the greater Kitsap Peninsula and is healthy economically.
- **Waterfront setting.** The considerable Dyes Inlet shoreline serves as one of the characterdefining features of the subarea in terms of views and as a recreational amenity.
- **Diversity of shops and services.** Silverdale features a great variety of retail and service businesses, eateries that serve the local and regional community.
- **Centralized in the regional transportation network.** Located at the junction of State Routes 3 and 303, it's easy to get to and from Silverdale from anywhere on the Kitsap peninsula.
- **Clear Creek corridor.** Clear creek and its corresponding trail and riparian corridor is a visual, recreational, and environmental amenity centralized within the subarea. The corridor has and will continue to be an attractive draw for residential development.

• Schools, parks, and recreational uses. The subarea is rich with schools and recreational cultural amenities, including the recently rebuilt Central Kitsap Middle School and High School, the Haselwood Family YMCA, Silverdale Waterfront Park, and Old Mill Park.

### CHALLENGES

Silverdale does not feature a coherent "center" due in part to its incremental development pattern, outer suburban location near the junction of two state highways, and the lack of plan to create a community. Key challenges:

- No identifiable center. Like many other outer suburbs that were developed late in the 20th Century, Silverdale lacks a true pedestrian-oriented focal point. This makes it more challenging to create an identifiable center, let alone encourage pedestrian oriented forms of development.
- Arterial dominated road network. The limited network of streets and large-scale retail development pattern has created a context of superblocks that creates circulation challenges for all modes of travel, particularly non-motorized forms. The resulting form creates an unwelcoming environment for pedestrians.
- Market conditions for compact urban development. The outer suburb location and auto-dominated character create a challenging environment for encouraging the compact pedestrian-oriented forms of development that are desired for the subarea.
- **Disjointed land uses.** The incremental and unplanned nature and form of development in much of the subarea has created a disjointed development pattern where uses are often disconnected to all other uses around them. This makes it hard to create synergy between uses and promote walking.





Figure 35. Big box retail stores and large parking lots dominate the visual character of Silverdale

### **OPPORTUNITIES**

Despite the challenges noted above, Silverdale features enough assets that when combined with thoughtful planning, enhanced development regulations, and community management and leadership, that the subarea can achieve its vision:

- **Emphasize and enhance the Waterfront.** Prioritize waterfront areas and connections to the Waterfront with public improvements and updates to zoning and design regulations that enhance the character, visibility, and accessibility of the Waterfront.
- Plan for enhanced connectivity. Identify future connections and update zoning and design provisions that integrate new pedestrian and vehicular connections in conjunction with new development.
- **Today's parking lots are tomorrow's development opportunity.** Kitsap Mall's large parking lots and other large parking lots serving big box stores provide some of Silverdale's best opportunity areas to transform the area into a vibrant pedestrian-oriented mixed-use community. Update zoning and design provisions to anticipate this change.
- **Orient to trails.** Clear Creek Trail is a tremendous asset to Silverdale and zoning and design regulations could be updated to promote development that orients towards the trail and riparian corridor as an amenity.
- **Build upon the unique character of Old Town.** Zoning and design regulations could be updated to reinforce and enhance Old Town's human scaled development pattern.

• **Be strategic and opportunistic.** The mix of current uses, large parcel ownership patterns, and evolving business and real estate environment, require that Silverdale and the County will need to be strategic in terms of investment and partnerships to ultimately achieve the community's vision. Particularly as some sites may continue current uses and development forms through the plan's 20-year time horizon, whereas some unexpected vacancies may arrive on sites owned by forward thinking property owners.

Figure 36.Old Town Silverdale



### PHYSICAL CONTEXT

Key features that help define Silverdale's physical context include:

- Dyes Inlet and its northern shoreline
- Clear Creek and riparian corridor extending south into Dyes Inlet from the Silverdale highlands to the west, north and east
- Wetlands to the north/northeast of downtown, buffering downtown from SR 303
- Strawberry Creek and riparian corridor extending south and east into Dyes Inlet from West Hill
- An underground drainage in a culvert that flows into Dyes Inlet at Bay Shore Drive, referred to in the design guidelines as "Silverdale Creek"
- Wooded slopes along the eastern edge of West Hill Neighborhood and along the western slopes of lower Bucklin Ridge south of SR 303
- Old Town, a compact block grid district along the northwest shoreline of Dyes Inlet
- A regional commercial and office center, with Kitsap Mall as the dominant retail type (enclosed mall).





### POPULATION, HOUSING, AND EMPLOYMENT CHARACTERISTICS

In 2022, the population in the Silverdale Regional Center was 2,270 people and includes 1,371 total housing units. Silverdale provides a total of 8,740 jobs and continues to be an important economic center that contributes to the regional economy, however, a more balanced ratio of housing units to jobs would improve the vitality of the area.

Jobs in Silverdale are most heavily focused in the Services and Retail Sectors, at 56% and 29% respectively. With the expansion of St. Michael Medical Center, Silverdale will continue to play an important role in servicing the County's growing health care needs.

To service a housing need to all household incomes, the County will need to focus on diversifying its housing stock, with much of that effort taking place in Silverdale. In 2021, 19% of the housing in the Center was Single-Family detached, 28.4% moderate-low density, 21.1% moderate-high density, and 31% high density. Many residents in Center are renters, and 29.8% of those renters are considered "cost

burdened" and 29% considered "severely cost-burdened", which is higher than both the region and for other Regional Growth Centers.

### TRANSPORTATION AND STREET NETWORK

The Principle Arterial Street network consists of Silverdale Way (north – south) and Kitsap Mall Blvd/Ridgetop Blvd (east – west) providing the primary access to and cross routes for the Center. The Minor Arterial Street network consist of Mickelberry Rd., Myhre Rd., and Randall Way (north – south) and Bucklin Hill Rd., Anderson Hill Rd., Randall Way, and Myhre Rd. (east – west) providing significant secondary connections to and within the Center. This Arterial system forms large or "super" blocks within the Center.

Internal vehicle movement within the super blocks is by a small number of local County roads, private roads, large commercial driveways, and through large and small parking lots. The local road/driveway network has a wide range of functional, access, and designs.

Major connectivity challenges exist, such as:

- Major arterials with five lanes act as barriers between districts and make an uncomfortable environment for pedestrians.
- Shopping plazas are setback from the street, disconnected from streets by large surface parking lots.
- Old Town is a small peninsula oriented to Dyes Inlet and bounded and contained essentially by Silverdale Way and Bucklin Hill Road.
- West Hill Neighborhood is insulated from the remainder of downtown by a sharp rise in topography along its eastern edge.





Figure 37. Silverdale connectivity challenges and possible future connections

Silverdale features an automobile-oriented street grid with very large blocks. The lack of internal connectivity not only makes it harder to get around by car, bicycle, and vehicles, it forces more traffic onto the arterials such as Silverdale Way. Proposed regulatory concepts can help to improve connectivity over time by requiring new streets and/or other through-block connections in conjunction with new development.

### **BUILDING CONFIGURATIONS AND TYPES**

Buildings in Silverdale, excluding major portions of Old Town and the West Hill Neighborhood, are shopping malls, shopping centers and plazas composed of one- story commercial buildings oriented to large surface parking areas, and stand-alone commercial or office buildings with parking on two to four sides of the buildings. Pedestrian entrances for most buildings are from the parking lots rather than streets. Most buildings have individual access drives to arterials, are one-story in height with higher buildings at Kitsap Mall, Bucklin Hill Road/Silverdale Way intersection, Northeast Business Park, and a scattering throughout downtown.

### **DEVELOPMENT CHARACTERISTICS AND TRENDS**

Silverdale is typical of outer suburbs of the greater Puget Sound area largely developed after World War II in terms of low-scaled auto-oriented development forms. This includes:

- Single-story commercial areas served by large parking lots on two to four sides of buildings.
- Walk-up apartment developments also dominated by surrounding surface parking lots.
- Single family subdivisions around the perimeter of commercial areas.
- Scattered mid to late century larger lot single family homes (some of which have been replaced by development types above).

Silverdale is unique in that it includes a large hospital and spin-off medical facilities and office buildings. Outside of Kitsap Mall, these are the largest buildings in Silverdale.

Recent local developments and regional trends indicate that these development forms will continue and/or emerge in the near future in Silverdale:

- Adaptive reuse of existing commercial buildings will become more common. While the brick-and-mortar retail environment have faced increasing regional and national challenges due to online retailing, Silverdale's retail environment, based on the very limited number of vacancies, appears very resilient. If and when one store leaves, another use typically replaces it and often makes tenant improvements.
- Demand will increase for apartments, including increasingly larger buildings and developments. While there may still be some viability for three-story garden apartments, larger four and five-story buildings may become more common in Silverdale, depending on the context (particularly sites with views).
- Vintage at Silverdale has proven that there is a market for senior housing in the subarea. This market will likely grow soon, given demographics, local medical infrastructure, and other community amenities.
- Townhouse developments are likely to become more popular, given their efficiency and desire for homeownership.

### **OPEN SPACE PATTERNS**

Silverdale has an open space pattern represented by natural features such as Dyes Inlet and shoreline, Strawberry Creek and riparian corridor, Clear Creek and riparian corridor, and wooded slopes to the west in West Hill Neighborhood and to the northeast in the Northeast Business Park. Kitsap Mall provides a privately owned enclosed pedestrian mall and courts for consumers using that facility. There



is a deficiency of pedestrian open space in the commercial development pattern of downtown Silverdale.

The natural open space pattern forms a north/south "V" shape within Silverdale, providing an existing open space spine that extends from Dyes Inlet on the south edge of downtown to SR 303. Strawberry Creek drains out of West Hill to and through Old Town and into Dyes Inlet. A drainage channel, named "Silverdale Creek" for reference in the guidelines, enters Dyes Inlet immediately southeast of Bucklin Hill Road and Bay Shore Drive.

### SILVERDALE REGIONAL CENTER GOALS AND POLICIES

### URBAN COMMUNITY AND DESIGN

Vision: Inspire a healthy, inter-connected urban community where pedestrians are priority, buildings and open space are openly inter-related, the site and design makes a positive contribution to the public realm, and ultimately, people thrive in vibrancy, whether working or living in Silverdale.

#### Goal 1. Compact, urban, pedestrian-oriented community

Create a compact, visually attractive, mixed use, urban community that prioritizes pedestrian safety and comfort and enhances the quality of life for all who live, work, or visit the Silverdale Regional Center.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 1.1.** Adopt and update development and design standards which prioritize urban form and quality pedestrian-oriented development. Key elements include:

- Streetscape design standards to ensure that sidewalk widths, street tree, landscaping, lighting, and street furniture provisions meet the community's vision.
- Block frontage standards that identify areas where pedestrian-oriented storefronts should be required versus encouraged, standards for ground level residential uses to help create a welcoming streetscape while providing privacy for residents, and identifying where offstreet parking areas adjacent to the street are appropriate versus inappropriate.
- Standards for development frontages along Clear Creek Trail to enhance the safety and character of the trail, while better using the trail as an amenity for development.
- Standards for how commercial, mixed-use, and multifamily developments address the design of side and rear yards to create coordinated development (where possible) while enhancing the design and livability of developments.
- For medium to large sized retail uses, include modest pedestrian-oriented space standards to ensure that some combination of wider sidewalks, courtyards, and open spaces are integrated into the development.

- Minimum useable open space /recreation standards for residential development that are reasonable and necessary for community livability.
- Internal pedestrian access standards to help create a functional and welcoming pedestrian environment.
- Landscaping standards that enhance the character and livability of developments, while buffering undesirable views.
- Service element design standards to ensure that these elements are thoughtfully integrated into the development and minimize impacts to livability.
- Building massing and articulation standards to ensure that buildings employ features to reduce the perceived scale of large buildings and enrich the streetscape and visual character of the community.
- Standards requiring the integration of design details and small-scale elements into building facades that are attractive at a pedestrian scale.
- Building materials standards that help ensure the use of quality building materials and design treatments that enhance the character of buildings.
- Standards that ensure that there are no large untreated blank walls facing the street in commercial, multifamily, and mixed-use areas.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 1.2.** Foster the development of a pedestrian-oriented retail/mixed-use focal point for Silverdale. This can be accomplished by:

- Collaborating and where possible, partnering with property owners and developers of key properties on such plans.
- Creating block frontage standards identified in Policy 1.1 to identify the location and extent, or opportunities, for such main street or pedestrian-oriented retail focal point and craft the standards to ensure that new development implements that vision.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 1.3.** Coordinate, and where possible, partner with property owners and developers to integrate pedestrian, bicycle, and gathering space amenities into developments.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 1.4.** Promote pedestrian-oriented development to encourage human-scale connectivity within the Center.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 1.5.** Reduce the number of drive-through developments in the center to promote pedestrian-oriented development.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 1.6.** Strengthen the pedestrian connections from existing Kitsap Mall concourses to surrounding streets. This can occur by extending the enclosed concourses towards the street and/or by constructing pedestrian and open space improvements.



**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 1.7.** Promote the integration of "Quadrangle" and courtyard open space features as a part of the Northeast Business District development pattern.

#### **Goal 2. Waterfront community**

#### Emphasize and enhance Silverdale's waterfront as a character-defining feature of the community.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 2.1.** Evaluate and update current zoning and design standards to ensure that new development enhances the pedestrian environment and the visual character of the waterfront.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 2.2.** Collaborate with property owners and developers to help foster development that enhances the pedestrian environment and the visual character of the waterfront.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 2.3.** Enhance the community's physical and visual connection to the waterfront via public improvements, updating connectivity standards for new development, and coordinating with property owners and developers to facilitate improvements.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 2.4.** Prioritize pedestrian and streetscape improvements in Old Town to enhance the neighborhood's visual character, safety, and access to the waterfront. This is most critical at intersections.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 2.5.** Prioritize the maintenance and improvement of Silverdale Waterfront Park, Clear Creek Trail, and other public waterfront lands on Dyles Inlet.

#### Goal 3. Parks and open space

# Create a system of interconnected parks, open space, trail systems that serve the needs of all Silverdale residents.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 3.1.** Make parks and open space accessible to all ages and ability, with specific attention to the needs and locations of vulnerable populations.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 3.2.** Provide well-landscaped, non-motorized connections and locate them in areas that link the Waterfront with other destinations, parks, riparian corridors, and other shared urban spaces.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 3.3.** Improve and extend the existing Clear Creek Trail network in conjunction with redevelopment activity on adjacent sites and by supporting a public/private partnership to increase connectivity to surrounding uses. Provide for viewing facilities, pedestrian bridge(s) and continuous trails and paths along both sides of the creek. The trail shall be identified as an important connection to surrounding pedestrian and bicycle infrastructure.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 3.4.** Expand an interconnected system of nonmotorized trails and parks to increase mobility within Silverdale, provide health and transportation benefits, emphasize recreational benefits and connect to the larger, regional land and water trail systems.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 3.5.** Prioritize and invest in new parks, open space and trail projects within the regional center.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 3.6.** Promote the development of Complete Streets and Green Streets throughout Silverdale Connect existing and planned parks and open space with a network of Complete Streets, Green Streets and Trails.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 3.7.** Integrate natural features such as wetlands, riparian corridors, and hillside views into site design as amenities. Protect them as environmental resources and provide access to the natural landscape.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 3.8.** Include native and low maintenance landscaping installations with new road, pathway, and development projects.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 3.9.** Develop mechanisms to maintain landscaping throughout Silverdale Center.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 3.10.** Encourage and pursue the integration of plazas and open spaces, such as Privately Owned Public Spaces (POPS), in commercial and mixed-use areas that promote shoppers to linger and provide amenities to residents and employees.

Figure 38. Examples of integrated plazas and open spaces.



**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 3.11.** Allow partial fee-in-lieu payments of onsite open space requirements to fund central park areas and trails.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 3.12.** If and when Kitsap Mall redevelops with urban residential and mixed-uses, integrate open space, parks, and/or plazas into the development, particularly along the southern and eastern edges of the mall.



#### **Goal 4: Urban development standards**

#### Establish development standards based on urban, rather than suburban densities and needs.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 4.1.** Strategically increase building heights and density to promote pedestrian-oriented forms of development that can be served by structured and underground parking.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 4.2.** Evaluate and update dimensional standards to help facilitate pedestrian-oriented forms of development.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 4.3.** Reduce minimum parking requirements to help facilitate pedestrian-oriented forms of development.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 4.4.** Codify established design standards and redevelopment standards.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 4.5.** Establish incentives for desired development types and forms through improved permit processes.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 4.6.** Evaluate and simplify design standards to provide a higher level of predictability while integrating strategic provisions for flexibility.

### CONNECTIVITY AND MOBILITY

**Vision:** Create a multi-modal transportation system that supports an increasing number of people living, working, and visiting Silverdale and increases the ability to access destinations without the need for a personal automobile.

#### **Goal 5: Coordinate transit and land use**

*Facilitate a coordinated land use and transportation pattern that reduces the reliance on the single occupancy vehicles (SOV).* 

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 5.1.** Implement transportation demand management and commute trip reduction strategies.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 5.2.** Promote transit ridership to reduce per capita VMT and greenhouse gas emissions.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 5.3.** Collaborate with Kitsap Transit to improve the speed and reliability of transit service in Silverdale.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 5.4.** Ensure public transit services within the Center, Silverdale UGA, and surrounding communities have routing, frequencies, and levels of service to promote public transit as a viable alternative for daily transportation needs within and between communities and which supports the County's land uses.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 5.5.** Ensure that Express and Bus Rapid Transit services providing services between communities are routed through and provide direct access within the Silverdale, Central Kitsap, and Bremerton Urban Growth Areas to support access and mobility within the communities and connections between communities.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 5.6.** Collaborate with Kitsap Transit to provide an alternative to SOV trips, including commute trip reduction, shared vehicles (i.e., Zip Cars, Scoot Cars) Bike Share, ORCA card passes, and other strategies.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 5.7.** Promote and support Transit Oriented Development in coordination with Kitsap Transit, primarily by increasing population and employment density near high-capacity transit stations.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 5.8.** Invest private and public funds in architecture and circulation facility design that supports transit choices such as transit facing entries, weather protection and pedestrian connections between buildings and community spaces, and transit stop spacing that supports fast, efficient transit.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 5.9.** Explore addition of interlocal ferry from Old Town to other economic and activity centers in Kitsap County.





Kitsap Transit long range transit plan, service and capital projects.

#### **Goal 6: Transportation network**

Create a street and pathway system that supports the land use and transportation vision for the redevelopment of Silverdale.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 6.1.** Maintain a seamless, interconnected, safe and convenient pedestrian and bicycle network to build a reputation of a Silverdale as a bicycle and pedestrian-friendly community.

Figure 39. Bicycle infrastructure examples.



**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 6.2.** Create connectivity/maximum block size standards that apply to new large-site development and redevelopment. Specifically:

- The standards should be tiered to allow larger block sizes provided through-block connections are integrated to enhance connectivity.
- The standards for block sizes should vary depending on the zone and corresponding permitted intensity of development, with those areas emphasizing a mixture of pedestrianoriented commercial and multifamily blocks being the smallest (no more than 300 feet long between a street and through-block connection).
- Through-block connections may be a mixture of private streets, alleys, woonerfs (narrow curb-less routes designed to allow pedestrians and vehicles to share the same lane), and pedestrian-only connections.



Figure 40. Examples of through-block connections

A woonerf, or shared street (left image), a landscaped passageway (middle), and an urban passageway (right image).





Figure 41. Circulation network example integrating public streets and through-block connections

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 6.3.** Promote the desired urban form of Silverdale by focusing first on street design and streetscapes.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 6.4.** Design streetscapes that are safe and inviting for pedestrians and alternative walk, bike, and roll. This includes providing simple design standards for building frontages along public and private streets and through-block connections to help ensure that there's "eyes on the street" and other Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED) principles.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 6.5.** When locating and designing facilities within the Active Transportation System, consider the health and equity impacts on vulnerable populations, including low- income, children, the elderly, and those with disabilities.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 6.6.** Pursue County Road Improvement District (CRID) and Utility Local Improvement District (ULID) options for the Silverdale Regional Center.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 6.7.** Partner with Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) and local property owners to improve connections between arterial streets and state highways.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 6.8.** Invest in multimodal transportation infrastructure that offers an alternative to single-occupancy vehicle travel and encourages a mix of travel choices.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 6.9.** Consider interlocal ferries as a multimodal transportation option.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 6.10.** Create a wayfinding signage program with a priority on gateway signage.
## ENVIRONMENT

**Vision:** Build a community that features nature into this developing urban community, creates landscapes that restore both nature and human activity, and cares for and preserves the natural environment for ourselves and future generations.

### **Goal 7: Stormwater**

Improve stormwater quality and management.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 7.1.** Coordinate development with stormwater detention and treatment as part of the larger regional stormwater system.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 7.2.** Incentivize development that utilizes Low Impact Development (LID) Practices which improve stormwater quality and runoff flow control beyond minimum standards.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 7.3.** To protect wildlife habitat areas and minimize adverse stormwater impacts, minimize grading of landforms and the extent of soil and vegetation disturbance in new development.

### **Goal 8: Enhance critical areas**

Enhance wetlands and the riparian corridors to improve environmental functions and fish and wildlife habitat.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 8.1**. Incentivize the restoration or rehabilitation of wetlands and riparian corridors as part of new development or re-development. Encourage clustering of development in a manner that both preserves and celebrates these areas as amenities to nearby development.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 8.2.** Connect natural areas to stream corridors and open spaces outside the Silverdale Regional Center.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 8.3.** Promote the integration of interpretive signage along nature trails that helps to educate users to the features and benefits of wetlands and riparian corridors.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 8.4.** Collaborate with property owners to ensure the completion of creek restoration or revitalization plans.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 8.5.** Enhance Strawberry Creek and riparian corridor by including an expanded riparian area in the vicinity of Linder Field and Silverdale Way, public access or viewing facilities, trails, and paths along key portions of creek, and public access at the confluence of the creek and Dyes Inlet.



**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 8.6.** Protect and enhance Silverdale Creek through daylighting where feasible as a part of private development north of Bucklin Hill Road.

### **Goal 9: Sustainable community**

# *Create a sustainable community, consistent with Kitsap County's Comprehensive Plan Sustainability Policies.*

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 9.1.** Support projects that increase air quality, reduce carbon emissions, or reduce climate change impacts.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 9.2.** Support electric transportation infrastructure and provide incentives for commercial or multifamily developments that include Level 2 or 3 charging stations.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 9.3.** Establish a Sustainability Building Strategy for Silverdale. Maintain innovation as a key to the County's sustainability efforts.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 9.4.** Encourage buildings and infrastructure in the public and private sectors which:

- Use less energy and have a lower climate impact.
- Use recycled water to reduce consumption of potable water.
- Are less toxic and healthier.
- Increase filtration and circulation of clean air more frequently.
- Incorporate recycled, third party green certified, and locally produced materials.
- Reduce stormwater runoff.
- Provide wildlife habitat.
- Use green building technologies, products, and processes.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 9.5.** Support the development of community gardens as a valid option to comply with an open space requirement.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 9.6.** Retain existing trees in critical areas and their buffers, along designated pedestrian corridors and in other urban green spaces. Plant new trees at all available opportunities, recognizing their micro-climate, urban design, health, and livability benefits.

### **Goal 10: Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions**

Develop greenhouse gas emissions reduction ratio targets and achieve them through land use, transportation, commercial and residential building construction, and site development strategies.

Silverdale Regional Center Policy 10.1. Strive to meet GHG emissions targets set in VISION 2050.

Silverdale Regional Center Policy 10.2. Pursue an Energy and Climate Plan for Silverdale.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 10.3.** Emphasize and incentivize compact mixed-use and transit-oriented development forms in the Silverdale Regional Center so that people living in close proximity have convenient access to goods and services, preferably within walkable distances.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 10.5.** Support a multi-modal transportation system so that all people who live and work in the Center have a variety of convenient low- or no-emission transportation options.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 10.6.** Establish a program to support energy efficiency retrofits of existing buildings which will not be redeveloped in the short term.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 10.7.** Work with Puget Sound Energy to expand participation in the Green Power Program.

## **ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT**

**Vision:** Foster re-development through processes that balance flexibility and predictability, effective use of financial incentives, and cultivation of public/private partnerships that result in mutually beneficial solutions.

### **Goal 12: Economic growth**

Maintain Silverdale's economic engine by accommodating and attracting most of the anticipated job and housing growth for the Silverdale Urban Growth Area in the Regional Growth Center.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 12.1.** Promote up-front investments and placemaking strategies that act as a catalyst for redevelopment.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 12.2.** Invest in infrastructure — in advance of residential, commercial, and industrial development when necessary— to encourage new development or redevelopment in support of planned growth.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 12.3.** Require conduit and/or fiber to be installed as part of all street and utility projects that are at least one block in length.



**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 12.4.** Craft design standards that enhance the livability of developments by creating safe and inviting pedestrian routes, integrating open spaces and amenities, and creating attractive and welcoming block frontages. Such improvements will then enhance the setting for subsequent nearby development.

### **Goal 13: Effective outreach**

*Educate the public about the benefits associated with the Silverdale Regional Growth Center planning efforts.* 

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 13.1.** Work with the Greater Kitsap Chamber, the Kitsap Economic Development Alliance and other cooperating agencies and groups to promote the Silverdale Regional Growth Center as a desirable destination to live, work, and play. This also should include efforts that support business formation, retention, expansion, and recruitment in Silverdale.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 13.2.** Collaborate with key stakeholders and landowners to envision redevelopment projects that include significant public benefit.

Silverdale Regional Center Policy 13.3. Improve access and visibility of old town Silverdale.

### HOUSING

**Vision:** Nurture a community that accommodates a diversity of income levels, activities, amenities, open spaces, gathering places, recreation, and mobility options that all contribute to a self- sustaining community where people aspire to live, work and play.

#### **Goal 14: Housing growth**

*Locate a majority of Silverdale Urban Growth Area housing growth in the Silverdale Regional Growth Center.* 

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 14.1.** Strategically increase building heights and density together with strengthening design standards to enhance the character and livability of new developments.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 14.2.** Incentivize the development of higher density residential buildings in the Silverdale Regional Center. Examples of incentives may include:

- Increased height allowance and/or reduced parking requirements for projects that commit to frontage improvements, affordable housing provisions, senior housing provisions, mixed use development, or additional open space provisions.
- County government fee reductions.

- Improved permitting.
- Use of incentives authorized by the State of Washington.
- Design elements that support multi-modal transportation.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 14.3.** Streamline and customize regulations to fit the needs of infill and redevelopment. Regulations shall reduce barriers and provide incentives to foster infill and higher intensity development.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 14.4.** In preparation for housing growth, create strategies to avoid displacement and preserve existing affordable housing units.

### **Goal 15: Housing Diversity**

Prioritize the development of housing across all income levels in Silverdale, including but not limited to worker, middle-income, and low- and moderate-income housing.

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 15.1.** Create and implement a multifamily tax incentives (MFTE) program, including a 12-year option for projects that include affordable housing (See Appendix B).

**Silverdale Regional Center Policy 15.2.** Monitor effectiveness of policies overtime, specifically focusing on creation of new housing types and availability to various income segments.



## **IMPLEMENTATION**

Short Term: 0-3 years

Medium Term: 4-7 years

Long Term: 7+ Years

### Ongoing

Figure 42.Silverdale Regional Center Implementation Table

Action	Timeline	Responsibility
Urban Community and Design		
Adopt and update development and design standards which prioritize urban form and quality pedestrian-oriented development.	Short-Term	DCD; PW
Update design standards to consolidate and simplify design districts.	Short-Term	DCD
Strategically increase building heights and density and lower parking requirements to promote pedestrian-oriented forms of development.	Short-Term	DCD; PW
Conduct a parking study for the Silverdale Center area that includes community outreach and participation, data collection and analysis, and develops recommendations on new policies to right size future parking.	Short-Term	DCD; PW
Right-size parking minimums, and consider maximums, to limit how much parking is developed and ensure they are not resulting in a disconnect in the amount of parking provided and land use goals.	Short-Term	DCD
Collaborate and partner with property owners of key properties to: (1) Foster the development of a pedestrian- oriented retail/mixed-use focal point for Silverdale; (2) foster development that enhances the pedestrian environment and the visual character of the waterfront and (3) integrate pedestrian, bicycle, and gathering space amenities into developments.	Ongoing	DCD; PW

Action	Timeline	Responsibility
Define areas within the center where to focus streetscape improvements, storefronts and mixed-use development, and cultural focal points.	Short-Term	DCD
Evaluate Old Town for priority streetscape and pedestrian improvements, set priorities and update applicable streetscape design standards and develop improvement plans, and seek funding for the most critical improvements.	Medium Term	DCD; PW
Establish incentives for development through enhanced or improved permit processes.	Short-Term	DCD
Establish diagrams and conceptual maps illustrating how Silverdale could evolve into a vibrant pedestrian-oriented mixed-use center over time. Such map(s) could illustrate future streets, through-block connections, and enhanced streetscapes plus preferred block types, lengths, and building orientation to be used by prospective future development and redevelopment projects.	Short-Term	DCD
Work with downtown business and downtown interests to improve streetscape details, such as street furnishings, streets trees, lighting, and art installations.	Ongoing	DCD; PW
Promote and host street activation by allowing innovative uses of low-traffic streets and parking lots, such as temporary street closures, festivals and events, and waiving any related fees for small events.	Ongoing	DCD, Parks and Recreation.
Establish regulations that prohibit the development of new drive-through businesses in pedestrian-oriented areas.	Short-Term	DCD
Encourage and pursue the integration of plazas and open spaces in commercial and mixed-use areas that promote shoppers to linger and provide amenities to residents and employees.	Short-Term, Ongoing	DCD
Connectivity and Mobility		
Implement transportation demand management (TDM) and commute trip reduction (CTR) strategies.	Ongoing	PW



Action	Timeline	Responsibility
Create and update mode split goals specific to Silverdale Regional Center that represent a significant increase in nonmotorized travel modes over time.	Short-Term	DCD/ PW
Explore funding for projects identified in the Silverdale Transportation Implementation Strategy	Ongoing	PW
Collaborate with Kitsap Transit to improve the speed and reliability of transit service in Silverdale, including the analysis and subsequent potential implementation of a bus circulator system for the downtown core, as well as the potential for ferry service for both workforce and tourism purposes.	Ongoing	DCD/ Kitsap Transit
Create a wayfinding signage program with a priority on gateway signage.	Medium Term	PW / DCD
Pursue a County Road Improvement District (CRID) and Utility Local Improvement District (ULID) options for the Silverdale Regional Center.	Medium Term	PW
Modify impact fees to ensure that development in the Silverdale Regional Center contributes its fair share to multi- modal transportation improvements.	Medium Term	PW
Pursue the adoption of funding mechanisms to incentivize and support transit and multi-modal transportation trips.	Short-Term	DCD/ PW
Work with Kitsap Transit and the long-range transit plan to plan around locations of future high-capacity transit (BRT) stations and service.	Ongoing	Kitsap Transit/ DCD
Work with Kitsap Transit to plan and implement fixed route and on-call transit services within Urban Growth Areas and subareas with routing, frequencies, and level of service to support use of transit within the community for daily transportation needs.	Ongoing	Kitsap Transit/ DCD
Create connectivity/maximum block size standards that apply to large site development and redevelopment.	Short-Term	DCD
Develop an alignment for an east-west multi-modal pathway through the Regional Center using a mix of off-street and on- street facilities.	Short-Term	DCD / PW

Action	Timeline	Responsibility
Link Clear Creek Trail with important downtown landmarks through improved streetscapes and trails.	Medium- Term	DCD/ PW
Develop new street sections and corridor standards for specific streets in the Center where mixed-use development and pedestrian activity is prioritized.	Short-Term	DCD/ PW
Support the reuse of surface parking lots for infill development.	Ongoing	DCD
Environment		
Identify the Silverdale Regional Center as a receiving site for the Transfer of Development Rights (TDR) program.	Short-Term	DCD
Identify and map possible locations and strategies for new pocket parks, neighborhood parks, and public space.	Short-Term	DCD, Parks
Ensure that stormwater infrastructure acts as an amenity for Silverdale.	Short-Term	DCD, PW
Coordinate development with stormwater detention and treatment as part of the larger regional stormwater system.	Ongoing	DCD, PW
Incentivize development that utilizes Low Impact Development (LID) Practices which improve stormwater quality and runoff flow control beyond minimum standards.	Medium- Term	DCD, PW
Evaluate and update grading standards to better ensure that such standards protect wildlife habitat areas and minimize adverse stormwater impacts.	Short-Term	DCD, PW
Evaluate and update development clustering provisions to preserves and celebrates wetlands and riparian corridors as amenities to nearby development.	Short-Term	DCD, PW
Promote the integration of interpretive signage along nature trails that helps to educate users to the features and benefits of wetlands and riparian corridors.	Ongoing	DCD, Parks
Establish a Sustainability Building Strategy for Silverdale. Maintain innovation as a key to the County's sustainability efforts.	Short-Term	DCD
Pursue an Energy and Climate Plan for Silverdale.	Short-Term	DCD



Action	Timeline	Responsibility
Establish a program to support energy efficiency retrofits of existing buildings which will not be redeveloped in the short term.	Short-Term	DCD
Work with Puget Sound Energy to expand participation in the Green Power Program.	Ongoing	DCD/PSE
Economic Development		
If needed based on current density, Complete a Market Study for the Regional Center	Short-Term	DCD
Consider a Planned Action Environmental Impact Statement (PEIS) for the Silverdale Regional Center.	Medium- Term	DCD
Update design standards to require pedestrian-oriented storefronts key area(s) that are intended to function as the Center's most walkable area(s).	Short-Term	DCD
Identify groups or individuals that can lead a downtown advisory group to ensure interests are aligned in Silverdale's vision, investment, and activities.	Short-Term	DCD
Make strategic public investments in streetscape improvements, civic and recreational uses, infrastructure, or other amenities that catalyze new development patterns downtown.	Ongoing	DCD, PW
Create a masterplan for redevelopment of the Kitsap Mall area.	Long-Term	DCD – with collaboration of property owner(s)
Housing		
Strategically increase building heights and density while strengthening design standards to enhance the character and livability of new developments.	Short-Term	DCD
If made available to the County, create and implement a multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) program and evaluate including a 12-year option for projects that include affordable housing.	Short-Term	DCD

Action	Timeline	Responsibility
Monitor effectiveness of policies and regulations overtime, specifically focusing on creation of new housing types and availability to various income segments. To make sure that the Center's housing targets are being achieved at various income levels. Identify additional steps (reasonable measures) to spur housing development if monitoring shows the housing goals for Silverdale are not being achieved.	Ongoing	DCD
Evaluate the effectiveness of incentives for housing development and adapt to respond to market trends.	Medium- Term	DCD
Partner with housing organizations and community groups to address issues of homelessness, fair housing, anti- displacement strategies.	Short-Term	DCD; Human Services





SILVERDALE, WA

# CHAPTER 13

# Silverdale Subarea Plan

# Silverdale Subarea Plan

### VISION FOR SILVERDALE SUBAREA

### Land Use

Within the Urban Growth Area, Silverdale has a mix of residential development, commercial centers and light industrial areas that serve the housing and employment needs of the community. These areas are integrated with the natural amenities of the landscape including the striking views of mountains and water, and access to open space, maintaining Silverdale's high quality of life. Community gathering places including meeting spaces and connecting sidewalks, which provide local shopping, services and opportunities for recreation, are interspersed throughout the area and are connected through pedestrian-friendly trail and path systems. Through the application of urban design guidelines, the unique characteristics of existing districts are preserved and identities for new development are fostered.

### **Economic Development**

Our status as a regional retail and service center is complemented by the expansion and diversification of our economic base, particularly through expansion of businesses, as well as through development of educational opportunities.

### Transportation

We have a transportation system that will properly support community and residential needs. We have a multimodal circulation system; it accommodates transit, bicycles, pedestrians, and autos. There are many options for getting into, out of, and moving within the urban growth area and bypassing the urban core. Downtown circulation is improved, we have a walkable environment and multimodal connectivity is increased through new roads, pathways, and through-block connections.

### Housing

Our community provides a wide choice of housing types and prices -- accommodating a diversity of lifestyles and incomes. New residential development is centered in mixed income neighborhoods that are safe and secure. Each neighborhood has a character of its own and includes a mix of uses that provide opportunities for localized services and recreation close to home. We respect existing neighborhoods; their character is key to the long-term sustainability.

### Governance

Within the 20-year planning horizon, Silverdale may be a self-governing city.

### **Social Capital**

We have diverse opportunities for arts, recreation, entertainment, leisure activities and culture; activities we can "do" are continuously being created.



### **Capital Facilities**

We have the public facilities to support a vibrant and growing city.

### **Natural Environment**

We have tremendous natural resources and amenities. We are sensitive to our existing natural systemsmaintaining, protecting, and conserving them in a way that is sensitive to their environmental functions, particularly Dyes Inlet watersheds and water quality and aquifer recharge areas. We are rich in significant, pristine resource areas.



Figure 43. Silverdale Zoning Map – Board Directed Preferred Alternative



# Silverdale Subarea Plan Goals and Policies

# LAND USE

### Silverdale Goal 1. Land use mix

Provide sufficient capacity within the Urban Growth Area to properly accommodate a mix of residential, commercial, and industrial development to meet the extended population and employment projections for Silverdale.

**Silverdale Policy 1.1** Monitor land supply over time to ensure a continued adequate supply of residential, commercial, and industrial designated land to meet Silverdale's population and employment targets and to meet the needs of unexpected growth.

**Silverdale Policy 1.2.** In establishing and modifying land use designations, provide for a balanced and complete community.

**Silverdale Policy 1.3.** Incorporate reasonable measures that are appropriate to the Silverdale area to help focus growth in the urban growth area. These measures could be incentives, standards, policies, and/or regulations. In this Subarea Plan, incorporated reasonable measures include:

- Inclusion of economic development goals and policies that encourage employment and related housing/population growth in the Urban Growth Area;
- Support the Silverdale Regional Center goals and policies.

**Silverdale Policy 1.4.** In areas where pedestrian and/or bicycle activity is desired, such as in Old Town, areas of mixed-use development, and within residential neighborhoods, provide a balance of roads, sidewalks, bike lanes, separated paths, landscaping, crosswalks, and other new or creative solutions that provide safe and efficient ways to walk, bike, and roll.

**Silverdale Policy 1.5.** In areas where vehicular transportation will continue to be the predominant mode of travel, ensure that access to rights-of-way and site design standards provide for safe and convenient access by the traveling public.

### Silverdale Goal 2. Recreation, arts and culture

# *Provide land availability for public and private community gathering places and diverse opportunities for arts, recreation, entertainment, leisure activities and culture.*

**Silverdale Policy 2.1** Support design standards that encourage provision of plazas, greens or other informal public meeting spaces with new development and redevelopment.

**Silverdale Policy 2.2.** Preserve and enhance the natural and aesthetic qualities of shoreline areas and riparian creek corridors while allowing reasonable development to meet the needs of property owners.

**Silverdale Policy 2.3.** Provide a park, recreation and open space system that enhances the quality of life for residents and visitors to the Silverdale community.

**Silverdale Policy 2.4.** Explore inclusion of a community center in the Silverdale Regional Center to meet the growing need for community spaces, particular for aging populations.

## **ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT**

### Silverdale Goal 3. Regional economy

### Enhance the status of Silverdale as a regional retail and service center.

**Silverdale Policy 3.1.** Develop and implement an economic development program that encourages the location of businesses in the downtown core and actively seeks opportunities to strengthen the regional role of the retail and service center.

**Silverdale Policy 3.2.** Encourage the cooperation and collaboration of agencies and interested groups in marketing the Silverdale areas to attract new business.

**Silverdale Policy 3.3.** Encourage and support tourism activity and amenities as a significant contributor to the Silverdale economy.

### Silverdale Goal 4. Economic base

# Achieve diversification of Silverdale's economic base, particularly through expansion of businesses and higher educational opportunities.

**Silverdale Policy 4.1.** Facilitate the diversification and growth of the Silverdale area economic base through a range of appropriate commercial land use designations, adequate land supply, improved transportation infrastructure, active business recruitment, and business friendly policies and regulations.

Silverdale Policy 4.2. Actively recruit educational institutions to the Silverdale area.

**Silverdale Policy 4.3.** Identify and encourage business opportunities that may benefit from the geographic proximity of existing military facilities.



#### Silverdale Goal 5. Economic growth

# Support and coordinate economic expansion through efficient use of land and provision of capital facilities.

**Silverdale Policy 5.1.** Encourage full use and development of designated commercial and industrial areas prior to expanding those areas. Promote revitalization within existing developed areas to take advantage of the investment in existing buildings and infrastructure.

**Silverdale Policy 5.2.** Provide incentives for re-use or redevelopment of existing commercial facilities in preference to building of new space.

**Silverdale Policy 5.3.** Provide adequate transportation infrastructure to serve a diverse range of commercial activity.

Silverdale Policy 5.4. Work to meet unique transportation needs of new or growing businesses.

**Silverdale Policy 5.4.** Support commercial development and redevelopment that complements and is compatible with the larger Silverdale community.

### HOUSING

#### Silverdale Goal 7. Neighborhoods

Promote and protect the long-term viability, safety, character, and identity of existing neighborhoods.

**Silverdale Policy 7.1.** Identify opportunities for community services and general recreation facilities within or between residential neighborhoods, with strong emphasis on private development and maintenance by neighborhoods.

**Silverdale Policy 7.2.** Work with neighborhoods to identify key landmarks, boundaries, gathering places, significant natural features, existing and potential pedestrian routes, neighborhood gateways, and other features that help identify and establish their unique character.

### TRANSPORTATION

#### Silverdale Goal 8. Transportation system

Develop and maintain a street and transportation system that effectively addresses the travel needs of the community and is consistent with the overall goals of the community.

**Silverdale Policy 8.1.** Develop and maintain performance standards, including operational level of service (LOS) standards for roadways and critical intersections within Silverdale.

**Silverdale Policy 8.2.** Continuously improve circulation to meet the needs of increased traffic and emergency access, while maintaining neighborhood quality and safety.

**Silverdale Policy 8.3.** Develop a circulation plan that meets the needs of increased traffic and emergency access throughout the Silverdale community while maintaining the importance of neighborhood quality and safety.

**Silverdale Policy 8.4.** Implement improvements identified in Silverdale Transportation Implementation Strategy (TIS), and update TIS as the infrastructure and land use changes (see Appendix D).

**Silverdale Policy 8.5.** Develop a plan of priorities and circulation for the effective movement of goods and services in the commercial districts and within residential neighborhoods, as appropriate.

**Silverdale Policy 8.6.** Develop an effective system of neighborhood traffic control to make local street safe for pedestrians, residents, and normal local traffic.

### Silverdale Goal 9. Transit

Work with transit providers to develop programs, routes and schedules that better accommodate a larger number of users.

**Silverdale Policy 9.1.** Use public transit effectively in the Silverdale district and surrounding areas; especially the implementation of point-to-point shuttles and loop service, and service to high priority destinations.

**Silverdale Policy 9.2.** Consider location of Park-and-Ride lots or similar facilities when making land use designations.

**Silverdale Policy 9.3.** Develop priorities for Transportation Demand Management and Commute Trip Reduction, considering the work to home flow path for Silverdale workers.

### Silverdale Goal 10. Non-motorized transportation

### Improve safety and circulation for bicyclists and pedestrians.

**Silverdale Policy 10.1.** Complete sidewalk and bicycle lane projects identified in the Silverdale Transportation Improvement Strategy.

**Silverdale Policy 10.2.** Connect the Silverdale Regional Center to surrounding areas through pedestrian and non-motorized facilities.

**Silverdale Policy 10.3.** Implement multi-use pathway in Silverdale using a mix of off-street and on-street facilities, and connections to the trails system.

**Silverdale Policy 10.4.** Encourage public/private development of trails as well as public/private maintenance of trails.



#### Silverdale Goal 11. Multimodal transportation system

Develop and maintain an effective multimodal transportation system for Silverdale and the surrounding areas.

**Silverdale Policy 11.1.** Ensure that transportation facilities necessary for future growth are provided concurrent with growth and coordinated with the overall land use plan for Silverdale.

**Silverdale Policy 11.2.** Implement an effective transportation concurrency system that provides effective transportation infrastructure to support concurrent land use in growth and development.

**Silverdale Policy 11.3.** Establish connector roads' location and design through amendments to the Silverdale design standards, regional center subarea plan, or Kitsap County Code. Such amendments shall allow for flexibility if property ownership is consolidated and an alternate location and/or design will meet the intent of the connector road system.

**Silverdale Policy 11.4.** The connector roads shall be funded by private property owners or new development. Funding of these roadways may include, but is not limited to, County Road Improvement Districts (CRID) and individual developer construction. If public funding is available for the development of this roadway network, monies and project scope should be identified in the 6-year Transportation Improvement Plan.

#### Silverdale Goal 12. Greaves Way

Locate, design and construct transportation connections to Greaves Way that facilitate coordinated access to commercial, business center and industrial zoned lands.

**Silverdale Policy 12.1.** Locate and develop connector roads for Greaves Way that provide access to surrounding properties. Coordinate with property owners on alignment alternatives and roadway design.

**Silverdale Policy 12.2.** To maximize the use of Greaves Way, connector roads shall be delineated to provide free-flowing, multi-modal access to the commercial, industrial, and business properties in the area.

**Silverdale Policy 12.3.** Create a bus turn around on Greaves Way to improve transit access to a growing mixed-use center.

**Silverdale Policy 12.4.** Identify key pedestrian trails and greenways needed to link destinations in Silverdale.

**Silverdale Policy 12.5.** Ensure that stormwater facilities provide adequate drainage and minimize flooding while protecting and enhancing the water quality and habitat value of streams, wetlands, lakes, and Dyes Inlet.

### Silverdale Goal 13. Solid waste and recycling

Provide efficient and convenient solid waste and recycling services to the Silverdale community through effective coordination with service providers.

**Silverdale Policy 13.1.** Coordinate with private solid waste collection services to ensure adequate service capacity for planned growth.

**Silverdale Policy 13.2.** Encourage programs for yard and food waste composting, waste recycling, and reuse of building materials.





SUQUAMISH, WA

CHAPTER 14

# Suquamish Subarea Plan

# Suquamish Subarea Plan

# **VISION FOR SUQUAMISH**

Suquamish is a rural, historic waterfront community on the Port Madison Indian Reservation, which is defined by strong natural borders in northeast Kitsap County. The Port Madison Indian Reservation is located on the western and northern shore of Port Madison Bay. The reservation also fronts Agate Pass on the western side. Bainbridge Island is located on the eastern side of the Pass. The Agate Pass Bridge connects Bainbridge Island with the Reservation on the Kitsap Peninsula.

Increased growth pressures are threatening the Suquamish Village's natural boundaries. Increased development was beginning to exceed the capacities of the infrastructure systems. Transportation infrastructure and drainage systems were no longer adequate, open space diminished, and the rural character of the town changed. Tribal members living in Suquamish and non-Indian residents who moved to Suquamish for its rural qualities and remote location found their chosen lifestyle at risk. The area was designated a Limited Area of More Intensive Rural Development (LAMIRD) to begin to address these conditions.

Any vision for Suquamish must balance the preservation of the rights of Tribal members and of non-Indian property owners to enjoy the reasonable use of their land. The Suquamish Village will make its visitors feel welcome, but not rely solely on tourism as a mechanism for economic health. Economic and cultural diversity shall be celebrated and enhanced for the benefit of all residents of Suquamish. The Suquamish Village's Native American history and presence shall be enhanced and remain a visible part of the Suquamish experience.

The downtown should remain the heart of Suquamish where residents and visitors will gather together to celebrate traditions and experience daily living. Suquamish will offer small business districts for small-scale neighborhood convenience stores or public services.

It shall become a community where development and facilities are focused on limiting impacts to climate and benefiting the environment. The community can enjoy its open spaces and recreational opportunities as well as safe and pleasurable walks, which link the neighborhoods to each other and to the commercial districts. The Suquamish Rural Village shall welcome all social and economic groups. It shall provide a sense of community, and the Tribe and the County shall work cooperatively.







# Suquamish Goals, Policies, and Strategies

# LAND USE

### Suquamish Goal 1.

*Ensure development is consistent with the Suquamish Village Limited Area of More Intensive Rural Development (LAMIRD) designation and Growth Management Act requirements.* 

**Suquamish Policy 1.1.** Maintain development regulations for each Suquamish residential and commercial zoning consistent with historic conditions.

Suquamish Policy 1.2. Maintain existing code regarding legacy and nonconforming lots.

**Suquamish Policy 1.3.** Expand commercial opportunities for small service businesses catering to residents and tourists (e.g., coffee shop and meeting spaces).

## **ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT**

### Suquamish Goal 2.

### Establish a Kitsap Regional Library extension.

**Suquamish Policy 2.1.** Explore prospective locations for a Kitsap Regional Library (KLR) extension in coordination with KRL, Kitsap County, and the Suquamish Tribe to establish a library with suitable amenities (Wi-Fi, computer access, and other access).

### Suquamish Goal 3.

Provide Transportation improvements that enhance economic development.

**Suquamish Policy 3.1.** Conduct studies to maximize the effectiveness of Suquamish downtown parking, traffic, land use and potential aesthetics.

### Suquamish Goal 4.

### Establish a Suquamish aesthetic beneficial to economic development.

**Suquamish Policy 4.1.** Determine what a Suquamish downtown (Augusta Avenue and Suquamish Way) aesthetic would look like (signage, streetlights, storefronts, public art, etc.) and further define action required to achieve that aesthetic to include:

• Signage to meet the Suquamish aesthetic, including welcoming sign and street signs.



- Implement utility improvements, including street lighting that would support economic development.
- Examine the feasibility and implement appropriate trash can placement (and supporting solid waste removal).

**Suquamish Policy 4.2.** Collaborate with Suquamish Tribal Government, Port Madison Enterprises, and other business district interests to examine and support zoning and construction encouraging first floor storefronts with affordable second floor living options.

### Suquamish Goal 5.

Support information sharing and information access in Suquamish.

Suquamish Policy 5.1. Examine, and if feasible implement, a Public Wi-Fi access capability.

**Suquamish Policy 5.2.** Work with providers and Kitsap Public Utilities District to expand broadband and upgraded cellular service within the Village.

### HOUSING

### **Suquamish Goal 6**

*Limit future growth within the Suquamish Village while allowing greater housing diversity to serve multiple income levels.* 

**Suquamish Policy 6.1.** Encourage housing types beyond single-family, detached to increase affordability.

**Suquamish Strategy 6.a.** Allow accessory dwelling units to be permitted uses in Suquamish residential zones.

### TRANSPORTATION

#### Suquamish Goal 7.

Evaluate changes for Augusta and Suquamish Way to allow for safe and effective access to businesses.

**Suquamish Policy 7.1.** Examine, and if feasible implement, a three-lane corridor along Augusta Avenue starting at NE Geneva Street and continuing up Suquamish Way to Division [in vicinity of the Suquamish Village] to enhance current and future Suquamish economic development and access.

### Suquamish Goal 8.

### Improve parking to support safe business access.

**Suquamish Policy 8.1.** Improve parking along, or in vicinity of, Augusta Avenue starting at NE Geneva Street and continuing up Suquamish Way to Division to enhance current and future Suquamish economic development and access.

**Suquamish Policy 8.2.** Assess opportunities on private or public property to allow safe loading and unloading of goods within the business district.

### Suquamish Goal 9.

# Develop walkways, crosswalks and bicycle routes that enhance the walkability, safety, and economic development of Suquamish.

**Suquamish Policy 9.1.** Provide walkways and crosswalks extending on Augusta Avenue from NE Geneva Street to Suquamish Way to enhance current and future Suquamish economic development and access.

**Suquamish Policy 9.2.** Examine, and if feasible implement, walkways and crosswalks on Division Ave NE and NE McKinstry St. (starting at Suquamish Way) to provide a safe and walkable access to the Sports Court Park and the historically significant Old Man House Park.

**Suquamish Policy 9.3.** Provide a pedestrian connection between Suquamish and the network of trails within the Cowling Creek Preserve, which with additional development could serve as a bike route bypassing a portion of Miller Bay Road with no shoulders.

**Suquamish Policy 9.4.** Examine, and if feasible implement, paving the shoulders of Miller Bay Road from NE Geneva St. to Gunderson Rd. thereby providing the first/only safe route for walkers, joggers, or bicyclists to enter and depart Suquamish to the north towards Kingston.

**Suquamish Strategy 9.a.** Expand crosswalks and walkways on Division, Augusta, and Brockton to enhance pedestrian safety.

**Suquamish Strategy 9.b.** Expand shoulders along arterials leading into and out of the Suquamish Village (e.g., Miller Bay Road, NE Columbia Street and Suquamish Way) provide a safe route for pedestrians and bicyclists.



### Suquamish Goal 10.

Evaluate road safety improvements in and around Suquamish.

**Suquamish Policy 10.1.** Examine, and if feasible implement, speed controls and widening/paved shoulders on NE Columbia Street to increase safety as the alternate northern route out of Suquamish.

**Suquamish Policy 10.2.** Examine, and if feasible, due to existing zoning and road width constraints, implement one-way traffic options on Geneva and Center Streets.

**Suquamish Strategy 10.a.** Explore traffic calming opportunities (e.g., traffic speed tables) to arterials and collectors including Augusta, Division, and Columbia.

**Suquamish Strategy 10.b.** Expand street lighting where necessary for public safety (e.g., bus stops and key intersections).

**Suquamish Strategy 10.c.** Encourage expanded transit service between the Suquamish Park and Ride and Kingston, Poulsbo, and Bainbridge Island.

### PARKS AND OPEN SPACE

#### Suquamish Goal 11.

Coordinate efforts among the community, the Suquamish Tribe, and the County to maintain existing Parks within and surrounding Suquamish to their fullest potential.

**Suquamish Policy 11.1.** Where consistent with CFP resurface the Sport Court at NE Division Ave and McKinstry St. for increased safety and use.

**Suquamish Policy 11.2.** Enhance access and kayak launches at appropriate County rights of way throughout Suquamish (i.e., Hemphill Rd. terminus, or southwest terminus/right of way NE Angeline Rd.)

Suquamish Policy 11.3. Expand park maintenance.

**Suquamish Policy 11.4.** Examine and if feasible implement watering capability to Angeline Park and the Sports Park for maintenance of the plant beds.

**Suquamish Policy 11.5.** Implement upgrades and improvements to the Angeline Park playground.

**Suquamish Strategy 11.a.** Examine and if feasible implement watering capability to Angeline Park and the Sports Park for maintenance of the plant beds.

**Suquamish Strategy 11.b.** Enhance public access to County road ends at James and Hemphill through improved trails informed by the requirements of the Shoreline Management Program.

**Suquamish Strategy 11.c.** Explore trail connections between the Suquamish Village and Cowling Creek Preserve.

### Suquamish Goal 12.

Partner with the Suquamish Tribe to discover new opportunities for desired Parks and Open Spaces.

Suquamish Policy 12.1. Explore, and if feasible develop, an off-leash dog park.

Suquamish Policy 12.2. Explore, and if feasible develop, a skateboard park.

Suquamish Policy 12.3. Explore, and if feasible develop, a community garden.

**Suquamish Strategy 12.a.** Explore transfer of the Sports Court and Angeline Park to the Suquamish Tribe to increase maintenance and continue access for the general public.

### Suquamish Goal 13.

### Expand access to public restrooms.

**Suquamish Policy 13.1.** Collaborate with Suquamish Tribal Government to expand public restroom within the Suquamish Village commercial and public areas.

**Suquamish Strategy 13.a.** Collaborate with Suquamish Tribal Government to establish public restrooms near the Suquamish Dock.

# CAPITAL FACILITIES

### Suquamish Goal 14.

Expand and improve Suquamish stormwater and sewer facilities.

**Suquamish Policy 14.1.** Support development of a comprehensive and natural approach to stormwater management to implement projects to control flows, reduce flooding, and enhance water quality.

**Suquamish Strategy 14.a.** Complete the stormwater treatment projects including the Harris and Angeline Avenue area.





GORST, WA

# CHAPTER 15

# Gorst Subarea Plan

# **Gorst Neighborhood Plan**

### **VISION FOR GORST**

The Gorst community is located on Sinclair Inlet between Bremerton and Port Orchard. Its strategic location is reflected as a vital transportation link as two highways, SR 3 and SR 16, intersect at Gorst. As an important crossroads a railroad also traverses Gorst connecting the Puget Sound Naval Shipyard with the Bangor submarine facility and the Port of Shelton.

In the coming years Gorst will continue to play an important role for County residents, commuters, and military personnel who travel to via the area major job centers in the County including Downtown Bremerton and the Puget Sound Naval Shipyard, Bremerton National Airport and associated Puget Sound Industrial Center and others.

In 2022 WSDOT noted that from the north at Navy Yard City, State Route 3 carries 54,000 Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT), increasing to 83,000 AADT north of Gorst, and continuing on SR 16 to Port Orchard with 51,000 AADT. Resolution of the decades-long, transportation congestion issues in the Gorst area are a key priority to improve Kitsap's economy and protect national security. In addition to being strategically located between major population and job centers in Kitsap County, the Gorst area contains regionally significant environmental resources. The approximately 6,570-acre Gorst Creek Watershed is diverse with thousands of acres of intact forest land, miles of streams and acres of wetlands. Much of the forested area that comprises the north and central portion of the Gorst Creek Watershed is publicly owned and lies within a contiguous area that also contains Green Mountain and Tahuya State Forest. Taken together, this area comprises the largest open-space block in the Puget Trough Ecoregion of the Puget Sound Basin. The estuary (Sinclair Inlet) supports shellfish, waterfowl, shorebirds, great blue herons, and bald eagles. The Gorst Creek estuary is a major passageway and nursery for Puget Sound Chinook, Coho, and Chum salmon, along with Steelhead, and Sea-Run Cutthroat trout. Gorst Creek supports a fish rearing facility managed by the Suquamish Tribe and Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife.

Gorst's vision is one of careful balance; managing its valuable role as a transportation lynchpin for Kitsap County along with responsible stewardship for its significant natural environment.







# Gorst Goals, Policies, and Strategies

# LAND USE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNITY DESIGN

### Goal 1.

*Create opportunities for well-designed, sustainable commercial and residential growth and development.* 

**Gorst Policy 1.1.** Encourage regional and local serving commercial uses that meet community shopping needs, provide jobs, and enhance the image of Gorst through improved landscaping and site design.

**Gorst Policy 1.2.** Through the land use plan and zoning, allow opportunities for single family units, townhouses, and flats to provide a range of housing choices in Gorst.

**Gorst Policy 1.3.** Allow horizontal and vertical mixed-use development to offer greater business and housing choices and live-work arrangements.

**Gorst Policy 1.4.** Ensure zoning and design standards promote development patterns that increase open space and recreation opportunities, reduce impervious areas, and cluster in the least sensitive areas of a property.

**Gorst Policy 1.5.** Apply streetscape, landscape, building, and site design standards for new development to promote shoreline views, allow for development compatibility, enhance property values, and reinforce Gorst as the southern gateway to Bremerton.

**Gorst Policy 1.6.** Allocate population to the Gorst UGA based on the Gorst Subarea Plan. Ensure allocations are also consistent with Countywide Planning Policies. Until such time as population is available for allocation to Gorst to support mine site redevelopment following reclamation, the mineral resource overlay will continue.

# ENVIRONMENT

### Gorst Goal 2.

Protect and restore fish and wildlife habitat along Gorst Creek and Sinclair Inlet.

**Gorst Policy 2.1.** Develop a comprehensive program to restore the Gorst Creek Corridor in the UGA.

Gorst Policy 2.2. Promote shoreline and habitat restoration along Sinclair Inlet.



**Gorst Policy 2.3.** Coordinate County and City shoreline regulations and restoration plans along Gorst Creek and Sinclair Inlet to provide adequate protection and incorporate best management practices based on the Watershed Characterization Study.

**Gorst Strategy 2.a.** Upon annexation, the City shall apply its Shoreline Master Program to Sinclair Inlet and Gorst Creek. In addition, the City shall apply a Gorst Creek Management Zone Overlay recognizing the habitat requirements of listed fish species, the current degraded buffer conditions, and tailored approaches to implement best management practices and incentives for restoration.

**Gorst Strategy 2.b.** Prior to annexation, Kitsap County may consider City marine shoreline buffers and the Gorst Creek Management Zone Overlay as a means to mitigate negative impacts when reviewing site specific land use applications, such as variances.

### Gorst Goal 3.

### Improve water quality and reduce flooding in the Gorst UGA.

**Gorst Policy 3.1.** Require enhanced water quality consistent with the Sinclair Inlet Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDL) (USEPA 2012) throughout the watershed and UGA. Reduction of impervious surfaces and onsite treatment of stormwater should be required in accordance with best management practices specified in the 2019 Stormwater Management Manual for Western Washington (Ecology 2019), or its equivalent or successor, with a preference for infiltration to reduce fecal coliform.

**Gorst Policy 3.2.** Reduce erosion and sediment export through measures such as adequate stream buffers, setbacks, reduced overland flow through infiltration and vegetation cover. Discussion: See the discussion under Policy UGA-3 regarding coordinated regulations.

**Gorst Policy 3.3.** Provide incentives and regulations that reduce impervious surfaces, promote natural and distributed stormwater techniques, and incorporate native and naturalized vegetation.

**Gorst Policy 3.4.** Wherever practicable, require low impact development measures such as infiltration for new development and redevelopment. Where impractical, stormwater detention may be allowed.

**Gorst Policy 3.5.** Incorporate low impact development best management practices into new development and redevelopment to mitigate and reduce flood impacts.

**Gorst Policy 3.6.** Reduce flood hazards through infrastructure improvements and stormwater management.

**Gorst Policy 3.7.** Policy UGA-10. Allow zero direct and untreated discharge to streams and marine water bodies in association with development and redevelopment. Apply vegetation management, clearing and grading, and stormwater rules that minimize erosion and protect water quality and habitat.

**Gorst Policy 3.8.** Implement adaptations to address potential effects of sea level rise on Sinclair Inlet properties. These may include, but are not limited to, accounting for sea level rise in the design of buildings and impervious areas, as well as roadway, flood management, and utility facilities.

## TRANSPORTATION, PUBLIC SERVICES & UTILITIES

### Gorst Goal 4.

Provide effective, efficient, and quality capital facilities and public services at the level necessary to meet the Gorst community needs and support allowed growth.

**Gorst Policy 4.1.** Work with federal, state, and local agencies to implement transportation Improvements to manage congestion.

**Gorst Policy 4.2.** Improve safety and circulation, and improve transportation mode choices including transit, bicycle, pedestrian, and automobiles.

Gorst Policy 4.3. Encourage improved Kitsap Transit service such as added park and ride facilities.

**Gorst Policy 4.4.** Design roads to incorporate gateway treatments, boulevard style streetscape improvements, and access improvements to invite the community to Gorst and allow convenient travel to regional businesses.

**Gorst Policy 4.5.** Encourage public access to the shoreline along Sinclair Inlet and portions of Gorst Creek.

**Gorst Policy 4.6.** Require new development to meet Bremerton standards for water and wastewater.

**Gorst Policy 4.7.** Ensure new developments that create a demand for parks and recreation provide such facilities onsite or contribute their fair share to provision of offsite facilities.

**Gorst Policy 4.8.** Facilitate adequate fire and emergency response in the UGA through application of uniform fire and building codes, emergency access standards, roadway congestion management measures, and mutual aid agreements.

**Gorst Policy 4.9.** Ensure adequate police services are provided within the UGA to meet Kitsap County Sheriff and Bremerton police department response time and case load objectives.

**Gorst Policy 4.10.** Promote crime prevention through environmental design techniques to new development.



**Gorst Policy 4.11.** Provide long-range growth assumptions and new development applications to South Kitsap School District to ensure educational services can meet needs of new residents.

### Gorst Goal 5.

### Prioritize the Gorst interchange in transportation funding advocacy.

**Gorst Policy 5.1.** Coordinate with the Cities of Bremerton and Port Orchard, the Port of Bremerton, the Department of Defense, WSDOT and state and federal legislators on developing and executing designs to expand SR3 and SR 16 in the Gorst area.

**Gorst Policy 5.2.** Lead discussions of funding opportunities to address the Gorst transportation issues in a holistic yet phased approach.

### ANNEXATION

### Gorst Goal 6.

*Facilitate a seamless transition of services from Kitsap County governance to City of Bremerton governance when properties become annexed to the City.* 

**Gorst Policy 6.1.** Explore all methods for annexation with the Gorst residents within the planning horizon. Consider annexation of the Gorst UGA to the City in the near term.

**Gorst Policy 6.2.** Prior to and following annexation, implement the Gorst Subarea Capital Facility Plan. Levels of service should be implemented concurrent with new development.


ILLAHEE STATE PARK, WA

# CHAPTER 16

Illahee Neighborhood Plan



# Illahee Neighborhood Plan

#### VISION FOR ILLAHEE

The Illahee Community Plan is a statement reflecting the civic pride and community involvement that has existed for more than 120 years. The community shares a proud sense of accomplishment in many environmental and community projects. More importantly, many residents share a real concern for the future of Illahee if they and their neighbors are not actively and materially involved in the planning process. Many of the local residents recognize that what originally attracted them to this area and what keeps them here is now threatened. This vision allows them to continue to make improvements to further enhance the atmosphere and character of the area, ensuring that it remains the unique community they know and love. When posed with the question, "What would you like to see addressed in a community plan?" residents envisioned a community centered around and amongst the abundance of natural resources in the area, which include Illahee State Park, Illahee Creek, and the Illahee Preserve; three miles of pristine waterfront; two major docks; and much more.

Residents want to maintain the community charm and quaintness that Illahee currently offers. Residents wish to protect the unique quality of the natural environment, park areas, wetlands, streams, and wildlife habitat. Residents also recognize the need to sustain the community connectedness and to accommodate reasonable growth in the area. These visions and dreams can be accomplished by permitting growth in those areas where infrastructure enhancements already exist and environmental protections are ensured. This also means securing open space designations for the natural resources that need protection and, especially, those already specified as park or preserve. It is this mix of land uses that makes the Illahee area a unique blend of natural resources and open space surrounded by semi-rural areas, urban areas, and a short perimeter of a commercial business strip along State SR 303. Illahee is an area blessed with a diversity of natural and man-made resources. Residents desire a community plan that blends the best of these worlds into a place where they can continue to live in harmony with nature and their fellow residents.







### LAND USE

#### Illahee Goal 1.

Formalize a communication process between Kitsap County and Illahee Community Groups.

**Illahee Policy 1.1.** Notify Illahee community groups that request notice of proposed land use actions and zoning changes within Illahee.

**Illahee Policy 1.2.** Support the continuation of an Illahee Community Citizens Advisory Group (CAG) to represent the residents of Illahee in furthering the Plan's goals and policies.

### ENVIRONMENT

#### Illahee Goal 2.

#### Maintain current zoning that allows for protection of the environment.

**Illahee Policy 2.1.** Maintain the Greenbelt (GB) zone with its environmentally sensitive densities and development standards.

#### Illahee Goal 3.

Protect Illahee's existing views of Mount Rainier, the Cascade Mountain Range, Bainbridge Island, Puget Sound, and the Seattle Skyline.

Illahee Policy 3.1. Utilize the View Protection Overlay Zone for the Illahee community.

#### Illahee Goal 4.

#### Promote safety and improve views by using underground utilities where applicable.

**Illahee Policy 4.1.** Support the coordination of burying utilities during the planning phases of new road works in locations where views are obstructed or safety is compromised by utilities.

#### Illahee Goal 5.

#### Protect and restore the riparian areas of Illahee Creek and its estuary.

**Illahee Policy 5.1.** Use infiltration as a method of stormwater, flow control, within the Illahee Creek Aquifer Recharge Area.

**Illahee Policy 5.2.** Evaluate solutions outside of using culverts for Illahee Creek that allow for the natural meandering of the creek and maintains/restores the accretion delta floodplain.

**Illahee Policy 5.3.** Coordinate the restoration of floodplain habitat and estuary function at the mouth of Illahee Creek.

#### Illahee Goal 6.

Enhance efforts to protect the biological diversity and habitats of fish, birds, wildlife, and plant life within the Illahee community.

Illahee Policy 6.1. Continue to identify and map wetland areas within Illahee as funding allows.

#### Illahee Goal 7.

Conserve the scenery and natural and historic trees within the Illahee community.

**Illahee Policy 7**.1. Maintain minimum 25-foot natural vegetative buffers between development and roadways, wherever possible.

#### Illahee Goal 8.

Continue efforts to preserve open space, wildlife corridors, habitat, stream health, and recreation opportunities, and support the implementation of the Illahee Forest Preserve Stewardship Plan.

**Illahee Policy 8.1.** Support the pursuit of grant monies to complete purchases or conservation easements within the Illahee Creek corridor as outlined in the Illahee Preserve Stewardship Plan, including target properties in the Illahee Creek Watershed, and the "Heart of the Park" properties.

**Illahee Policy 8.2.** Support the pursuit of grant monies for the conservation of the undeveloped properties along Illahee Road between Illahee Creek and Trenton Ave. which are coincident with the Illahee Greenbelt, Wildlife Corridor, non-motorized facilities, and proposed multimodal regional trail.

### TRANSPORTATION

#### Illahee Goal 9.

Address Illahee's pedestrian thoroughfares to provide safe multimodal transportation options in and out of the community.

**Illahee Policy 9.1.** Examine, and if feasible, create a safe multimodal transportation option for Illahee Road.

**Illahee Policy 9.2.** Examine, and if feasible, create a safe multimodal transportation option along Oceanview Blvd/East Blvd and McWilliams from Illahee Road to SR 303.



**Illahee Policy 9.3.** Examine, and if feasible, install a round-about at the oblique 3-way intersection of Illahee Road, Oceanview Blvd, and Allview Blvd.

#### Illahee Goal 10.

Support the hydrological studies of well systems around Illahee Creek to determine the appropriate boundaries around the creek to ensure base flow levels in the creek are maintained.

**Illahee Policy 10.1.** Support State agencies to begin a water balance monitoring system comparing base flows in Illahee Creek with draw down rates of local wells.

#### Illahee Goal 11.

Support the redevelopment of the intersection of Illahee road, Oceanview Boulevard, and the Illahee Community Dock into a community focal point.

**Illahee Policy 11.1.** Facilitate the planning and construction of a community center at this location, which may also support a business.

Illahee Policy 11.2. Facilitate the planning and construction of a marine park at this location.



**KEYPORT, WA** 

# CHAPTER 16

# Keyport Neighborhood Plan



# **Keyport Neighborhood Plan**

#### **VISION FOR KEYPORT**

Keyport is a rural, historic waterfront village bounded and limited in size by its natural borders of water and the Naval Undersea Warfare Center. The community consists primarily of single-family homes, a few small businesses, and a community park system. The community is close-knit, where people know and greet their neighbors, and has an active community club which provides social events. The Keyport community wants to limit urban growth to retain its sense of community and small-town ambience. Keyport residents would prefer that future business expansion would be limited to small businesses and services serving the community, consistent with historical usage located near the downtown core.

The Keyport community desires to reestablish certain historic commercial zoning and to establish appropriate land use zoning to maintain historic rural character where it is consistent with historical public services. The community would like to establish development patterns, including lot sizes, which may encourage infill development consistent with the Growth Management Act.

These infill development patterns would be consistent with historical progressive development yet limit urban-like sprawl and high-density growth. The Keyport community would like to improve existing transportation infrastructure and services to make it easier and safer to get around the community, make the community more pedestrian friendly, and improve parking for visitors. Improvements would be requested from Kitsap County as feasible to improve public infrastructure and facilities, including expansion of the sewer lines, upgrading the storm water drainage system, improving street lighting, and improving marine access.

The community would like to retain a flexible community park system attractive as gathering and recreational centers for both children and adults. Keyport residents would like to preserve and enhance the small-town atmosphere and visual character of the area for the community as well as visitors, where one can enjoy a safe and pleasurable walk, enjoy the spectacular marine and mountain views, and have easy access to a village center that acts as a social center with restaurants and services providing for basic needs.







### LAND USE AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

#### **Keyport Goal 1.**

Protect and enhance the Keyport Village character.

**Keyport Policy 1.1.** Promote architecture and site amenities consistent with the historic character of Keyport.

#### **Keyport Goal 2.**

Provide zoning that is consistent with Keyport's existing built environment and lot sizes that allow for beneficial infill development.

**Keyport Policy 2.1.** Set minimum lot sizes, setbacks, heights, and densities for residential development.

**Keyport Policy 2.2.** Require application of Design Standards for all new commercial development in Keyport.

#### Keyport Goal 3.

Encourage property owners to cluster newly subdivided lots.

**Keyport Policy 3.1.** Reevaluate the historical density bonus for all future clustered developments in the Keyport Village Low Residential (KVLR) zone.

#### Keyport Goal 4.

Promote the establishment and support of a vital Keyport Village Commercial zone.

**Keyport Policy 4.1.** Establish a commercial zone appropriate for the population and transportation network of the Keyport Village.

**Keyport Policy 4.2.** Promote businesses that further the economic vitality of Keyport as a "destination".

#### **Keyport Goal 5.**

Encourage mixed-use development within the commercial zone.

**Keyport Policy 5.1.** Modify County parking requirements to levels appropriate for the Keyport Village.

**Keyport Policy 5.2.** Encourage the development of design standards for the Keyport Village Commercial zone.

**Keyport Policy 5.3.** Allow increased height limits for structures within the Keyport Village Commercial zone.

#### **Keyport Goal 6.**

*Protect Keyport's existing views of the Olympic mountain range, Liberty Bay, Dogfish Bay, and Puget Sound.* 

Keyport Policy 6.1. Encourage development that creates the least impact to existing views.

#### Keyport Goal 7.

Archaeological, cultural, and historic structures or places are an important community asset, are a part of Keyport's character, and should be identified, evaluated, and preserved.

**Keyport Policy 7.1.** The Keyport community, in conjunction with the Poulsbo historical society, should identify and seek funding to institute a historic survey, implement a local, historic registry program and/or the creation of a landmark commission.

**Keyport Policy 7.2.** If feasible, consider the implementation of a local historic preservation ordinance.

#### Keyport Goal 8.

*Historic structures or places are an important feature of community design and should be preserved and enhanced.* 

**Keyport Policy 8.1.** Design Standards should be implemented for design of projects adjacent to a historic structure to ensure that new development is compatible with the structure and that its surroundings are preserved.



### TRANSPORTATION AND PEDESTRIAN IMPROVEMENTS

#### **Keyport Goal 9.**

Encourage development of an efficient multimodal transportation system and develop a funding strategy and financing plan to meet its needs.

**Keyport Policy 9.1.** Future Washington State Route 308 Improvements should consider the use of separated, continuous, 5- foot paved bicycle / pathways for pedestrian use. These walkways shall be coordinated with non-motorized facilities as necessary.

**Keyport Policy 9.2.** Developments abutting County rights-of-way within the Keyport Village Commercial zone should include sidewalk construction.

**Keyport Policy 9.3.** Set minimum lot sizes, setbacks, heights, and densities for residential development.

**Keyport Policy 9.4.** Require application of Design Standards for all new commercial development in Keyport.

#### Keyport Goal 10.

#### Provide residents the opportunity to participate in the development of transportation planning policy.

**Keyport Policy 10.1.** Encourage Keyport resident participation, organizations, or individuals, in County and State transportation planning efforts within or adjacent to the Keyport Village.

**Keyport Policy 10.2.** Analyze accident data to determine where safety–related improvements are necessary. Prioritize and implement safety-related improvements during the transportation planning process.

#### Keyport Goal 11.

#### Minimize negative environmental impacts by the transportation system.

**Keyport Policy 11.1.** Maintain environmental standards and mitigation requirements that are the same or higher than those placed upon the private sector, especially adjacent to or upstream from salt-water marine environments.

# PUBLIC FACILITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE

#### **Keyport Goal 12.**

Encourage expansion of the existing sewer distribution system to all properties within the Keyport Limited Area of More Intense Rural Development boundary.

**Keyport Policy 12.1.** Encourage all new construction and remodel projects involving an increase in sewage beyond the existing capacity of the septic system to connect to sewer if within 200 feet of an existing line.

Keyport Policy 12.2. Immediately address failed septic systems.

**Keyport Policy 12.3.** Encourage property owners on shorelines or near other critical areas to connect to the sewer system.

**Keyport Policy 12.4.** Consider establishing a Local Improvement District for properties west of Sunset Avenue.

#### Keyport Goal 13.

#### Encourage enhanced Library Services in Keyport.

**Keyport Policy 13.1.** Work with Kitsap Regional Library to encourage regular service of the Kitsap Regional Library Bookmobile within Keyport.

## PORT IMPROVEMENTS AND WATERFRONT DEVELOPMENT

#### Keyport Goal 14.

Work with the Port of Keyport to encourage expansion of the existing Port of Keyport Facilities.

Keyport Policy 14.1. Work with the Port of Keyport to update the Port of Keyport Master Plan.

**Keyport Policy 14.2.** Work with the Port of Keyport to identify specific projects for a Port of Keyport funding measure.

**Keyport Policy 14.3.** Work with the Port of Keyport to research grant opportunities for shoreline improvement or replacement of marine facilities.



#### Keyport Goal 15.

Minimize additional private docks in Keyport.

Keyport Policy 15.1. Encourage joint use docks for any new dock development.

### NATURAL ENVIRONMENT AND PARKS AND RECREATION

#### Keyport Goal 16.

*Protect, restore, and enhance the natural and shoreline resources that add to the unique character of the Keyport Village.* 

**Keyport Policy 16.1.** Encourage permanent preservation of lots with significant critical areas or wildlife habitat.

**Keyport Policy 16.2.** Work with the Kitsap Health District to monitor private septic systems and immediately respond to any failed system within Keyport that may flow into Dogfish Bay or Liberty Bay.

**Keyport Policy 16.3.** Encourage the replanting of native tree and plant species on all properties, especially those publicly held.

**Keyport Policy 16.4.** Encourage creation of natural greenways, vegetated pathways, backyard natural habitat corridors, and street plantings. Keyport Goal 18. Maintain current public facilities, parks, and port facilities, and add new facilities when determined by the community.

**Keyport Policy 16.5.** Coordinate with the Keyport Village community on any development plans for public facility improvements and additions.

**Keyport Policy 16.6.** Pursue creative funding strategies, grants, and opportunities to leverage federal, state, local, and volunteer sources for maintenance and capital improvement budgets.

#### Keyport Goal 17.

Provide facilities to serve the variety of ages and needs in the community.

Keyport Policy 17.1. Explore the planning and construction of a community center within the Keyport Village boundary.

# ARTS AND CULTURE

#### **Keyport Goal 18.**

Encourage local support for a creative and economic environment that allows artists to continue to live and work in and for the community.

**Keyport Policy 18.1.** Create a stimulating visual environment through public and private artworks programs and create a greater understanding and appreciation of art and artists through community dialogue, education, and involvement.

**Keyport Policy 18.2.** Advocate for the inclusion of quality public art in projects built by both private developers and public agencies, promote quality design in both the natural and built environments and use artists on design teams.

#### Keyport Goal 19.

Preserve and share the community's unique setting, character, history, arts, and culture by developing partnerships, resources and attractions that respect the needs and desires of Keyport residents.

**Keyport Policy 19.1.** Identify and record Keyport's "Sense of Place" through a continuous public dialogue about the influence of the arts, history, and culture.

**Keyport Policy 19.2.** Use artistic, historic, and cultural events as vehicles for sharing Keyport's uniqueness with residents and visitors while cultivating partnerships among the local artists, organizations and those interested in the arts, economic development, tourism, and historic preservation.

**Keyport Policy 19.3.** Identify local artists and publicize their value to the community through opportunities for public dialogue, and online database, and directory of artists, and residency programs, with support through non-profit organizations.

### **SUSTAINABILITY**

#### Keyport Goal 20.

Encourage sustainable practices and green building in Keyport.

**Keyport Policy 20.1.** Implement Low Impact Develop Standards for Keyport Stormwater development and improvements.

**Keyport Policy 20.2.** Promote Solar, Wind, Tidal, Wave Generation and other renewable energy generation infrastructure to serve the Keyport Community.



**Keyport Policy 20.3.** Promote installation of energy efficient fixtures (both electric and water based).

**Keyport Policy 20.4.** Promote U.S. Green Building Council's; Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) silver certification standards for all future public buildings in Keyport.

### **COMMUNITY BUILDING AND PLAN IMPLEMENTATION**

#### **Keyport Goal 21.**

Foster an environment that supports the active and meaningful involvement of the community in local, county-wide, and regional issues.

**Keyport Policy 21.1.** Ensure that Keyport residents have access in the community to information regarding future land uses and activities.

**Keyport Policy 21.2.** Encourage the support and maintenance of the Keyport Improvement Group to represent the residents of Keyport in furthering of the Plan's goals and policies.

# Appendix A. Housing Element Technical Analysis



# Appendix B. Housing Availability and Affordability Analysis



# Appendix C. Racially Disparate Impacts Analysis



# Appendix D. Silverdale Transportation Implementation Strategy